
7  

 

 

 

 

Christchurch Replacement District Plan 
 

 

 

CHAPTER 17: 

RURAL (PART) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

 

 

 

 

Heard at: Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue 

 348 Manchester Street, Christchurch 

 

 

Date: Commenced 16 November 2015 

 

 

Hearing Panel: Sir John Hansen 

 Sarah Dawson 

 Mr Alec Neill  

 Mr Gerard Willis 



APPEARANCES 
DAY 2 – 17 NOVEMBER 2015 
 

<TREVOR ROYCE PARTRIDGE, affirmed ................................ [10.00 am] ........................... 162 

<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ..................................................... [10.01 am] ........................... 163 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER .................................. [10.06 am] ........................... 165 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ............................................... [10.32 am] ........................... 178 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [10.33 am] ........................... 178 

<ANDREW CRAIG, affirmed ....................................................... [10.33 am] ........................... 180 

<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ..................................................... [10.34 am] ........................... 181 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD ............................ [10.38 am] ........................... 182 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [10.49 am] ........................... 188 

<ADELE RADBURND, affirmed .................................................. [10.50 am] ........................... 189 

<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ..................................................... [10.50 am] ........................... 190 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER .................................. [11.04 am] ........................... 195 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CROSS .................................... [11.31 am] ........................... 210 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR TURPIN .................................. [12.04 pm] ........................... 216 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [12.48 pm] ........................... 235 

<VICKI ANNE BARKER, sworn .................................................. [12.58 pm] ........................... 240 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH .............................................. [12.58 pm] ........................... 241 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH ........................................ [1.13 pm] ............................. 248 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [1.14 pm] ............................. 248 

<ANNA MARY CAMERON, affirmed .......................................... [1.14 pm] ............................. 249 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH .............................................. [1.14 pm] ............................. 250 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [1.21 pm] ............................. 252 

<FIONA MACKENZIE, affirmed ................................................. [2.06 pm] ............................. 258 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ......................................... [2.09 pm] ............................. 260 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD ............................ [2.13 pm] ............................. 261 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS GARVAN .................................. [2.34 pm] ............................. 271 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [2.51 pm] ............................. 279 

<CHRISTOPHER WILLIAM DAY, affirmed ............................... [2.52 pm] ............................. 281 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD ........................................ [2.53 pm] ............................. 282 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [3.05 pm] ............................. 287 

<MATTHEW WILLIAM BONIS, affirmed .................................. [3.06 pm] ............................. 288 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD ........................................ [3.06 pm] ............................. 289 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ......................................... [3.15 pm] ............................. 293 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [3.16 pm] ............................. 293 



<LAURA BUTTIMORE, affirmed ................................................ [3.16 pm] ............................. 295 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD  ....................................... [3.16 pm] ............................. 296 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH ......................................... [3.19 pm] ............................. 297 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER .................................. [3.21 pm] ............................. 298 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [3.32 pm] ............................. 304 

<GEOFFREY VERNON BUTCHER, affirmed ............................. [3.32 pm] ............................. 305 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD ........................................ [3.33 pm] ............................. 306 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [3.51 pm] ............................. 314 

<SHANE CHARLES WATSON, affirmed ..................................... [3.52 pm] ............................. 315 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD ........................................ [3.52 pm] ............................. 316 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW ..................................................... [4.07 pm] ............................. 323 
 



EXHIBITS 

 

EXHIBIT #2 – Blueline (Hearing Amendments dated 17 November 2015)  

Version Amendments Sought by Orion NZ Ltd ...................................... 301 

 

 



 Page 161 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

DAY 2 – 17 NOVEMBER 2015 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Ms Ash? 5 

 

MS ASH:   I call Dr Trevor Partridge. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

10 
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<TREVOR ROYCE PARTRIDGE, affirmed [10.00 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [10.01 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Dr Partridge, is your full name Trevor Royce Partridge? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   It is. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please confirm to the Panel that the briefs of evidence 

that you have provided are true and correct? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   They are true and correct. 15 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please outline your summary to the Panel and answer 

any questions. 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Thank you very much, I shall.  I have been asked to 20 

provide evidence on the ecological values of the Templeton Golf 

Course and the potential effect of Fulton Hogan’s proposal to rezone 

that land for quarrying purposes. 

 

 The golf course contains indigenous dryland savannah species albeit in 25 

a modified and semi-natural state.  These types of vegetation are 

classified as acutely threatened and therefore their value is 

considerable. 

 

 The golf course is listed as a site of ecological significance in 30 

appendix 9.1.4.1 of chapter 9 of the proposed replacement plan.  In my 

view the golf course and adjacent area of the Ruapuna Speedway 

contained within the SES represents a strategically located lifeboat of 

indigenous biodiversity in the wider landscape.   

 35 

 The site also contains 29 kowhai trees which are at least 160 years old. 

These represent a considerable biodiversity resource which you would 

not find anywhere else in the dryland savannah of the Waimakariri 

floodplain.  In my view the indigenous vegetation in this site is 

significant indigenous vegetation under section 6C of the RMA. 40 

 

 While the rezoning of the land for quarrying itself could have no 

immediate impact on biodiversity or ecological values any subsequent 

quarrying would result in the removal of indigenous vegetation and 

thereby in a considerable loss in ecological values.  To address these 45 

effects Fulton Hogan proposes to create a one hectare biodiversity 
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conservation area within the Pound Road quarry site which Fulton 

Hogan proposes become a golf course. 

 

 In my view this is a less desirable outcome than maintaining the 

indigenous vegetation in situ.  Trying to relocate and establish plants 5 

from the golf course to the quarry involves a high degree of 

establishment risk as the habitat is different.  It is untested and will 

involve considerable cost and expense.  If successful it will create an 

ecological garden.  That is not as desirable from an ecological 

perspective as it will have lost its degree of naturalness which the 10 

plants have in their current golf course location.  It will not be possible 

to relocate the kowhai trees so values associated with those trees would 

be lost. 

 

 Fulton Hogan also proposes to create an as yet unspecified other 15 

biodiversity offset.  In my view if successful this could increase 

indigenous biodiversity elsewhere.  There are significant questions of 

feasibility, cost and ongoing management and no detail of such a 

proposal is available for comparison.  

 20 

 Overall in terms of the costs and benefits I consider that retaining the 

status quo at the golf course is less costly in terms of ecology and the 

financial cost with greater benefits to indigenous biodiversity than what 

is proposed by Fulton Hogan. 

 25 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 The cost benefit analysis by Fulton Hogan does not take into account 

the fact that the proposal includes inherent risks in terms of relocation 

and establishment of rare and threatened vegetation in new sites which 30 

maintaining the status quo does not.  And the cost of establishing and 

maintaining the biodiversity conservation area and any other offset 

mitigation will be considerable and will rely on ongoing maintenance 

of an artificial ecosystem which the current golf course as a semi-

functioning natural system does not.  And there is the potential to 35 

improve current management practices at the golf course site.   

 

 In my view this is more likely to result in desirable ecological 

outcomes than attempting to create a new habitat in the Pound quarry 

site. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer? 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [10.06 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Dr Partridge, just clarify how many visits did 

you undertake prior to 2007? 

 5 

DR PARTRIDGE:   One. 

 

MS LIMMER:   In your evidence you agree that an offset could possibly 

increase indigenous biodiversity elsewhere but the main thrust of your 

evidence is that it would better achieved through different management 10 

onsite, prescriptive management I think are your words. 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Under the current information that we have, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Would the same be true for most if not all significant 15 

ecological sites? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   If we had information on where biodiversity offsets were 

to take place we would be able to assess the current values of those 

sites.  I have undertaken studies both within Selwyn District and 20 

Waimakariri District on similar vegetation types and, apart from the 

potential perhaps of the military land at Halkett West Melton, I know 

of no other equivalent sites that currently still have some biodiversity 

values that aren’t already protected. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   My question, Dr Partridge, was assuming that all the SES sites 

are significant; wouldn’t be your view, that if maintenance and 

enhancement could be achieved on those sites,  that would be the best 

outcome for biodiversity? 

 30 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, it would be a sensible thing to do but the area of that 

kind of vegetation would still decline. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you think that this golf course is managed unusually from 

any other golf course? 35 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, it is.  Until relatively recently it provided the best 

opportunity for native slow growing plants to survive.  In other areas 

where City Council and Environment Canterbury have land, within for 

instance the McLeans Island area, they are managed with the very blunt 40 

tool of grazing.  The grazing has unfortunately seen some plants 

disappear from those sites.  Those plants were until recently still in 

relative abundance at the golf course, they are still there in relatively 

low abundance today. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   I was actually asking you about golf course practices, do you 

think this golf course is managed differently from a usual golf course? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I believe it is managed somewhat differently than 

most other golf courses. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is because they don’t mow or spray or keep their roughs 

clean? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   It is because they are operating in a system by which the 10 

natural grasses that occur there are dryland grasses so they have to use 

slightly different management techniques especially in regard to 

mowing. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Are you aware when you prepared your evidence that this 15 

lease does allow for grazing? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I was aware. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You were aware? 20 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Because Mr Wedge wasn’t.  Are you aware of anything in the 

lease or anywhere else in the plan for example or in the operate plan 25 

that could force the Golf Club to do things differently? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, I am not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So like many other SES sites adoption of prescriptive 30 

management would depend on cooperation rather than coercion? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, the ideal situation for these types of City Council 

sites would be the production of a management plan. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and you would agree that is reliant on cooperation rather 

than being able to - - - 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 40 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And in the last 20 years or so, since the site was first recorded 

as significant, has the Council approached the Golf Club with a 

management plan? 45 
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DR PARTRIDGE:   No, it has not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Have you evaluated the likely cost of the prescriptive 

management you think would be needed to restore, protect and enhance 

values? 5 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, I have not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Is it reasonable to assume that it would cost some money? 

 10 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, it would. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And have you evaluated what those changes might require in 

terms of practical changes to the golf course, in its playability and its 

presentability? 15 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   That would be something the City Council, the planning 

team would undertake as a team. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and it has not been done, has it, or discussed? 20 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, it has not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Your evidence is that at this stage you can’t assess all the 

losses and gains, would you expect a consenting process to allow that 25 

assessment? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I would, I think it would be of great benefit. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And would you also expect such a process to be able to assess 30 

the feasibility of an offset proposal? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, provided they were able to provide good evidence in 

regard to those feasibilities. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Well, presumably if they didn’t they wouldn’t get consent? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, exactly. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And such a process would allow the costs of an offset 40 

proposal to be considered?  That would go towards its feasibility, 

wouldn’t it? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, it would.  It is something we haven’t had to deal with 

in the past but it is a relatively new technique of land management and 45 

improving the biodiversity values, I imagine that it would be. 
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MS LIMMER:   And do you consider that such a process should and would 

assess the potential risks of establishment and how those might be 

overcome? 

 5 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, based on good scientific evidence. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you agree with Dr Roper-Lindsay’s evidence, and I think 

you say in your rebuttal that you do, that visibility and number of 

savannah grassland plants and invertebrates vary considerably from 10 

season to season and year to year. 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Oh, yes, most certainly they do.  This type of vegetation 

has a remarkable degree of seasonality.   

 15 

MS LIMMER:   So what you see one year may not be what you see the next 

year? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Not so much from year to year but certainly from season 

to season. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you would have to go out at exactly the same time to the 

same spot to try and look for the same plant? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   I would go out at different seasons as well. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   But if you were looking for a plant in particular you would 

need to - - - 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Certain plants you would need to, yes, to see it in its full 30 

range. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Now, with respect to your supplementary evidence and the 

issue of the sudden loss that has been discussed over the last few days, 

you are certain you had a site visit with Dr Roper-Lindsay in 2009 but 35 

she didn’t start working on this project until November 2011 and she 

has a file note of a meeting with you onsite in March 2012 discussing 

what you saw in 2008.  Do you think your recollection might be 

wrong? 

 40 

DR PARTRIDGE:   What we saw in 2008 is that correct? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Her detailed file note from a meeting with you, the only 

meeting with you, the first meeting in 2012 is that you talked about 

what you had seen in 2008. 45 
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DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, so my first site reference is 2008, I am in fact 

corrected from 2009, I am quite happy to have that happen.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 5 

DR PARTRIDGE:   That was our only site visit together. 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, the site visit was 2012 by Dr Roper-Lindsay’s records and 

at that - - - 

 10 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I was there with her, yes, for that as well. 

 

MS LIMMER:   In 2012, not 2009? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, that was a second visit with her. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, the 2012 comes after 2009 so that must have been the first 

visit. 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   The first visit I took was 2008 with her. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   But Dr Roper-Lindsay wasn’t working on the project then. 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, she came and had a look before that, with me. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   She has got a detailed record.  Do you have a file note of that - 

- - 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, I do not. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   - - - onsite? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, I do not.  I was not expecting this to arise. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I have no further questions. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir.  Dr Partridge, this is a golf course and therefore a 

highly modified environment, would you agree with that? 40 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   I would agree. 

 

MR NEILL:   And on a daily basis mowers are mowing, sprays are spraying 

and golfers are trampling everywhere? 45 
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DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, they are. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MR NEILL:   This golf course is owned by Christchurch City Council? 5 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Correct. 

 

MR NEILL:   As the guardian of the golf course what steps have the Council 

taken in the last 20 years to provide protection for these very precious 10 

plants, the flora and fauna that you have referred to in your evidence? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   The only form of protection that the City Council has 

undertaken has been the creation of the ecological heritage site 

following the reports in 1993. 15 

 

MR NEILL:   Can you assist me, and I have got it on my iPad and it is in your 

evidence a photograph of the golf course, can you assist me as to 

whereabouts the kowhai trees are?  And if you look at the back of your 

evidence there is a small map - - - 20 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I can certainly - - - 

 

MR NEILL:   - - - enlarged. 

 25 

DR PARTRIDGE:   There is the greatest, they are scattered throughout but the 

greatest concentration is in the north-east corner. 

 

MR NEILL:   The north-east corner, so that is the corner closest to Pound 

Road? 30 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No, it is the corner closest to Hasketts Road. 

 

MR NEILL:   I would have called the north-west corner then? 

 35 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Hasketts Road has an east-west aspect to it.  Okay, it is at 

the eastern aspect. 

 

MR NEILL:   Up in the far corner? 

 40 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Up in the far corner, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   And what about the corner closest to where the forest is? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   The forest on the western side has the fewest number 45 

nearby. 
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MR NEILL:   Okay.  Then the greenkeeper and you appear, and the 

greenkeeper has filed additional evidence today which I only saw today 

at any rate, disputing the issue of management particularly in the area 

of 2007/2009 which you have referred to in your evidence. 5 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   Have you read his evidence? 

 10 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, I have and I have produced my own evidence in 

response. 

 

MR NEILL:   You have indicated that this is precious indigenous dryland 

savannah species; aren’t there other areas which haven’t been highly 15 

modified which are owned by Environment Canterbury further to the 

west of this area? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   There are areas within the city boundary at McLeans 

Island that are owned by Environment Canterbury and they have also 20 

been classified as significant ecological sites.   

 

MR NEILL:   Are they not similar specie that is referred to here but not in a 

high modified environ? 

 25 

DR PARTRIDGE:   They are similar species but there is one or two advantages 

that this site had in its original state.  Firstly, there is nowhere else that 

that number of kowhai trees occurs within that area so it is special in 

terms of its density. 

 30 

MR NEILL:   But we are talking about the dryland savannah species rather 

than the kowhai? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Right, okay.  That is one of the constituents of it, that is 

what makes it savannah, the fact that it has got scattered trees amongst 35 

it.  In terms of the herbaceous vegetation, this site was highly regarded 

as one of the best in terms of some of the indigenous components that 

are graze intolerant at the site before that change that occurred quite 

recently. 

 40 

MR NEILL:   Can I just then refer to offsets.  What studies have you done in 

respect to where offsets have been provided and implemented and the 

outcomes that have arisen from those offsets? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   I have done none. 45 
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MR NEILL:   Are you familiar with other similar type situations to this where 

offsets have been offered and accepted? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Overseas I have, yes, but not within New Zealand.  There 

is a set of criteria that the Department of Conservation have prepared 5 

for the offsetting process but I know of no situations within vegetation 

of this type where that has taken place. 

 

MR NEILL:   Are you familiar with the Ruataniwha Water Scheme in Hawke’s 

Bay? 10 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Just from the news. 

 

MR NEILL:   Where substantial offsets of this sort - - - 

 15 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, and I found that very great interest to see that the 

offsets were often in many cases very different vegetation types. 

 

MR NEILL:   So if there were to be offsets it has got to be in your view like for 

like? 20 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, especially within this acutely threatened 

environment. 

 

MR NEILL:   Even if there is a net substantial gain, an environmental gain, 25 

you consider that it has to be like for like? 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   It is very hard when you are dealing with a habitat that 30 

really is on its last legs to see a gain within another habitat as 

compensating for it, unless that habitat was in a similar perilous 

position. 

 

MR NEILL:   Finally, have you personally viewed the areas of land held by 35 

Environment Canterbury specifically to protect indigenous dryland 

savannah species that is in close proximity to this area? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   At McLeans Island, yes, in all cases. 

 40 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Dr Partridge.  Yes, I have a few questions.  One of 45 

the things you did not mention in here, but I was interested to know is 
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how the site would rate in your opinion about the national priorities that 

DOC, the Department of Conservation, publishes?  In particular I 

imagine there is some similarity between the criteria they used to 

classify this site through the RPS and then through this Plan, and those 

criteria that Conservation use? 5 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, the Department of Conservation criteria for different 

habitat types, based firstly on naturally rare habitat types which this is 

not because the Canterbury Plains are quite considerable and large, also 

in terms of priority areas for conservation which they have undertaken 10 

a relatively recent process of identifying priority areas and I believe 

that this dry land plains area as a whole was identified as such. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, we might be talking about quite the same thing.  I believe 

that there is a set of four criteria in particular that Conservation has put 15 

out, one of which, and it does line up I think, uses the LENZ system 

less than 20 percent using LENZ level four? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes. 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   This would fall within that category, I take it? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Most certainly, yes.  That is the priority criteria for this 

site. 

 25 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  And you also talk about something about one of the 

species and I forget the name, but it was nationally vulnerable? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, yes, it is a species of geranium. 

 30 

MR WILLIS:  That is right, yes, and can you just inform us where on the 

threatened species classification, that classification sits? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:  Okay, highest – there are two threat risks, there is 

endangered and threatened.  The endangered, highest category is 35 

extinct.  The next one is nationally critical, then comes nationally 

vulnerable and nationally threatened.  So it is category two of things 

that are still living. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  It is nationally vulnerable? 40 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Correct. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Now I took it from your answer to Mr Neill that your 

criticism of the proposal for offset here is not a criticism of the concept 45 

of offsetting but more the particular, from what you can understand at 
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the moment, the particular way that it has been proposed in this case.  

Is that right? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   That is precisely correct. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   So an offset that could demonstrate like for like, or better than 

like for like potentially, would still be acceptable in your eyes as an 

offset? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, provided we understand that an offset within an area 10 

that was already protected would overall reduce the remaining area of 

protected land. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay.  Now just finally, before we move on could you just 

indicate on the aerial photograph, it should be in front of you, where 15 

the kowhai trees are.  Are they scattered everywhere or are they in a 

particular area?  Just a north, south, east and west will do? 

  

DR PARTRIDGE:   If I indicate on this one, does it come up on yours? 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   No, no. Not that technology, I am afraid. 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   They are up in this corner up in here which is the north - - 

- 

 25 

SJH:   Beside the words Motor Sport Solutions New Zealand. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, they are in that corner? 

 

SJH:   Higher up the road than that, is that correct? 30 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, where that arrow is, where the - - - 

 

SJH:   So where the cursor is now? 

 35 

DR PARTRIDGE:  Sorry, yes, where the cursor is now.  There is also scattered 

as you head down towards Pound Road, so they are scattered 

throughout there, right up to the golf club buildings.  Not amongst the 

trees but down a bit there, yes, so they are scattered throughout there.  

There is also a small number scattered where the words “Templeton 40 

Country Club Golf Course” is located, but there is far fewer to the 

extreme south and to the extreme southern end of Hasketts Road. 
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  [10.25 am] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Thank you Dr Partridge, I was just trying to understand 

whether they were all in one particular part of the site or whether they 

were scattered throughout but they sound to be somewhat scattered 5 

throughout.   

 

 Okay, and finally on the issue of degradation that may have happened 

over the last period of time, in terms of arresting that should this 

continue, I guess there is question as how inevitable that continued 10 

decline is, as part of the issue here as I understand it.  And we talked 

about, and I think you had an exchange about the potential for a 

management plan. I understand from Mr Wedge yesterday that the 

lease is about up for renewal in any event. 

 15 

 Are you able to tell us whether there would be management practises 

that you could recommend be placed on such lease renewal that would 

in your view arrest the decline or degradation? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Well there is the opportunity to trial something. I think we 20 

would need to know because you know we certainly have not carried 

out any studies but yes, certainly there are options that we think would 

improve the situation. We would need to monitor them very carefully. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, no that is all, thank you very much. 25 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Dr Partridge.  Just a couple of further questions 

please.  Had this area just been left as it was 150 years ago and was not 

a golf course and was not grazed but – and this is in theory – but there 

was flood control, in other words the Waimakariri was not coming 

through there anymore, what would have happened to the species over 35 

time - - - 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Now one - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - I mean the habitat and - - - 40 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, yes.  One of the advantages we do have is that 

approximately eight or nine years ago some permanent plots were set 

up at the McLeans Island grassland area on the City Council land, and 

they have revealed that in the absence of grazing, and the absence of 45 
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flood that come through which of course we will never see again, we 

get a mixture of vegetation types that are based on exotic grasses.   

 

 In other words, there are aggressive Australian and European species 

that essentially take over most of those areas and form a dense canopy, 5 

in which the native plants find it very difficult to survive.  Even the 

shrubs find it difficult to survive in those kind of situations. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So in the absence of regular flooding, even without 

management practices associated with the golf course for example, 10 

these sorts of habitat that were previously reliant on flooding would 

require some, do they require some management intervention if they 

were to be kept as they were? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   That is correct, that is one of the crucial aspects of 15 

managing this type of vegetation, the fact that one of the controlling 

environmental factors in the past no longer occurs. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So, and Mr Willis has asked you about the 

potential for improvement in the management practices at the golf 20 

course, which you have said is uncertain but it is worth trying and 

monitoring.  Now could you just explain so that I am a bit clearer what 

you believe you saw, in terms of a change in the habitats on the golf 

course site between your 2007, and whether it is 2008, or 2009 visit? 

 25 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What did you observe? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   In terms of the kowhais, no change.  Okay, so it is the 30 

herbaceous component, that is the low growing vegetation, that 

changed.  So whatever happened affected one aspect of the vegetation 

and not others. 

 

 To give you two examples, there was a large area of the native low 35 

growing broom, kamaikeria koregata (ph 4.19) which is occurring in 

dry areas, mostly on raised areas around the rough that had been there, 

which on my subsequent visit had disappeared almost completely.  It 

was still there scattered around, there is very little of it. 

 40 

 The other thing that occurred is that there is quite an unusual grass, a 

thing called zoysia.  It is related to the rice, which had been in the 

fairways, and which was quite a surprise, because under normal 

circumstances of grazing, disappears very, very quickly, and that had 

disappeared as well.   45 
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 So in considering all those aspects, the fact that the kowhais had not 

disappeared, and those other ones had, I was faced with quite a difficult 

interpretation of what had actually taken place. 

 

  [10.30 am] 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   And could this have been just as a result of a seasonal 

change?  In other words, you didn’t just happen to have gone there at 

exactly the same time, or the seasons were a bit different? 

 10 

DR PARTRIDGE:   No.  I have had it confirmed that those plants are not there 

in the abundance that we saw them originally.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And do you have records of that original abundance? 

 15 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Yes, we do.  We have them right from 1993, right through 

with my predecessor, Kate McCombs at the City Council, right through 

till about the time that I started in 2006.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Well that is all.  Thank you very much, Dr 20 

Partridge. 

 

SJH:   Dr Partridge, just to go back on something that has been questioned 

about.  The proposed plan has this as a site of ecological significance.   

 25 

DR PARTRIDGE:   It is called a significant ecological site now.  

 

SJH:   Other than that, in practical on the ground factors, what has the Council 

done over the last 10-15 years to protect it? 

 30 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Nothing, unfortunately.   

 

SJH:   And if you could take steps to protect this savannah, what steps would 

they be, if you had a free hand – hypothesise, that you had a free hand? 

 35 

DR PARTRIDGE:   First up, using the records that we have of what was there 

and what has been lost, I would like to undertake some studies to see if 

we could re-establish those species on the site in the right 

environmental conditions in which they should be growing. 

 40 

 Secondly, I would like to extend that a little bit further and take some 

of the species that have never been recorded from this site, which are 

recorded from other dryland savannah areas, such as the dryland 

savannah species (INDISTINCT 2.16) area and try and establish them 

at this site as well.   45 
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 By doing that, if we are successful, then we have a backup site to all 

the other sites, and all of the sites become much more equivalent and 

the decline is essentially reversed.   

 

SJH:   And have you ever recommended such steps to Council? 5 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Not for this site, no.   

 

SJH:   Okay.  Thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Limmer? 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir.   

 

SJH:   Ms Ash, your re-examination? 

 

MS ASH:   Just one matter, sir.   15 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [10.32 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Dr Partridge, Commissioner Neill asked you a question about the 

golf club practices of mowing.  Do you have any comment of the 20 

relationship between the mowing and the protection of the plants on the 

site? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   What we would like to do is we would like to be able to 

discuss with the golf club what those practices might be and try and 25 

modify them accordingly, so that any chance of the remaining species – 

which are scattered around, they are still there, it hasn’t lost anything 

altogether, but they are just much, much lower abundance than they 

used to be – have a chance to reproduce and re-establish on their own, 

along with our helping hands that we might actually undertake.   30 

 

MS ASH:   And can the mowing actually assist in any way? 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   The mowing assists in that it stops the aggressive exotic 

species that I was referring to, that have invaded the plots at McLeans 35 

Island, from doing so exactly here.  So mowing is essential. 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Dr Partridge. 40 

 

DR PARTRIDGE:   Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   You may stand down and you may be released. 

 45 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.33 am] 
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SJH:   Yes, Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   I call Mr Andrew Craig. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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<ANDREW CRAIG, affirmed [10.33 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [10.34 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Mr Craig, is your full name Andrew William Craig? 

 

MR CRAIG:   That it is.   5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the experience and qualifications outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR CRAIG:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please confirm to the Panel that the material included in 

your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR CRAIG:   I can. 15 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Would you please outline your summary to the Panel and answer 

any questions.   20 

 

MR CRAIG:   In my evidence I thought it useful to set out what constitutes 

rural landscape character and amenity.  The reason was to determine 

whether the proposed chapter 17 objectives and policies are sufficient 

to ensure these values are appropriately managed and protected as a 25 

result of amendments and refinements made to the objectives and 

policies through conferencing and medication. 

 

 In my view, the objectives and policies are capable of delivering the 

desired rural landscape character and amenity outcomes.   30 

 

 I also recognise that other proposed planning chapters affect rural 

landscape outcomes, in particular chapter 8, concerning subdivision, 9, 

natural and cultural matters, and 19, coastal environment.  I appreciate, 

therefore, that chapter 17 does not act alone.   35 

 

 I also considered the appropriateness of the proposed rules, particularly 

those concerning built form, as these are the most critical to the 

delivery of rural character and amenity that is derived from it.  While 

many of the provisions in the rules are universal – for example setbacks 40 

are pretty much the same for all rural areas – they also recognise the 

varying degrees of landscape sensitivity throughout the district, namely 

in the areas between Banks Peninsula and rural Port Hills and the 

Plains.   

 45 
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 As for the objectives and policies, the rules work in concert with those 

of other chapters.  I conclude in my evidence that the chapter 17 

proposed rules are appropriate in terms of achieving the landscape 

outcomes sought by the objectives and policies.   

 5 

 Regarding submissions, there are none that require a response from me, 

although in my rebuttal evidence I do address three submissions 

concerning proposed rules affecting landscape outcomes.   

 

 The first, from the Crown, and represented by landscape architect, 10 

Mr Peter Rough, who seeks to delete building form standard 17.7.3.5 

concerning building (INDISTINCT 2.03) in the Rural Templeton 1 

Zone.   I support this submission.   

 

 Mr Willian Field, landscape architect of Canterbury Aggregate 15 

Producers Group, supports the proposed objectives and policies, so in 

my rebuttal I have clarified the point he made concerning proposed 

policy 4 which Mr Field refers to, where this policy has since been 

deleted.   

 20 

 Ms Fiona Aston, planner for the Cathedral City Developments, seeks 

restricted activity status for the establishment of dwellings on the Rural 

Port Hills sites between 1 and 10 hectares.  Under the Council’s revised 

proposal the activity status is non-complying.  I was asked by Ms 

Dobbie Hogan, planner for the Council to comment on the landscape 25 

differences between the Rural Port Hills and Rural Urban Fringe, 

which may inform which activity status is appropriate. 

 

 So my assessment supports the appropriateness of a higher order of 

activity status than that for the Plains.  I also understand that Ms Dray, 30 

landscape architect for the Council, will address the provisions 

concerning landscape and visual effects of quarrying.   

 

 So that concludes my highlight statement. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Crawford? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [10.38 am] 40 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Good morning, Mr Craig.   

 

MR CRAIG:   Morning. 

 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   I am here for Cathedral City Developments Limited, the 

submitter you mentioned in your highlights package.  You noted that 

you commented in your rebuttal evidence in relation to this submitter, 

but not in your evidence-in-chief, do I have that correct? 

 5 

MR CRAIG:   That is correct. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And have you read the transcript from yesterday? 

 

MR CRAIG:   No, I have not. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Have you been advised that the Council planner has, in 

the words of Commissioner Dawson, somewhat softened her position 

in relation to the relief sought by that submitter? 

 15 

MR CRAIG:   I understand that is the case.   

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right.  And is it fair to say, in relation to activity status, 

that that is more of a planning matter and potentially outside the area of 

expertise of a landscape architect? 20 

 

MR CRAIG:   It is.   

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  You can, of course, comment on the 

appropriateness of matters such as assessment criteria where it 25 

considers landscape matters, is that fair to say? 

 

MR CRAIG:   I can. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And have you read the assessment criteria developed by 30 

Ms Aston? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, I have.   

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And do you consider that those assessment criteria might 35 

be appropriate for dealing with activities on a case by case basis? 

 

MR CRAIG:   They may be appropriate for some that I would have to give 

further consideration to. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right.  And would you be happy to work with the 

submitter to further develop and refine those assessment criteria if that 

is considered appropriate? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes.   45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. That is helpful.  Do you agree that rural 

landscapes are diverse? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   And even within the Rural Port Hills there are varying 

degrees of sensitivity? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 

 10 

MS CRAWFORD:   And indeed the CCDL site, it is correct, is it not, that you 

have provided an initial landscape assessment for that submitter earlier 

this year? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 15 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you probably disclosed that in your evidence in the 

residential chapter, didn’t you? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, I did.   20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  Is it correct that your opinion, and that relates 

to a rezoning of the site for residential purposes, was that the proposed 

rezoning for that purpose, which is the primary relief sought by my 

client, will in your words, “on balance be appropriate” in landscape 25 

terms – do you recall that? 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 30 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  I think that is it, sir.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 35 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I just have one question, Mr Craig.  Ms Crawford just asked 40 

you about the evidence of Ms Aston and your position to comment on 

aspects of that, and you suggested that was planning evidence and you 

were not able to comment on the detail of that, as I understood your 

answer. 

 45 
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 But I am interested, nevertheless, if you are able to comment, on your 

rebuttal evidence where you look at the differences between the Port 

Hills situation from a landscape perspective and the Rural Urban 

Fringe, and you set out a table where you look at the contrasting 

attributes, as I understand it. 5 

 

 Am I to take from that that you think that there would be a different 

result if the minimum lot size on the two areas was the same? Would 

the landscape impact be the same from a less than four hectare site on 

the plains versus the Port Hills? 10 

 

MR CRAIG:   It would depend on the land use as well that accompanies that 

lot size.  The minimum lot size on the Port Hills is 100 hectares, I 

understand, also the Port Hills land use activity is much more visually 

apparent than what it is on the plains, and the other thing is that on the 15 

plains the rural landscape there is much more diverse, so the activity 

there would reflect that, whereas on the Port Hills, in the rural Port 

Hills it is much less diverse, it is much more visually coherent.  So 

smaller lot sizes could lead to visual fragmentation of that landscape. 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   I guess I am not so much talking about new lot sizes, we are 

talking about the issue that Ms Aston was on about, which is about 

being able to put a dwelling on existing lots. 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 25 

 

MR WILLIS:   And there is some dispute about how many lots that would 

enable dwellings to be put on, but as Ms Crawford suggested to you, 

Ms Hogan yesterday suggested that perhaps maybe 10-20 lots would be 

able to have an additional dwelling under the proposal put forward by 30 

Ms Aston, and I guess the question that we need to look at is what 

would be the effects of doing that, is the planning view we have, and I 

wonder whether you could give a landscape view? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes.  Well, the main thing to keep in mind is whether the effects 35 

of those activities would satisfactorily achieve the outcomes, the 

landscape outcomes in the objectives and policies. 

 

 So chief among those in the Port Hills is maintenance of that rural 

urban contrast and therefore that would favour the establishment of 40 

dwellings in these smaller lots if they were adjoining the urban 

environment.  Another is to maintain the rural backdrop to the city, so 

again if the dwellings are biased towards the existing urban 

environment it probably would not have that much effect on the 

backdrop.   45 
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MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Can I ask, do you get involved in assessments in terms 

of resource consents for this sort of thing, for plans changes? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Is there a difficulty in, I guess, managing the death by a 

thousand cuts type of issue? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes. 

 10 

MR WILLIS:   So how, as a landscape professional, do you manage that? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Well, you have got to look at it in two ways.  One, is the 

localised effects, and quite often in consent applications the assessment 

stresses those effects.  When it comes to cumulative effects, it is 15 

necessary to look at what is happening over the entire Port Hills, what 

is happening collectively, not only with regard to any specific 

application, but also what has been happening historically in terms of 

the trend of development throughout the Port Hills over time and 

having some sense of what might happen in the future. 20 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, and the role of having in place a – designator is not the 

right word in a technical sense, but in a mapped landscape area being 25 

within or outside, is that a significant aid to your being able to give 

clear advice on these matters? 

 

MR CRAIG:   So when you say a mapped landscape - - - 

 30 

MR WILLIS:   I mean a designated landscape zone versus an area that is not. 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes.  So that tells you, or signals the significance of that 

particular urban landscape, and therefore that directs what kind of 

response is most appropriate with regard to any consent application. 35 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, look, thank you for that.  That is fine. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Hello, Mr Craig.  Thank you very much.  I just want to thank 

you for your discussion of rural character and amenity and the way you 

have set it out, I thought that was very helpful, thank you. 

 

 One question, you were asked by Ms Hogan in your rebuttal - - - 45 
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SJH:   Ms Hogan? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, Ms Hogan I think. 

 

SJH:   I thought you said asked by Ms Hogan? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, yes, I think that is right, she has done it as rebuttal to 

address the different characteristics between the Rural Port Hills and 

the Rural Urban Fringe, but I also asked her yesterday about the 

difference between the Rural Banks Peninsula and the Rural Port Hills, 10 

because she has recommended a discretionary activity consent to allow 

existing sites in Banks Peninsula down to four hectares to be able to 

have a house on it, even though it is either 100 or 40 hectares is the 

minimum lot size. 

 15 

 And so I do not know if you have been able to turn your mind to that, 

or whether you could inform us whether there are differences in the 

outcomes that would be sought for Banks Peninsula versus the Port 

Hills that might make a different approach to houses on existing lots 

need to be looked at differently in those two environments? 20 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, I understand.  The issue there is one of consistency 

between the two landscape environments, and I guess the difference 

between the Port Hills and Banks Peninsula is that the Port Hills are a 

backdrop to the city, it is also an area where the contrast between the 25 

Urban Rural area is at its greatest and, thirdly, that the rural 

environment of the Port Hills, even though there are distinct areas, say, 

to the west of Dyers Pass Road, it is largely forested, and to the east it 

is largely grassland; it is a very coherent landscape.   

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Whereas in Banks Peninsula you are saying it is more 

diverse? 

 

MR CRAIG:   It is more diverse, yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  If, say, a full discretionary activity, which is what is 

proposed or recommended for Banks Peninsula, with the sorts of 

limitations that Ms Aston has suggested, existing titles, not in the 

outstanding area; do you think those sort of decisions, as to what is 

appropriate and what would not be appropriate, in terms of the 40 

objectives and policies and outcomes could be adequately captured 

through assessment matters and consideration against policy? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, absolutely.  But it clearly comes down to whether the 

assessment matters are sufficient to capture that and to have confidence 45 

that through that assessment matter process that the objectives and 
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policies, well, certainly in my field the landscape aspects of them, are 

still going to be adequately delivered.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Also that the objectives and policies are adequately clear, but 

I understand from your evidence that you have reviewed those and you 5 

think they are a good representation of the outcomes. 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, that is right.  I also stress that in my evidence, that 

consideration needs to be given to other related objectives and policies 

in other chapters in the plan. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and I think that is specifically cross-referenced. 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, that is correct.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Craig. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir.  Thank you. 20 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Craig, you may stand down.   

 25 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.49 am] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   If I may be excused, sir? 

 

SJH:   Yes, you may be. 30 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, and Mr Cross and Mr Turpin, you better come forward 

to the microphone at this stage too please.   35 

 

MS ASHL   I now call Ms Adele Radburnd. 
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<ADELE RADBURND, affirmed [10.50 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [10.50 am] 

 

MS ASH:   Ms Radburnd, is your full name Adele Mary Radburnd? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Do you have the qualifications and experience outlined in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I do. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please confirm to the Panel that the material included in 

your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is, subject to a few corrections.  15 

 

MS ASH:   Could you please address those and then outline your summary.  

Perhaps if you just highlight them and we can correct them in due 

course. 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   Certainly.  So just two corrections that I wanted to make 

to my evidence, one is the evidence-in-chief at paragraph 10.4.6 on 

page 39, where the word “inexplicably” should read - - - 

 

SJH:   Just let us find it first, 39, 10.4.6? 25 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is it.  “Inexplicably” should read “inextricably”, and 

then a little bit further on at 10.6.2A on page 42, you have probably 

picked this up already, but it should read “amongst other things” 

instead of “amongst other this”.   30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, which paragraph was that again? 

 

MS RADBURND:   10.6.2, it is a minor correction, yes, so paragraph 10.6.2 

on page 42, A. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   A? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes.  And then turning to my rebuttal evidence, at 

paragraph 3.2.4 on page 7 regarding the processing area associated with 40 

the road metals Burnham quarry, there I refer to the processing area of 

that quarry being 9.4 hectares - - - 

 

SJH:   Sorry, 3.2.4? 

 45 

MS RADBURND:   3.4.2A. 
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SJH:   A, yes, all right, 9.4 hectares? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, so the 9.4 hectares actually is the maximum area to 

be exposed at any one time, which includes the area of excavation, not 5 

just the processing area. 

 

 So the area dedicated to processing activities is actually four hectares, 

so I would like to replace that 9.4 hectares with “four hectares”.  That 

four hectares includes a one hectare concrete batching plant as well, 10 

just for clarification. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  All right, if you go to your highlights package then. 

 

MS RADBURND:   My name is Adele Radburnd and I hold the position of 15 

Senior Planner at the Christchurch City Council.  I have been asked by 

the Council to give evidence in relation to the provisions in the 

Proposal relating to quarrying.   

 

 The quarrying provisions aim to provide an enabling framework to 20 

quarrying activity, for providing for quarrying in the rural quarry zone 

as a permitted activity, classifying applications for resource consent for 

quarrying in the rural urban fringe, rural Waimakariri, rural Banks 

Peninsula and rural Port Hill zones as a discretionary activity 

predominantly, with a non-complying activity status only retained for 25 

sites within 250 metres of residential or school zones.   

 

 This approach is more enabling for quarrying activity than any previous 

District Plan for Christchurch.  In my view this is appropriate because 

of the importance of aggregates for the social and economic wellbeing 30 

of communities, and the benefits of having a low cost supply of 

aggregates accessible to the city for earthquake recovery and also 

ongoing resilience and growth. 

 

 The provisions also place much greater emphasis on ensuring quarry 35 

sites are appropriately located, managed and whole of life process, 

including a programme for rehabilitation and subsequent use is 

considered from the outset. 

 

  [10.55 am] 40 

 

 This rightly acknowledges that quarrying activity can have adverse 

environmental effects and the recovery also means enhancement. 

 

 The submissions on the quarrying provisions raise a range of issues 45 

including, but not limited to, refinement of policies relating to the 
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location and management of quarrying activities and quarry site 

rehabilitation, so that is policies 11 and 12 of  proposal 17; the 

appropriateness of Council’s approach to providing for quarrying and 

access to aggregates in the district.  

 5 

 Whether the provisions seeking to encourage and expedite use of zone 

supply and rehabilitation of zone quarry sites are realistic, achievable 

and appropriate.  Whether separation distances between sensitive 

activities are appropriate, whether the range of activities anticipated in 

the rural quarry zone is appropriate; and whether the built form and 10 

activity standards in the rural quarry zone are appropriate to manage 

the effects of quarrying activities on the environment, including on 

nearby residents, and finally, rezoning requests. 

 

 Changes made in response to submissions.  The Council has agreed to 15 

changes to a number of provisions, the key changes include that greater 

provision has been made for quarry sites to process materials brought 

in from other sites as a permitted activity.  The rules now enable up to 

50 percent of material to be derived from other sites as a permitted 

activity, where previously it was only permitted as an earthquake 20 

recovery related concession up to 2018. 

 

 A less stringent activity status for proposals seeking to use exhausted 

quarry sites for ongoing processing activities, or where ancillary 

processing activities become dominant on the site.  This is now 25 

discretionary rather than non-complying, and a new policy has been 

included to provide a framework for consideration of these non-rural 

activities, along with the other objectives and policies of the plan. 

 

 Removal of the requirement for all quarries in the quarry zone to be 30 

rehabilitated by 2031, and replacement with a more flexible 

rehabilitation rule.  That rule is 17.6.4.15, requiring a rehabilitation 

plan to be prepared for each quarry in the zone.   

 

 Deletion of the high quality gravels overlay and related policy 13, on 35 

the basis that it would be largely ineffective.  Refinement of policies 11 

and 12 and to assessment matters, additional recognition in policy of 

the potential effects of quarrying on strategic infrastructure and a new 

non-complying activity rule in the quarry zone to avoid adverse effects 

which may compromise the National Grid, and I will come onto that 40 

point a bit further as well.   

 

 Deletion of rules and policy references seeking the protection of 

groundwater and the management of dust effects to avoid duplication 

with regional functions.  Removal of full public notification clauses for 45 
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breaches of zone rules to better reflect the Statement of Expectations 

and strategic objective 3.3.2. 

 

 Finally, extension of the 250 metre non-complying activity status 

buffer to also apply to school zones. 5 

 

 There are two matters where my opinion differs from that expressed by 

elected members through the Notified Proposal, these are highlighted 

yellow in the Revised Proposal, and include, firstly, the need for public 

notification clauses for resource consent applications seeking to locate 10 

in close proximity to urban areas or close to, or within groundwater.   

 

 Secondly, the need for provisions in proposal 17 to manage the 

potential effects of quarrying on groundwater.  I do not support the 

inclusion of public notification clauses for groundwater protection 15 

rules, and other experts have presented evidence in support of these 

provisions for the Council. 

 

 I note that with respect to the proposed maximum depth of excavation 

rule in the one metre buffer to protect post-rehabilitation land uses, 20 

Mr Potts now agrees with the evidence of Ms Rutter, that the definition 

used in the plan should be “maximum recorded groundwater level” as 

per the Council’s Revised Proposal dated 17 September, rather than 

“seasonal high water table” which is used in the Revised Proposal now 

attached to Ms Hogan’s evidence.   25 

 

 I adopt and rely on Mr Potts’ evidence and Ms Rutter’s evidence on 

this matter.  I am particularly persuaded by the evidence of Ms Rutter, 

which demonstrates the uncertainties around establishing highest 

groundwater levels, and which lends support for a more conservative 30 

approach of using the status quo measurement of highest recorded 

groundwater level. 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 35 

 In my opinion this conservative approach is more appropriate as it will 

better enable a range of rural productive activities to be undertaken on 

rural land after quarrying is completed.  This is an outcome sought by 

strategic objective 3.3.16.   

 40 

 Given that this is a status quo threshold of the Operative City Plan, I do 

not envisage any additional costs associated with adopting this 

threshold.  This revised position revises my evidence at paragraph 

10.28 on page 34, but I note that the revised proposal does not currently 

reflect this amendment.   45 
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 My evidence also addresses a number of rezoning requests seeking 

Rural Quarry zoning.  These have been resolved with the exception of 

the proposed rezoning of Templeton golf course and the Pound Road 

quarry sought by Fulton Hogan.   

 5 

 As explained further in my evidence, I do not support Fulton Hogan’s 

deferred zoning proposal because I do not consider deferred zoning to 

be an appropriate planning tool and for the proposal to proceed to a 

stage where the zoning would take effect it would be necessary for a 

land swap under the Reserves Act, to go through the proper statutory 10 

and a number of statutory processes, and be confirmed.  And it is far 

from certain that this land swap will meet the relevant requirements for 

it to take place. 

 

 Secondly, a resource consent to clear vegetation on the golf course site 15 

would be required and would facilitate the destruction of indigenous 

vegetation which has been assessed as having considerable ecological 

value.  Dr Partridge’s evidence on behalf of the Council is that there are 

significant risks to ecological values associated with destroying the 

vegetation and then attempting to mitigate and offset these effects.  20 

 

 While there has been some high level assessment of the ability for a 

quarry on the Templeton golf course site to manage effects relating to 

dust, noise and traffic, those assessments are premised on certain types 

of mitigation being provided.  In other words, the conclusion of those 25 

assessments is that these effects could be managed; however there is 

currently insufficient detail before the Panel to mean that this is certain. 

 

 In light of the above, I consider it would be premature and poor 

resource management practise to confirm a deferred zoning for the 30 

Templeton golf course site as part of this process and based on the 

limited information that is before the Panel. 

 

 In my view, the more appropriate approach would be to consider either 

a rezoning request as part of a future planning change or Fulton Hogan 35 

to apply for a resource consent, which is my preference, to establish a 

quarry once the proposed land swap under the Reserves Act has been 

completed. 

 

 My evidence concludes that the package of quarrying provisions 40 

appropriately recognises the importance of gravels for recovery, 

economic growth, and promotes the efficient use of natural resources 

whilst providing adequate safeguards to ensure protection of the 

environment including surrounding communities.   

 45 
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 In respect of the Fulton Hogan rezoning I conclude that the deferred 

zoning proposal is inappropriate and other methods are more 

appropriate for furthering Fulton Hogan’s objectives. 

 

 In respect of the matters where I have revised my position since 5 

notification, those amendments have been considered in the context of 

section 32AA of the Act and the evaluation of the appropriateness of 

the revised provisions for achieving the objectives of the Plan are set 

out within the body of my evidence and rebuttal evidence. 

 10 

 As directed by the Panel yesterday the intention is now to consolidate 

this further evaluation into a table format to be lodged at the conclusion 

of this hearing. 

 

 One final matter is that there has been agreement now reached in 15 

relation to an outstanding matter of protection of the national grid and 

electricity transmission corridor. A rule has been drafted which is 

acceptable to all parties.  That includes Transpower, Orion, the Council 

and the Canterbury Aggregate Producers Group, and this would be 

produced as an exhibit by Transpower when they appear next week. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [11.04 am] 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Ms Radburnd, in parts of your evidence you 

talk about the longstanding expectation that these quarries would 

eventually pack up and move away effectively, and you refer to the 

Paparua scheme and the Operative Plan in support of that expectation.  

The context for both of those plans was a long-term expectation that the 30 

demand would be met by supplies from the river, either wholly or 

mostly, was it not? 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 35 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, that was the assumption at the time. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And in fact, that expectation was really only resoundingly 

debunked in 2006, in the Road Metals case? 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   That is correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And this Plan review is the first time that a fresh and holistic 

look at the zones has been undertaken since that decision, is it not? 

 45 
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MS RADBURND:   Well the zones have been reviewed but the outcome of 

those zones remains the same – the intended outcome. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, but this process is the first time someone has taken an 

overall look at the zone, since 2006. 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   Since 2006, yes, correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Now you say there is a more enabling framework and that is 

because there is a move from non-complying to discretionary status 10 

outside the quarry zones, that is part of why you say it is more enabling 

than the previous scheme. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Is that a question? 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  Is that correct? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I would say so. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And in terms of within the zones themselves though, you say 20 

that the provisions are largely unchanged and the Operative Plan used 

to allow for, or does allow for quarrying as well, does it not, on around 

about the same terms? 

 

MS RADBURND:  The provisions are largely the same, other than some 25 

changes to improve them, particularly around rehabilitation. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, so there is an additional requirement on the quarries in 

regard to rehabilitation as compared to the Operative Plan? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   It is more explicit, I would say.  Under the Operative Plan 

there was always the expectation of rehabilitation and rehabilitation is 

part of the definition of quarrying activity. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But there was no rule requiring a rehabilitation plan, like - - - 35 

 

MS RADBURND:   Not a rehabilitation plan; my understanding is that that 

was an outcome sought by the Council in the previous District Plan 

review, and there were concerns raised at that time that it would not be 

entirely effective for existing quarries. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   So that is a point of difference.  In terms of processing 

imported materials under the Operative Plan, that would be 

discretionary? 

 45 

MS RADBURND:   Under the Operative Plan, it is permitted. 
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MS LIMMER:   Some imported materials.  Processing exclusively of imported 

materials - - - 

 

MS RADBURND:   Oh, no I wouldn’t - - - 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - would be discretionary under the Operative Plan? 

 

MS RADBURND:   - - - I would say non-complying. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Do you know that? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is not expressly provided for I do not think as a 

discretionary activity.  I would say it was non-complying. 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Are you sure of that, or not sure? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I would have to check that, but that is my understanding. 

 

MS LIMMER:  Yes, and the status you propose now under this Plan is 20 

discretionary? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The 2031 date, you say in your evidence-in-chief at 10.28C 25 

that - - - 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, I will just find that – 10.28? 

 

MS LIMMER:   C.  So you say - - - 30 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, 10.28 does not have a C? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry, 10.27C. 

 35 

 You say in that paragraph that 2031 is the date at which all zoned and 

consented gravel resources are projected to be exhausted, and I take it 

you are referring to Mr English’s analysis? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Correct.  He suggests sometime between 2030 and 2035. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   He does not exactly say that every site will be worked out by 

that date though, does he? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   He says that it is inevitable that some sites will be worked out 

earlier and some sites will continue well past that date, does he not? 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is correct and those dates include zoned which have 

been zoned for 40/50 years or however long, decades, and also newly 5 

consented quarries. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, but they are not all going to be worked out by that date? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   And he also says that once geography is taken into account the 

south western sector of the city the quarries there will be exhausted in 

about five years. 

 15 

MS RADBURND:   Say again, sorry. 

 

MS LIMMER:   He also says does he not that if you look at the geographical 

location the quarries in the south western sector of the city will be 

exhausted in about five years. 20 

 

MS RADBURND:   I cannot recall him saying that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So in 8.5 of your rebuttal evidence, and you are discussing 

there the submissions that effectively seek a shutting down or a closing 25 

out of new consents until the existing resource is used up - - - 

 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, can you say that reference again? 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   Paragraph 8.5 of the original – do you have that? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   So your discussing there the submissions that really seek in 

effect a closing down of new quarries or stopping new quarries coming 

on stream, given there is this resource out till 2031 theoretically. 

 

 Would you also accept that a consequence of the approach sought by 40 

submitters would be that a quarry which - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, what submitters? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Like the submitters you are discussing at paragraph 8.5. 45 
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MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   A consequence of that approach would also be, if an operator 

uses their resource up in the next five years, they effectively have to 

wait it out until they are  able to go and get new resource and be out 5 

before the quarries are spent? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, I do not follow, can I just read the paragraph again? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly. 10 

 

MS RADBURND:   And your question again? 

 

MS LIMMER:   So it is not a question about the Council’s proposal, it is a 

question about your comments on the submissions, and they seek an 15 

effective closing out - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   That is right - - -  

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - of new quarries? 20 

 

MS RADBURND:   - - - to let the existing quarries play out and meet demand 

in the short term. 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is why I am asking you, would you agree that and 25 

additional factor to consider in that, is that for the quarries that only 

have a short term supply, let’s say five years - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   Sure. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   - - - they would effectively have to sit on their hands - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   That is right. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - until other quarries have use up their resource - - -  35 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is right. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - so the pool of operators would shrink. 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, that is correct.  And it would continue to give rise to 

resource consents for those operators that needed to continue their 

operations. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, unless the framework was set, as the submitters would 45 

have it, to effectively make it very hard to get those new consents.   
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 With respect to the options for processing material once a site has used 

its onsite resource, if I understand your evidence you have effectively 

discussed four options for processing, once the existing sites are 

worked out, and the first one is that the processing goes wherever the 5 

extractions goes? 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is a preference, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you accept Mr Camp’s evidence, that processing is 10 

usually the noisiest part of a quarrying activity? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would agree that site size and distance from sensitive 15 

users, would be an important part in mitigating that effect? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And of the nine site consented out of zone that you have 20 

included as an appendix to your evidence – and I just cannot recall 

what appendix that was – it is one of the larger bits that we got handed 

out this morning – this appendix 2. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Of those out of zone quarries? 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   I am just thinking about the out of zone quarries, the ones that 

had been consented beyond the quarry zone, how many of those sites 

are allowed to process material? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   Well when you say “allowed”, I guess - - -  

 

MS LIMMER:   By their consent? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, what has been sought? 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well no, what their consents provide for; I know there is three 

on that picture that are not allowed to process, so that is three out of 

nine. 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, so there are three on this, the two Fulton Hogan sites, 

one at Hasketts Road and 50 Roberts Road where – sorry, yes, 50 

Roberts Road and 70-80 Roberts Road which is Waterloo Park 

Limited.  As far as I am aware there was no – the applicant did not seek 

to process on those sites; it was not a limitation imposed by the 45 

Council. 
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MS LIMMER:   What the consents preclude processing onsite though, do they 

not? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I have to go back and have a look at them – they do not 5 

process onsite. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And the Winstone’s one? 

 

MS RADBURND:   199 Old West Coast Road? 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, that is not allowed to process either, is it? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, it is not allowed to process, but is an extension of an 

existing quarry. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   So that is four out of nine.  And the road metals ones, there 

were two separate - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   Well again they were an extension to an existing quarry, 20 

they had no need to. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:   So they cannot undertake processing.  So there is at least four, 25 

maybe six out of the nine consented sites, that cannot process onsite or 

do not process onsite? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, if you include those extensions to the existing 

quarries, yes. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   They are part of nine that you have talked about which is the 

consented sites? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Correct. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   The second option you identify is moving through industrial 

zoned land, how many sites process aggregate within the industrial 

zone in Christchurch at the moment? 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   None as far as – there is the industrial rural, the old rural 

industrial zone out by the Waimak – Chaney’s Ready Mix, so they do 

some processing that is an industrial zone, but I do not believe there has 

been a need for it. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   So Mr English says in his evidence that, apart from small 

concrete recycling plant, he is not aware of any in New Zealand that the 

aggregate processing is undertaken in urban industrial zone, and you 

were here yesterday when Mr Cunningham did not identify industrial 

zones as where processing would go either. 5 

 

 Do you accept such a scenario would be unusual? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Mr Cunningham, as I recall, said that there would be no 

need for that because processing is usually undertaken on the extraction 10 

site. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I asked him where it would go and he said on the site of 

extraction, you are right, but he did not identify industrial zones as 

somewhere these activities go did he? 15 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, because in his experience the processing is undertaken 

at the extraction site. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you accept then that it would be unusual? 20 

 

MS RADBURND:   To locate in an industrial zone? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Based on the fact that to date no one has? 

 25 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have identified three river based sites as options for 

processing the material, are you aware of the authorisation those sites 

operate under and whether they can actually take material other than 30 

from the river? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well the Fulton Hogan site is a scheduled activity; I do 

not think there are any preclusions to that. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Are you aware that that actually schedule has been removed? 

 

MS RADBURND:   The scheduling? 

 

MS LIMMER:   In this proposal? 40 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, I am not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And are you aware that the road metal site has a consent that 

only allows for river gravel to be processed? 45 
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MS RADBURND:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Are you aware that the range of products produced at those 

sites is very limiting compared to what comes out of the quarry zones? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Say again? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Are you aware that the range of products produced at those 

sites is limited compared to that processed in the quarry zones? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   I understand that that would – yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And are you aware that those sites have a fraction of the 

capacity of the sites in the quarry zones? 

 15 

MS RADBURND:   I cannot comment on that; there is a number of different 

quarries in the quarry zone. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Have you considered the effect on prices from trucking out to 

the Waimak River and then back into the city? 20 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well it depends where it is coming from. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, but have you given it any thought to the, if you are 

putting it forward as an option have you considered the impact that it 25 

would have on Christchurch? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well it would be difficult to consider that scenario when 

you do not know where those extraction sites are, those extraction sites 

might be extremely close to existing plant and processing areas, so - - -  30 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well we know the river is not going to provide a great deal of 

resource so presumably it is going to have to be somewhere else aside 

from the river? 

 35 

MS RADBURND:   Well there will continue to be river based extraction.  New 

sites primarily will process on their own sites. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you haven’t discussed that in your evidence so you - - -  

 40 

MS RADBURND:   No, I have not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - haven’t considered the cost? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   In your rebuttal evidence you suggest Fulton Hogan’s 

processing site at the rivers – four hectares in size – are you aware at 

leases and adjacent site and operates over 13 hectares? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I think my evidence said that that site was seven hectares 5 

and – what is the adjacent site? 

 

MS LIMMER:   I think your evidence was that the road metal site seven 

hectares, and the Fulton Hogan site is 44 - - -  

 10 

MS RADBURND:   Okay, and it is – it was - - -  

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - and I was asking you if you aware of - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   - - - the other way around. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - that Fulton Hogan operates that in conjunction with a 

lease for another 10 hectares? 

 

MS RADBURND:   And is that the sawmilling operation? 20 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MS LIMMER:   I am just asking you if you are aware that activity actually 

occurs over a larger area than four hectares? 25 

 

MS RADBURND:   My understanding, and I will have to check my evidence, 

is that seven hectares was the Fulton Hogan site and the four hectares 

was the – I will have to check, I have mapped them, I have measured 

them.   30 

 

MS LIMMER:   Your last option there, so aside from onsite or Industrial Zone 

or out of the river, your last option is running the gauntlet of a full 

discretionary consent? 

 35 

MS RADBURND:   That is an option, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Just turning briefly to rehabilitation, you have said at 3.28 of 

your rebuttal evidence that a continued supply - - - 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, yes? 

 

MS LIMMER:   That a continued supply of clean fill to old quarry sites would 

delay rehabilitation on new sites, but you have seen the evidence of 

both Mr English and Mr Cunningham, where they express the view that 45 
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provided a new quarry knows what it is getting itself in for, it can plan 

and provision rehabilitation. 

 

 Would you accept that knowing that in advance means a quarry can 

figure out what it needs and where it is going to come from? 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   I would accept that new quarries can plan ahead for their 

rehabilitation. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You would say that for new quarries, the City Council would 10 

have a very unequivocal ability to enforce staged rehabilitation and the 

rehabilitation plans? 

 

MS RADBURND:   There is definitely more opportunity through a consenting 

process to ensure that happens. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, even though the standards in the Quarry Zone, the new 

quarries would be subject to a staged rehabilitation rule and a 

rehabilitation plan rule, would they not? 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   For new quarries? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Under the Fulton Hogan proposal, yes. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Just quickly on the three hectare rule, you point out that has 

been there for 20 years - - - 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer, just be conscious of your time, I know you have got two 30 

clients. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir.  Sorry, the questions for Fulton Hogan are very brief, 

sir, and this is my last question for the CAPG. 

 35 

 20 years ago, Ms Radburnd, was there only two hectares of exposed 

excavation on each of the sites in the Quarry Zone? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Was that the level of exposed excavation at the time? 

 40 

MS LIMMER:   I am asking you, 20 years ago was there only two hectares of 

exposed excavation at each site in the Quarry Zone? 

 

MS RADBURND:   So you are not talking about the rule, you are talking about 

actually on the ground? 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

MS RADBURND:   I was not around at that time to know that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You say you are reluctant to let that two hectare rule, you 5 

were comfortable with it in your primary evidence, you are reluctant 

now to let it go.  You heard Mr Cunningham confirm yesterday that 

very few, in fact it would be very difficult for a site to operate within 

that two hectare limit, are you still reluctant to let it go? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   No, the thrust of my evidence really was on the 

rehabilitation that we – and this was agreed at mediation – that the 

maximum exposed area rule would go in exchange for the new quarry 

rehabilitation rule which can consider matters of staged rehabilitation 

on the proviso that the three to one batter rule was retained.   15 

 

 I do accept that the two hectares is small, it was carried over from the 

operative plan and I had anticipated having conversation through this 

process, as we did not have a consultation stage, to determine what 

would be a more appropriate area.  But the advice that I have received 20 

from Mr Cunningham is that the appropriate extent of exposed 

excavation really should be assessed on a case by case basis because it 

depends on the scale of the alteration and site considerations and so 

forth. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   So if I take you to 4.13 of your rebuttal quickly, you have said 

there that you are somewhat reluctant to see the two hectare rule go, 

you do not know how many quarry sites actually only had two hectares 

years ago, and you have heard Mr Cunningham say that very few, if 

any, would be able to operate within that, and I am asking you, does 30 

that change your view in your rebuttal about your reluctance to see it 

go? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I have indicated a reluctance to see a staged restoration 

rule that was in place go, whatever that ended up being, if it was two 35 

hectares or more, but I have accepted in mediation that that rule would 

go. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   As long as the batter rule was retained. 

 

MS LIMMER:   All right, thank you.  I will just ask a handful of questions 

about the Fulton Hogan proposal, Ms Radburnd, so on a slightly 

different theme. 45 
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 Was the Fulton Hogan submission on this plan reviewed the first time 

you became aware of this idea? 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   No, not the idea, I was not aware of the idea. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The possibility of switching these sites has been around for 

some time now, has it not? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   Well, I have been aware of it for about a year. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, in 2013 the media reported about it, in what is believed 

to be a multimillion dollar revamp of the golf course? 

 15 

MS RADBURND:   I lived in England at the time, I will take your word for 

that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you think matters would be any more certain right now if 

the Panel declined the rezoning request and Fulton Hogan instead 20 

applied for reserve exchange? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Would it be more certain if the reserves exchange came 

first? 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Would there be any more certainty to anyone right now if the 

Panel said, no, and Fulton Hogan went and applied for reserve 

exchange instead? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, there is two parts to the uncertainty.  One, is the 30 

Reserves Act process, which evidence has shown has a significant 

amount of uncertainty around whether or not it is feasible, so there has 

got to be more certainty for surrounding residents and businesses if that 

was to be the case. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   They will not know whether this is going to happen until the 

Reserves Act and the land use issues are done with, will they? 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is correct.  The second part of the uncertainty is 

obviously about the ecological values, so it is in two parts. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  But Ms Hana, for example, would still be unsure about 

whether a quarry might establish on the golf course? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, there is always going to be that – you cannot know 45 

what is going to happen in the future. 
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MS LIMMER:   Certainly she knows of the idea and she will not know 

whether it is going to happen until some decisions, or the train of 

decisions is completed? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Correct.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Is there any prospect in your view, or have you assumed in 

your evidence, there is the prospect of the golf course being built if 

Fulton Hogan cannot quarry the existing golf course? 10 

 

MS RADBURND:   I am not aware of that being a proposal, but there is 

nothing in the plan preventing that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   No.  So you suggest changing the rules in the Quarry Zone so 15 

Fulton Hogan could go out and build the golf course, and that will get 

around the Reserves Act uncertainty, but that is not actually going to 

provide any assurance of outcome either, is it?  Because that is only 

going to happen if the quarrying is able to happen as well? 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   Well, all I am suggesting by that is that a change in zoning 

is not required to enable that to happen, it does not need an Open Space 

Zoning for a golf course to be developed on that site.   

 

MS LIMMER:   No, but how realistic is a golf course on that site unless there 25 

is a change in zoning on the existing golf course? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I do not see why not.   

 

MS LIMMER:   You do not see that a multimillion dollar new golf course 30 

might depend on something else happening? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, there are other golf courses that have been 

developed on former quarry sites. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   You have expressed concern in a few parts of your evidence 

that putting this deferred zoning in place would signal support for the 

project from yourself and the councillors.  As a planner, you would 

accept that provisions in a plan simply signal they have been through 

the RMA process and decided to be appropriate, would you not? 40 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, they signal a policy position that has gone through a 

process and certainly I do not consider that we have got enough – we 

are not in that position, we do not have a Council policy position in 

support of that. 45 
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 There is considerable uncertainty, particularly on the ecological values, 

it would be inappropriate to signal in principle support for the removal 

of those ecological values at this time and essentially that is what this 

proposal would be doing, it would be signalling in principle support 

because quarrying is clearance of vegetation, so it would signal the 5 

appropriateness of that when we have not had any analysis of what the 

effects of that might be, whether offsetting is a viable option. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Would you accept that provisions end up in plans that are not 

always in accordance with what the Council or what the Council staff 10 

would support? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I accept that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You accept that, or you are aware that this proposal is 15 

contingent on the biodiversity issues being dealt with through a consent 

process? 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   It is but, like I say, the provisions of the plan have got to 

be appropriate in accordance with the objectives and policies of the 

plan and quarrying of a site of ecological significance when it hasn’t 

been through any process to determine whether there is an offsetting 

solution there would be inappropriate. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, but the offsetting solution is earmarked to be dealt with - 

- - 

 

MS RADBURND:   I understand that there is - - - 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - at a later point, isn’t it? 

 

MS RADBURND:   There is a - - - 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   It is not assuming that that is going to be (INDISTINCT 0.44) 

the outcome? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, I think by signalling that in principle quarrying is 

acceptable on the site is actually doing that, it is sort of pre-empting the 40 

outcome almost. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Okay - - - 
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MS RADBURND:   I understand that it is a subsequent process but that 

process is highly uncertain and yet would be signalling that that is a 

viable option.  I don’t think - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:   So it is pre-emptive but uncertain? 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, it is indicating that that is a matter that is resolvable, 

I don’t think we are there yet. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I have no further questions. 10 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer, if you require longer than the default position for cross-

examination, please ask when you apply for leave to cross-examine in 

the future. 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, sorry. 

 

SJH:   Is that clearly understood? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Cross or Mr Turpin, which one is it today? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CROSS [11.31 am] 

 25 

MR CROSS:   Good morning, your Honour, we both will have some questions 

for Ms Radburnd and hopefully we will get them within the time 

allocated, thank you.  Good morning, Ms Radburnd. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Good morning. 30 

 

MR CROSS:   In paragraph 10.1.8 of your evidence - - - 

 

SJH:   Can you put your question, please. 

 35 

MR CROSS:   Of your evidence you justify your opinion of no evidence to 

support 300 metre or greater separation distance by your statement “not 

all quarries are the same” and then you go on to say “recent resource 

consents granted closer to residents in recent years support this view”.  

Even when limited notification is offered would you accept that a 40 

contributing factor for these consents being granted is the cost 

associated with mounting a strong case to oppose a quarry application 

from the likes Winstones, Road Metals of Fulton Hogan including the 

option of pursuing the case in the Environment Court is really beyond 

the financial capacity of the average property owner? 45 
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MS RADBURND:   No. 

 

MR CROSS:   So you think the average property owner would actually be able 

to easily come up with 10 or 15 thousand to carry the cost of planners 

and lawyers to actually fight a case against the quarry, is that what you 5 

are saying? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, what I am saying is that all owners have an 

opportunity relatively - - - 

 10 

MR CROSS:   Owners that are given the opportunity? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Affected parties have equal opportunity to make a 

submission on a resource consent application. 

 15 

MR CROSS:   Okay.  Further would you accept that your statement in 

paragraph 10.1.8 implies those residents affected by the granting of 

those consents are happy with the reduced distances? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, what I am saying there is - - - 20 

 

MR CROSS:   Thank you.  Ms Radburnd, in paragraph 10.9.2. 

 

SJH:   You have watched a little bit much television, Mr Cross, witnesses are 

allowed to complete their answers so if you want to complete it do so. 25 

 

MR CROSS:   Sorry, Ms Radburnd. 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is fine. 

 30 

SJH:   Did you wish to add something to your, no? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, sir, it is fine. 

 

SJH:   All right. 35 

 

MR CROSS:   In paragraph 10.9.2 you list typical costs for types of 

notification for a quarry application.  Following on in paragraph 10.9.3, 

would you accept the reason the Council have processed only one 

publicly notified application since 2006 is mainly due to the significant 40 

changes herald in under the Resource Management Amendment Act of 

2009? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 

45 
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  [11.35 am] 

 

MR CROSS:   On that basis would you have to accept the synopsis in your 

evidence paragraph 10.9.3 does not present a balanced view because it 

has not accounted for the real reason of only one publicly notified 5 

notification since 2006? 

 

MS RADBURND:   The notification decisions are based on an assessment of 

the environmental effects. 

 10 

MR CROSS:   Exactly but the pressure under the changes to the Resource 

Management Act just about reduced the public notification to very 

serious environmental effects? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I don’t accept that. 15 

 

MR CROSS:   Okay, moving on.  Ms Radburnd, would you accept that the 

three currently established Quarry zones Miners Road site has the 

highest density of residential units surrounding it? 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I accept that. 

 

MR CROSS:   Would you accept that all the current Quarry zones have long 

established fixed crushing and screening plants? 

 25 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, all the quarries in the Quarry zone? 

 

MR CROSS:   All the quarries in the Quarry zone have long established fixed 

crushing and screening plant? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   I am not sure if they all have fixed but most, yes. 

 

MR CROSS:   Given Miners Road has the highest density of residential units 

are you aware of the distances those residential units are from any of 

the quarries fixed crushing and screening plant? 35 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, I would say they all have to be more than 

100 metres just on the basis that the plant has - - - 

 

MR CROSS:   Can I advise you that all the resident units are more than 40 

500 metres away from all of those plants. 

 

SJH:   Well, are you going to give evidence to that effect? 

 

MR CROSS:   Here? 45 
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SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR CROSS:   No, sir, I am not going to present any, I am just making - - - 

 

 Can I suggest then that the residential units are more than 500 metres 5 

away? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I will take your word for that. 

 

MR CROSS:   In your evidence, paragraph 10.123, page 58, you describe your 10 

reasons for giving support to the 100 metre setback. 

 

MS RADBURND:   10.128? 

 

MR CROSS:   123, page 58.  You describe your reasons for giving support to 15 

the 100 metre setback, am I correct that you have read my evidence? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I have read your evidence. 

 

MR CROSS:   Can you confirm on the point you make in 10.123, “I am less 20 

concerned by the effects of a mobile processing plant”.  I take it you 

really mean mobile crushing and screening plan given your statement 

in paragraph 10.122 where you mention CAPG’s concern with using 

the word processing plant. 

 25 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, I just have to read this again.   

 

 And your question again, sorry? 

 

MR CROSS:   In that paragraph of 123 you state “I am less concerned by the 30 

effects of a mobile processing plant”.  I take it you really mean mobile 

crushing and screening plant because given the paragraph 122, the 

previous one, you mention CAPG’s concern with using the word 

processing plant? 

 35 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I understand that they didn’t want it to include 

conveyors. 

 

MR CROSS:   Yes, so what I am trying to get from you is the word mobile 

processing plant really meaning screening and crushing plant?  Because 40 

mobile processing could be a conveyor, that is what CAPG, well, one 

of the reasons they did not want to use the word “processing”. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Because it would (INDISTINCT 4.18) conveyors, yes. 

 45 
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MR CROSS:   So you agree that it really does mean screening and crushing 

plant? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is the plant that they use to process further away from 

the fixed plant. 5 

 

SJH:   Well, it is your term, what do you mean by the “mobile plant”?  You 

have used it so what do you mean by “mobile plant” in a quarry? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, that is what I am suggesting that it is the crushing. 10 

 

MR CROSS:   It is the crushing plant? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 15 

MR CROSS:   Thank you.  Would it be fair to say that in 10.123 you have 

assumed a possible scenario in this part of your evidence? 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   Pardon? 

 

SJH:   Well, what possible scenario, Mr Cross? 

 

MR CROSS:   Well she has talked about that she believes the effects of the 25 

mobile crushing plant would not, being of a temporary nature, would 

not actually rise to many adverse effects, and that is in brief what you 

were painting the picture of in coming up with the reason for justifying 

your 100 metre setback? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   No, what I am suggesting is that the current 100 metre rule 

is appropriate to be retained because it deals with a whole lot of 

different mitigation effects in terms of visual amenity and dust and 

noise and all that sort of thing.  There are occasions where for short 

periods of time our operator may wish to use mobile plant for short 35 

durations and because of that temporal basis it is less of a concern.  

Bearing in mind that that plant still needs to comply with noise and 

dust. 

 

MR CROSS:   Okay.  Would it be also true that your stance on this rule runs 40 

contrary to expert world opinion on emission controls, when it comes 

to crushing and screening operations? 

 

MS RADBURND:   What you are suggesting is that a larger separation 

distance is required or is justifiable? 45 
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MR CROSS:   I am suggesting that you have not taken, in your account of this 

rule, the emission controls that are recognised worldwide for crushing 

and screening plant, that is all. 

 

MS RADBURND:  You are referring, I assume, to publications like the 5 

Victorian EPA. 

 

MR CROSS:   On the pier (ph 2.00) and the Tasmanian. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Which primarily is to deal with residual emissions from 10 

odour and dust which are neither effects that we are dealing with 

addressing through this District Plan. 

 

MR CROSS:   They are not the only worldwide rules. 

 15 

MS RADBURND:   That is what those standards address, residual odour and 

dust effects. 

 

MR CROSS:   Fine.  Finally, Ms Radburnd, do you really believe good 

planning is about a set of rules that invites complaints and puts more 20 

pressure on an already stretched Council ECan compliance team? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 

 

MR CROSS:   Thank you. 25 

 

SJH:   Do you have questions as well, Mr Turpin? 

 

MR TURPIN:   I do, I will try and rush through them, I am sorry. 

 30 

SJH:   Well no, we will take the morning adjournment now. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Thank you.  Okay then. 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, Ms Radburnd you are under cross-examination, you cannot 35 

discuss your evidence with anyone during the break.  You understand? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 40 

 

ADJOURNED [11.43 am] 

 

RESUMED [12.03 pm] 

 45 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Ms Radburnd you are still on your formal oath. 
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MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Just before we go on, I want to just raise this issue again of time for 

cross-examination.  At every pre-hearing meeting we have had we have 5 

urged people if they want longer than the default position of 10 minutes 

to ask for it. 

 

 Now, I know it is notoriously difficult because witnesses differ, some 

answer very directly and others do not, but for example Ms Limmer, 10 

you asked for 20 minutes and took longer.  Yaldhurst asked for two to 

three minutes or up to 10 minutes for three others, now you alone took 

10 minutes, Mr Cross.  Now, I am not going to curtail people, but it 

creates chaos for our schedule and also creates inconvenience for the 

submitters and Counsel that appear after you.   15 

 

 So if you need longer please ask for it, and if you think you have got it 

wrong tell the Secretariat so we can adjust the times, please. 

 

 Mr Turpin.? 20 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR TURPIN [12.04 pm] 

 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, well good morning again Panel. and good morning again 

Ms Radburnd.  Now Ms Radburnd, you read my evidence, so we are at 25 

your rebuttal 8.2 regarding industry assertions that transport costs of 

aggregate double every 30 kilometres it has to travel, do you now agree 

this statement cannot be true? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is a rule of thumb, and Mr English discussed this at 30 

great length yesterday that it can be, in his experience, and I rely on his 

expertise, is that it can happen.  It does not happen in all circumstances. 

It is a rule of thumb to illustrate the relationship between - - - 

 

  [12.05 pm] 35 

 

SJH:   Is it a matter within your area of expertise? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Not aggregate costs and transport. 

 40 

MR TURPIN:   I put to you that it cannot happen, and my evidence tells you 

why it cannot happen, and I won’t go on.  But it just cannot, you just 

think of the words. 
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 Having read my evidence, can you confirm that the Council were 

unaware of Mr English’s new assessment of a 200 million dollar extra 

cost when they considered the proposed changes prior to last May? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Mr English’s evidence has occurred after that. 5 

 

MR TURPIN:   So they were not aware? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Back in May, no. 

 10 

MR TURPIN:   No, thank you.   

 

MS RADBURND:   His evidence came later.   

 

SJH:   Let the witness answer themselves, Mr Turpin. 15 

 

MR TURPIN:   Sorry, sir.  I must watch too much tele too, I think. 

 

SJH:   I think you do.  Let’s not fall into that trap though either. 

 20 

MR TURPIN:   Do you agree that not knowing of the significant 300 million 

dollar difference to the information they were basing their thinking on, 

would be misleading to the Council and to the public? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, I do not agree with that statement at all. 25 

 

MR TURPIN:   And why not? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Because what you are referring to is a quote at a 

background document to my section 32 from a transcript of evidence 30 

from 2011, and you are suggesting that the elected member’s position 

relied heavily on that piece of information, and I would strongly say 

that that is not the case.  

 

MR TURPIN:   But they would be misled, they read 500 million dollars and 35 

they thought it would be 500 million dollars, did they not? 

 

MS RADBURND:   If they were misled by that, I mean it is a quote from a 

document of 2011. 

 40 

MR TURPIN:   Do they have any other figures of an extra cost? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well this process is about assessing those costs of the 

evidence.  The discussions that I had with elected members prior talked 

about the benefits of accessing locally sourced aggregates and some of 45 

those are in relation to costs, but there are other benefits that the elected 
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members are equally interested in, such as resilience to natural hazards 

like earthquakes.  

 

 They are very mindful that having access to a zoned close supply of 

aggregate resources was immensely helpful immediately after the 5 

earthquakes, and they are also aware of some of the history in terms of 

the Environment Court case in 2006, and the Resource Management 

Act and the requirement to make efficient use of resources, and so all 

of those factors weight in support of the discretionary activity status.   

 10 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, I did not ask you about that though; I asked you in 

relation specifically to the $500 million, they base their thinking based 

on that? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I have just said to you that there are multiple - - - 15 

 

MR TURPIN:   I will carry on further to my evidence.   

 

SJH:   Well put a different way, are you aware of any other figures being 

before the Council, than the one quoted by Mr Turpin? 20 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, not at that time. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Thank you.  My next question may sound a bit strange, and 

even stranger now because of the way you answered that Ms Radburnd, 25 

but I assure you it is not a trick. 

 

 Would you agree with me when I say that the Yaldhurst Rural 

Residents Association do not believe these two things have purposely 

or negligently been presented to Council and to the public, but they are 30 

more a reflection on the pressure put on by the compressed nature of 

these hearings and their process and its voluminous requirements? 

 

MS RADBURND:   What was the question in that? 

 35 

MR TURPIN:   Would you agree with me when I say the Yaldhurst Rural 

Residents Association do not believe these two things - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   Well, I do not know what you believe.   

 40 

MR TURPIN:   So I am telling you we don’t believe these were purposely or 

negligently put up in front of Council - - - 

 

SJH:   Well that is a statement, is there a question about it? 

 45 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, I said does she believe me when I say it? 
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SJH:   Well that is for us whether we believe you when you give evidence, 

Mr Turpin.  You can ask whether she agrees with it. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Okay then. 5 

 

SJH:   But whether what you say is believed, at the end of the day will be for 

the Panel to determine. 

 

MR TURPIN:   I am just trying to help her, Sir John.   10 

 

SJH:   All its doing is confusing and not helping. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 15 

MR TURPIN:   Okay, right then. 

 

 Turning to now your rebuttal at 8.3 and 8.4 and your references at 

10.11 to 10.16, are you aware of Mr English’s evidence at 5.3A where 

he indicates extraordinary earthquake recovery requirements should 20 

substantially all be met by 2017, and that yesterday in cross-

examination he indicated that as being 2018? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I would have to refer back to his evidence, I was here 

when he said that mathematically a return to business as usual demands 25 

would be 2018. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Thank you, that would be fine, thanks.  Are you aware of 

Mr English’s evidence where he indicates in his evidence 6.14, stating 

forecasting beyond 10 years is hard enough, and at his note 37 of his 30 

evidence for the Aggregates Group, that forecasting 50-100 years is 

purely speculative? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I am not sure that he says that it is purely speculative.  My 

understanding of his evidence was that the longer out that you project 35 

the more uncertainty there is. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Well, that is fine, he did.  When you mention in rebuttal at 8.5, 

retaining the status quo would largely be ineffectual, you do not really 

mean, do you, that unless you completely ignore the other side of the 40 

fence, that is of course there is two sides of the story, and I am talking 

here about the rural residents who comply, that it is ineffectual that 

they have lost the less than minor assessment test? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, I do not follow. 45 
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MR TURPIN:   Right.  I am sorry perhaps I did not say it properly.  At 8.5 you 

say retaining the status quo would largely be ineffectual.  You are not 

saying, are you, that if the status quo goes that it means nothing to local 

complying rural residents who have lost the more than minor 

assessment test that is available to them under the current plan? 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   I am not sure how the no more than minor test is available 

to - - - 

 

MR TURPIN:   When someone has to apply for a non-complying activity, does 10 

it not have to go through a test - - - 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is the gateway test, yes. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, so you are saying that that is largely ineffectual? 15 

 

MS RADBURND:   What I was saying when I said that would be largely 

ineffective is that resource consents would continue to be made for the 

reasons that Ms Limmer raised before, whereby if you retained the 

zone as it is, there would be some quarry operators who had a lot of 20 

supply left and there are others who had none, and they would be 

continuing to come forward with new resource consents out of zone, 

and those would be assessed in terms of their effects, as you rightly – 

under a non-complying activity status, as you point out, but also in 

terms of whether or not those activities are in accordance with the 25 

current objectives and policies of the plan. 

 

MR TURPIN:   So why would you make a change to the plan if it would be 

largely ineffectual anyway? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   No, what I am saying there is that it would be largely 

ineffective to retain the non-complying activity status; it would not stop 

consents coming forward.   

 

MR TURPIN:   Yes, but you made a change to the plan so it must mean 35 

something presumably and I am afraid it is the rural residents who 

suffer. 

 

 Now, I will move on.  Bearing in mind what I have just said, and if you 

agree now – you would agree that the higher level documents relevant 40 

to this hearing and relating to quarrying in rural zones, are met by the 

current plan if it is reasonably determined there are no short form 

supply and no increased batting costs during the period of the plan and 

probably beyond that for, say, at least four years, but very highly 

possible for all of the remaining 14 years to 2041? 45 
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MS RADBURND:   Sorry, I did not follow much of that, can you break it 

down a wee bit? 

 

MR TURPIN:   Okay, I just mentioned to you about, we said the earthquake 

has been fixed, I mentioned to you that forecasting 50-100 years is 5 

purely speculative, right, I have said to you that if it is largely 

ineffectual it cannot be anything then, I do not believe it is true, but it 

cannot have anything to do with the higher level plans, and then we 

have heard in evidence and cross-examination that it is possible there 

will be no short – in your own evidence, or certainly in Mr Wright’s –10 

we know that this shortfall is not going to occur until 2030, and 

possibly 2035, but in cross-examination yesterday it was sorted, 

although not agreed completely, that there may not be a shortfall at all 

in 2041.   

 15 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 So I am saying, perhaps if those were right, is there anything else that 

has not been met and why we cannot leave this review until 2026? 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   I am a bit lost on the higher order documents that - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, just treat it as, is there any reason why you cannot leave it for 

another 10 or 15 years to deal with this, which seems to be what 

Mr Turpin is asking. 25 

 

MR TURPIN:   That is exactly what I am trying to say. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Okay, and I have responded to that in my evidence.   

 30 

SJH:   Please just answer the question. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, okay, so there are a number of reasons, and I did 

consider that as an option, whether we just – the status quo – but the 

Environment Court has been quite critical of that approach on the basis 35 

that quarry operators need time to plan the continuity of their 

operations and sometimes it takes a long time to get new consents and 

potentially go through the Environment Court and so forth.   

 

 So the Environment Court has strongly indicated that we need to plan 40 

for a longer planning horizon than the 10 years that you are suggesting.   

 

 Then there is, you know, is there a reason to hold onto the non-

complying activity status, as quarrying is a legitimate rural activity, I 

cannot – as long as the effects can be appropriately manager, I see no 45 

reason to - - - 
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MR TURPIN:   That is a chicken and egg answer.  It is only a legitimate rural 

activity if the plan is changed, the proposal plan changes go through, it 

is not if it is not, is it? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Well, the Regional Policy Statement - - - 

 

MR TURPIN:   My final question to you please, do you believe the Council 

and the public should be correctly informed and have up to date data 

before proposals to alter a city plan are made? 10 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Thank you very much, and thank you very much to both of 

you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Just one question, Ms Radburnd.  Yesterday I asked of 

Mr Cunningham what are the imported materials that come onsite, and 20 

he indicated lime, can you add to that answer?  What are the imported 

materials that are coming onto site and being processed thereafter? 

 

MS RADBURND:   That is probably a question put best to industry, but my 

understanding is that there are those type of additives, like lime and 25 

cement and very, very small amounts can be mixed or added to virgin 

materials, if you like. 

 

 When I have asked about the sort of extent of that, industry has 

indicated that we are talking very, very small numbers.  I guess the 30 

discussion here is more about the imported materials in terms of, one, 

virgin gravels extracted from other sites and also the ability to process 

recovered aggregates such as concrete and asphalt, particularly 

concrete crushing as aggregate recycling.   

 35 

MR NEILL:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Ms Radburnd, and thank you for your evidence, I 40 

found it comprehensive and very helpful in articulating the issues.   

 

 The questions I have really are around me understanding quite how you 

imagine or intend the provisions to work.  So I have two or three that I 

will just put to you as quickly as I can. 45 
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 First of all, I think it was mentioned, perhaps it was in your opening 

statement in your highlights package, about the 50 percent threshold for 

imported materials.  Are you able to – well, perhaps I will put it another 

way – is that something that has been agreed between the parties or is 

that actually on the face of the plan, the 50 percent threshold? 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   In terms of that 50 percent, it relates to the definition of 

ancillary aggregates processing activity, which if I take you to, so this 

is the revised proposal, the last page of that, have you got page 117 – is 

it 116? 10 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

 So the definition of “ancillary aggregates processing activity” means 

the processing the storage, sale, transportation of natural sand, gravel, 15 

clay, silt and rock and/or recovered recycled or recovered aggregates 

brought in from other properties, provided that quarrying of in situ 

materials remains the dominant activity on the property, and ancillary 

aggregates processing activity is provided for as a component of 

quarrying activity. 20 

 

 So through mediation we explored what the dominant activity on the 

site meant and all parties agreed that this essentially that was a, the 

threshold was tipped once it exceeded 50 percent. 

 25 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, so it is an interpretation you have given to the words that 

are here now, but it is not specifically mentioned? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is not explicit. 

 30 

MR WILLIS:   And you wouldn’t be concerned that that could be mitigated or 

argued about some future point? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I think dominance quite clearly implies more than 50 

percent.  The original wording opposed was, that such activity must be 35 

demonstrably subservient in all aspects including production volumes, 

traffic and area, but that was considered to be less desirable than what 

was agreed at mediation, the dominant activity. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Why? 40 

 

MS RADBURND:   Probably that it was overly complicated.  In my opinion a 

bit more certain, it looks at – it sets out the types of things that, yes, we 

would be looking at, but I think that the dominant activity on the 

property probably is sufficient and implies all those things. 45 
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MR WILLIS:   That does apply in context of the permitted activity rule, does it 

not, so you have the difficulty anyway of trying to enforce a permitted 

activity rule and then potentially, as worded, some argument as to 

whether dominant maybe – it may be regarded as being, in terms of 

volume but it could be regarded in terms of other variables in the mix, 5 

would it not?  In terms of the proportion of site for example, that is sort 

of devoted to that particular activity or some other measure of that 

nature? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It could do, but it would be using the same plant for 10 

instance – well certainly, well the processing the same virgin materials 

would be using the same plant anyway. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, I will move on. 

 15 

 The one metre buffer for groundwater issue, which I know you got a 

particular view which you have made clear.  What became apparent to 

me in reading the suite of evidence on this was – and I made this point 

to a witness this yesterday – that it seems the key risk is not just the 

excavation but indeed the deposition of the fill that goes into it and the 20 

quality of that will determine the real magnitude of the risk. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And I know your view is that, this is a matter that rests with the 25 

Regional Council, but in coming to the view, can you help me 

understand what rule, either regional or District City Plan, would 

adequately address that particular risk in terms of the deposition? 

 

MS RADBURND:   The Land and Water Regional Plan rule, I think it is 30 

5.1.7.7, relates to the deposition of material and in addition to that the 

Council has a clean fill bylaw. 

 

MR WILLIS:   It has sorry what? 

 35 

MS RADBURND:   A clean fill bylaw, which specifies the types of materials 

that can go into - - -  

 

MR WILLIS:   The City Council does? 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   The City Council does. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I see, okay – yes, because I was looking at that rule that you 

just referred me to, and I did note that it only applies to, when you are 

depositing on depths greater than five metres - - -  45 
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MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   - - - and it did occur to me that there may be, I think evidence 

again, there may be quarries that are less than five metres?  

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Correct. 

 

MR WILLIS:   But you are saying to me I think that, notwithstanding that there 

is a bylaw that would address this risk? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   Correct. 

 

MR WILLIS:   But that is not produced in evidence, is it, as far as I am aware? 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Now the site remediation rules, which obviously are 

critical to much of the discussion we have had.  Can you just help me 

understand, I guess the key point I am trying to get my head around is, 

how they will apply, they are specified as “permitted activity 20 

conditions” of that nature, they apply in the rural quarry zone, the rural 

quarry zone as I understand it is existing quarries largely or some 

potential for expansion, as I understand it, is that - - -  

 

  [12.25 pm] 25 

 

MS RADBURND:   There are – there is a landholder that has not started. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, one - - -  

 30 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   - - - which will be. 

 

 So presumably these quarries have some form of existing use rights in 35 

the existing quarries, so what – how will this take effect, given they 

wouldn’t be able to operate under existing use rights, or is there some 

trigger at which existing use rights cease and they will be required to 

pick up these new rules? 

 40 

MS RADBURND:   It is difficult.  The way I see it having affect is, well it is 

sort of multipronged if you like, to a certain extent it has taken on 

“good faith” in terms of that rule applying, but I have sought to 

maintain the one in three batter rule in any event, and so that provides a 

level of certainty. 45 
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 But I accept that there is potential for it not to be taken up, like you are 

suggesting. 

 

MR WILLIS:   So what you are saying, the ability for the Council to be able to 

enforce this new obligations that we have been spending quite a lot of 5 

time arguing about - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   - - - will be dependent on the goodwill of the existing quarry 10 

owners and not arguing that they got existing use rights? 

 

MS RADBURND:   And also changes of use and intensity, I am aware that 

most of the quarries for instance are operating well in excess of 

permitted truck movements and they are allowed to do that up until 15 

2018, but then at that time the resource consent will needed for 

anything over 250, so there is the potential for that change of use to 

happen through that process. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And what about – and expecting you got a quarry working 20 

within a certain footprint, if that quarry was to expand beyond that 

footprint would that be, in your mind, trigger or trigger a failure to 

meet section 10 of the Act or - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   In terms of going out of their – are you meaning extracting 25 

into a part of a site that they do not currently know or would have 

thought that existing use rights enables them to extract over their site. 

  

MR WILLIS:   Okay, over the entire cadastral boundary? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I would say so. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Just before we leave that point, you may have been here, 

I think you said you were here yesterday, and I asked Mr Potts about 

the particular matters that he was concerned about in terms of the 35 

remediation matters? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And he made the point that his were quite specific relative to 40 

the quite general matters that are specified currently in that remediation 

rule expanded, but it sounded to him, as an expert, to the quite 

important matters, in terms of managing the risk.  Are you confident 

that the current expression of the remediation rule allows those matters 

of detail to be introduced and applied? 45 

 



 Page 227 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

 Just to remind you Mr Potts was talking about providing detail about 

the storage of soil, how long it stored, about the porosity in which or 

the compaction in which fill is – the degree to which is compacted and 

degree to which we have some porosity? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Well the rule – the standard it says “a quarry site 

rehabilitation plan shall be certified as containing methods and 

processes capable of achieving full quarry site rehabilitation” and the 

definition of quarry site rehabilitation means “returning the land to a 

stable and free draining land form capable of supporting light pastoral 10 

farming or an alternative permitted or consented activity”. 

 

 So I guess those issues that he is concerned about in terms of making 

sure that vegetation can survive subsequent to quarrying, will be a 

viable land use, then I think that that can be covered by that. 15 

 

 And I suppose we will refer back to the rehabilitation policy as well, 

policy 12, which says, “To ensure the final rehabilitated land form is 

appropriate, having regard to the intended land use, the availability of 

clean fill, including top soil, the ability to establish complete vegetative 20 

cover, et cetera. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MR WILLIS:   Which would apply when there is a consent? 25 

 

MS RADBURND:   Correct. 

 

MR WILLIS:   But this again is a permitted activity standard? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Which I guess raises the next question which is, it is a 

permitted activity standard; how would you see that being applied in 

the context of a discretionary consent.  I am assuming that although it is 35 

not obligatory to apply it to a discretionary consent, it would act as a 

guide to your consent officers in terms of the sorts of standards they 

might apply? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, what will be used as a guide? 40 

 

MR WILLIS:   Sorry.  The permitted activity standards at the moment, 

including the rehabilitation standard. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes.  So you are suggesting that that would be used as a 45 

guide for the assessment? 
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MR WILLIS:   Well I am asking you the question, how would it be used in the 

context of a resource consent, because it is current specified as a 

condition on a permitted activity? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Well I would have anticipated that the consents planner 

would rely more heavily on policy 12, and there is an acknowledged 

difference between in zone quarries and out of zone quarries in terms of 

what can be done.  So going forward it is accepted that a higher 

standard of rehabilitation would be required and that is set out in that 10 

policy 12. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  And just finally, and sorry to take your time, you have 

been on the stand a fair while and I appreciate that – just a question 

about the Templeton Golf Course. 15 

 

 The thought occurred to me as I was reading this issue and wondering 

what the solution might be, what the appropriate response might be, it 

has been put to you obviously by Fulton Hogan that a particular 

planning solution, ie deferred zoning, is the appropriate way to deal 20 

with this issue.  Have you considered other potential planning solutions 

to address this particular issue? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Well there is the option for a plan change later - - -  

 25 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 

MS RADBURND:   - - - when some of these issues are resolved, and also a 

resource consent option which would be my preference.   

 30 

MR WILLIS:   Under the current zoning the resource consent required would 

be –which one? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It would be non-complying. 

 35 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay.  All right.  Okay, look thank you, we will leave it 

there.  Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Radburnd.  Like Mr Willis, many of my 

questions are just similarly, so that I can be sure I understand the 

provisions as they are put to us, but before I talk about some of those 

smaller things, just following on from Mr Willis’ questions about the 

rehabilitation plan. 45 
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 Have you turned your mind, and are you able to help us with your 

thoughts about whether there is any need to make the rule, relating to 

the rehabilitation plan, any more certain in terms of timeframes and 

whether there should be specific timeframes built into the rehabilitation 

plan, as was put to us by Ms Dray yesterday? 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is difficult, because it really needs to be assessed on a 

case by case basis, and getting that certainty is a challenge.  I have 

given that a little bit of thought since your questioning yesterday and 

the only thing that I could really offer is perhaps some more wording 10 

around that rehabilitation should be substantially complete – whether 

that is 80 percent or whatever – by the time the quarrying or extraction 

is completed, and then full rehabilitation within one to three years after 

that.   

 15 

 But yes, it is difficult because you don’t know what the site specific 

constraints or opportunities or operational needs of the individual 

quarries are.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And as Mr Willis said, is that complicated by the fact that 20 

this is a standard on a permitted activity?  It is not something that 

discretion can be applied to through a consenting process? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes.  I mean out of the zone, under the discretionary 

activity framework, it is quite straightforward.  Particularly because a 25 

consent can be time limited and you can have other mechanisms to 

ensure rehabilitation will occur, and certainly that is the case with a lot 

of the new quarries, they do have quite certain conditions or other tools, 

covenants, we can apply bonds and those sorts of things to make sure 

that it happens.  It is a challenge, no doubt.   30 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Just talking about the Quarry Zone and I am not 

sure, are there any rules in the Quarry Zone that are different for a new 35 

quarry – and I understand that there is at least one site where a quarry 

hasn’t yet established – compared with the ongoing rules that would 

apply to existing quarries, or are they exactly the same? 

 

MS RADBURND:   They are exactly the same, but there is obviously more 40 

certainty around that quarry rehabilitation rule, that that quarry operator 

would be bound by that rule.  And obviously Fulton Hogan have now 

proposed a staged restoration rule like there is in the operative plan, 

and so it would be, if that is accepted, then that land would be subject 

to that as well, because that is for all new quarries.   45 
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MS DAWSON:   Within the Quarry Zone.   

 

MS RADBURND:   Within the Quarry Zone.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So there would be no existing use rights? 5 

 

MS RADBURND:   No, that is right.  Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Also, can you point me to how, and you might have heard me 

talking about it yesterday in relation to noise, how offsite transport 10 

amenity effects are addressed in the provisions, whether it is through – 

in the Quarry Zone and the Rural Zones.   

 

MS RADBURND:   I don’t believe that there is a provision to address that 

effect.   15 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the Quarry Zone? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, offsite effects? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  So whether there is any provision that would capture 

through a standard or rule of some sort, an escalating level of offsite, 

transport-related amenity effects. 

 

MS RADBURND:   No. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is a rule that existing accesses need to be continued to 

be used.  Is that correct? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, there is. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the Quarry Zone.   

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes.  So that rule is in place – the site access rule – to 

require any new accesses to require consent.  It is on the basis that 35 

these quarries are established primarily under existing use rights before 

the rules were in place and so some of the accesses weren’t subject to 

the design controls, for example.  So we wanted to make sure that any 

new accesses did have that level of analysis. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And what does the plan require to be looked at in terms of 

moving a new access? 

 

MS RADBURND:   So it is only – it relates back to the assessment matters in 

chapter 7, and so that is mostly about access design safety, not amenity 45 

considerations.   
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MS DAWSON:   So if an access was to be moved onto a road where there 

were more houses, for example, and more amenity related effects from 

transport, that wouldn’t be able to be considered under that rule? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   Not under the current rule.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you.  One of the other things that I asked 

about yesterday, it was to the witness from Horticulture New Zealand 

about their suggestions relating to P2, which I think is the farm 10 

buildings and sensitive activities near powerlines.  Were you here when 

that evidence was given? 

 

MS RADBURND:   I was here.  I wasn’t paying close attention, sorry.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Well maybe it is not your area anyway.  Maybe 

that is Mr - - -  

 

MS RADBURND:   Because her concern was mostly outside the Quarry Zone? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is right.   

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, sorry, I am getting muddled with who I should be asking 25 

what.  And one other small question, the Teddington Quarry which you 

have recommended be a controlled activity, this is a very precise 

question – are you intending that that quarry should be subject to  the 

built form standards for the zone that it is in? 

 30 

MS RADBURND:   No.  Because the built form standards are not directly – 

well 1) they are not always applicable to hard rock quarrying. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 35 

MS RADBURND:   And secondly it is such a constrained site that it probably 

couldn’t comply anyway.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  That is fine.  Thank you very much.  Now I asked 

Ms Hogan and I think she said that I should ask you about this, which 40 

is the policy relating to non-rural activities, because this is how I 

understand that a standalone, or a dominant processing plant would be 

considered.  Do you think that the way that this policy is expressed, 

using the word “non-rural activities” is clear enough as to the activities 

that would be captured as being non-rural? 45 
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  [12.40 pm] 

 

 In other words it has been put to you that it is unusual for a processing 

plant for example to go into an urban industrial zone.  So the flipside of 

that is that someone could argue that aggregate processing really is a 5 

rural activity and therefore would not be non-rural and therefore would 

not get caught by that policy. 

 

 Have you thought about that sort of argument and whether the policy is 

clear enough or the wording is clear enough? 10 

 

MS RADBURND:  Well there are difficulties with the current wording 

referring to non-rural activities which is not defined anyway.  The 

intent of that policy really was on the basis that aggregate processing 

activities are not necessarily rural activities, and particularly aggregates 15 

recycling I would say is not, because it is undertaken entirely in urban 

areas at the moment in industrial zones.   

 

 So we were proceeding on the basis that that is not certain, so if an 

activity ceased to be a quarrying activity, which we know is a rural 20 

activity, then there needs to be some sort of policy framework for 

considering whether that activity is appropriate to be located in a rural 

environment.   

 

 So in conjunction with policy 1, which talks about whether the activity 25 

has a direct relationship with or is dependent on a rural resource, has a 

functional and technical need for a rural location, et cetera, so that, in 

conjunction with this new policy – and the intent of this policy was to 

try and overcome an issue raised by a few submissions about the 

significant investment that had been made in existing infrastructure 30 

with quarries, and there was this tension between whether or not that 

was anticipated as part of quarrying.  Because quarrying, as I see it, is 

an interim use and closure of those quarries, decommissioning of plant 

is implicit in that. 

 35 

 So I was trying to provide a framework for considering proposals to 

continue on where there had been significant investment in plant but 

not to allow wide spread – I am not sure whether the policy does 

achieve that. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Well I think I can understand what the policy is trying to 

achieve but my concern is that the policy, to get into that policy it has 

to be clear what is a non-rural activity.  So if something is a rural 

activity or could be argued to be a rural activity, this policy would not 

apply. 45 
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MS RADBURND:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if you haven’t turned your mind to how that potential 

problem could be overcome? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   No, I think we probably need to give that a bit more 

thought.  That policy was set up also to address sort of wider - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I understand that. 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   Ms Hogan and I discussed it briefly this morning and there 

is the potential to maybe more directly apply it to industrial or 

commercial activities, because that is primarily what we are trying to 

avoid. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   And they are defined. 

 

MS RADBURND:   They are defined. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 20 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Well thank you, thank you for that.  And I just 

have one more question and it relates to – for the Fulton Hogan 25 

situation. 

 

 You have argued in your evidence and I think it has been agreed at 

mediation, that instead of having the Quarry zone applied to the newly 

or recently consented quarries and areas that might be looking to 30 

consent new quarries, that there would be provision in the Rural zone 

for those as a discretionary activity. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 35 

 Is that another option for the Fulton Hogan – if Fulton Hogan wishes to 

quarry a site which is currently zoned Open Space; if that zone 

happened to be zoned Rural, and then make a resource consent as a 

discretionary activity, would that be consistent with the mediated 

position on new quarries in Rural areas? 40 

 

MS RADBURND:   I think so. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, is that an option you have looked at? 

 45 

MS RADBURND:   In terms of rezoning the land? 
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MS DAWSON:   Well not necessarily doing it now but at some time in the 

future. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Certainly if the reserves classification was lifted, that 5 

would be the likely scenario, that we would rezone it Rural Urban 

Fringe. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is that the zone round about it? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   It is, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS RADBURND:   And then it would fall to be a discretionary activity. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   And is that something that would happen if any other reserve 

was uplifted would the Council changed the zoning at some appropriate 

time? 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   That is correct, and certainly in this case because it was 

given the Open Space Community Park zoning because of the reserve 

status so either at the next plan review or some time in between, the 

Council, if the reserves status was not on that land then that is what 

Council would do. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, as a matter of course. 

 

MS RADBURND:   As a matter of course. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and then it would be Rural zone and the status of 

quarrying would be the same as any other quarrying zone – Rural zone 

I mean, and the appropriate applications could be made. 

 

MS RADBURND:   Correct. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  That is all my questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Radburnd, are you aware of the level of policing of the clean fill 

bylaw? 40 

 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, there is active monthly monitoring. 

 

SJH:   Is it referred to in the rehabilitation plans as a standard of clean fill that 

is required, as defined by that bylaw? 45 
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MS RADBURND:   It is not currently, no. 

 

SJH:   Do you think it would strengthen it, if it did? 

 

MS RADBURND:   Potentially yes, and clean fill by definition means clean 5 

fill, it has to be clean and that is defined. 

 

SJH:  But the concern that has been expressed from past experience of possible 

pollution came from the fill rather than the excavation? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   So should we not make it as strong as we possibly can if that is the 

concern? 

 15 

MS RADBURND:   Yes, I would agree with that. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Mr Cross, Mr Turpin, anything arising from the 

Panel’s questions? 

 20 

MR CROSS:   No, sir. 

 

MR TURPIN:   Not for me, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer?  Is there anything for re-examination? 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Radburnd, you may stand down. 

 30 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.48 pm] 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your Honour, members of the Panel.  Do you have 35 

available to you a set of the Crown’s opening submissions? 

 

SJH:   Yes, we do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.   40 

 

SJH:   If you could just briefly speak to those please. 

 

MR RADICH:   I am sorry, sir? 

 45 

SJH:   Speak to them. 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, indeed, sir.  If the Panel pleases, on the first page of these 

submissions, or page 2, there is a set of points which summarise the 

Crown’s primary objectives.   

 5 

 If I can just put it this way, what the Crown was seeking to do when it 

made its submission on the notified proposal was to firstly clarify 

matters that it saw as being unclear, sought to reduce prescription.  And 

then there was the two-pronged approach of in the first place really 

wanting to emphasise more the benefits of having an affordable supply 10 

of aggregate and gravel material which I mention in 1.1C and then on 

the other side, emphasising the natural values in the area. 

 

 And as I say in 1.2, as has been the case with the recent proposals, there 

has been a great deal of coming together in terms of the positions of the 15 

parties and the Crown is obliged to the Council for that, such that there 

are only really one or two extremely minor matters left. 

 

 So what these submissions do if I can turn to page three is look at the 

Higher Order documents, they identify those few remaining points and 20 

they emphasise some of the evidence for the Crown.   

 

 So dealing with the Higher Order documents very much by way of 

summary, in 2.1 there are three aspects that the Crown summarises or 

gleans from the documents: (a) enabling rural activities, including 25 

quarrying; (b) managing non-rural activities, and (c) supporting and 

preserving natural values. 

 

 And so what the pages that now follow do, in addition to noting in 2.2 

of course the need to reduce consenting and be clear and precise, is to 30 

look at those three points.  So enabling rural activities on pages 3 and 4 

of the submissions.  I point out in 2.4 the need for a productive rural 

sector from the recovery strategy. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 35 

 

 Over the page, on page 4, refer to the RPS and the need to enable rural 

activities.  Objective 5.2.1 is a useful objective to have reference to, but 

I just note the last sentence of the quote there where it said it is 

important to manage resources and activities in rural areas so that the 40 

foreseeable potential of the rural primary base of Canterbury is 

maintained.   

 

 I mention, 5.3.12, which needs to avoid development, which forecloses 

the ability to make appropriate use of land and (b) results in reverse 45 

sensitivity effects.   In 2.8 mention is made of 5.3.12 looking at the 
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inherent characteristics which contribute to the rural productive 

capacity of Canterbury. 

 

 Over the page now, on page 5, there is reference to managing non-rural 

activities and the higher order documents there, it is mentioned in 2.10 5 

and the strategic directions objectives relevant to rural residential 

development direct that the proposal must manage residential 

development outside existing urban areas.   

 

 In 2.11, reference is made to the RPS and to policy 5.3.12, and I just 10 

mention that which is sited a little bit further down the page at (d) from 

that policy, the reference to the development being of a scale that 

would not compromise the primary focus for accommodating growth in 

consolidated, well designed and more sustainable development 

patterns, and the reasons for that are then given in 2.12. 15 

 

 The other side of the equation is then mentioned in page 6, in terms of 

supporting and preserving natural values, and this is an important part 

of the Crown’s submission, and I mention the evidence on this in a 

moment, but there are several key policy directives I have set out in the 20 

subparagraphs (a) through to (d), if I look at (a), the last three lines, the 

need to ensure under this policy that rural land use intensification does 

not contribute to significant cumulative adverse effects on water quality 

and quantity; and (b) the objective is referring to the natural character 

of wetlands, lakes, rivers and their margins, the need to preserve those 25 

things. 

 

 8.2.2, the framework for appropriate occupation, subdivision, use and 

development of the coastal environment, and 9.2.3, identifying the 

areas where there is significant indigenous vegetation, habitats of 30 

indigenous fauna.  The coastal policy statement is referred to and 

looking over the page of the submissions at page 7, subparagraph (b), 

the need to recognise characteristics, to identify those areas where 

subdivision, et cetera, would be inappropriate, and then to encourage 

restoration of the coastal environment. 35 

 

 So with that broad background in mind, I mention briefly the remaining 

issues for the Crown, and the word issues really is not the right word I 

think any longer, on page 7.  Mention is made in 3.1 to Ms Barker’s 

evidence, you will come to this in just a moment, so the first point is 40 

looking at the policy or objective 1, subparagraph (iv), there is no 

longer a point taken with that.  There was some question as to whether 

it was needed and Ms Barker will explain that the Crown remains 

neutral and is in fact quite comfortable with the provision. 

 45 
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 The other point relates to 17.6.4.6, which is on page 80 of the latest 

version of the proposal, the 6 November version, and this is the 

requirement that there will be excavation no greater than one metre 

from the seasonal high water table or the amended wording now.  The 

Crown had supported a position initially where that rule did not exist at 5 

all, it is now gone from the other zones, it remains in the quarrying 

zone, the Crown is comfortable on balance with that, but Ms Barker 

will raise the issue as to whether or not it might in fact be better 

incorporated in the quarry site rehabilitation rule at page 88, but again 

the Crown remains neutral broadly on that. 10 

 

 So the only points that the Crown takes with the elected Council 

evidence given by John Cook in relation to, as we say in 3.2, first of all 

the blanket approach to notification, which is not regarded as being 

appropriate in terms of looking at matters on a case by case basis, and 15 

the inclusion of rules to protect groundwater more fully, that is to say 

the reinstatement of them in the other zones. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 20 

 3.3, mention is made of the only other point the Crown really takes, and 

that is with the Canterbury Aggregate Producers Group evidence of 

Mr Ensor where he supports the retention of the high quality gravel 

resource overlay which is now gone, and the Crown does not see that 

overlay as being needed. 25 

 

 I will not deal with this in much detail now in terms of the balance of 

the submissions because you will hear, of course, from Ms Barker in a 

moment. 

 30 

 In 4.3, 4.4, 4.5, I mention the evidence of Ainsley McLeod for the 

New Zealand Transport Agency and the Fire Service Commission, and 

the point is that the concerns of the Agency and the Commission, as 

explained in those paragraphs, are now satisfied. 

 35 

 Evidence on natural values, which begins on page 10, I sought to 

emphasise a little bit in opening because of the fact that it was possible 

that witnesses would be excused.  Of course Ms Cameron will be 

available to give evidence so I need not deal with this in any way other 

than to identify the point in 4.7, that the Crown has sought to lead 40 

substantive evidence on the region’s terrestrial ecology, its aquatic 

ecology, and the coastal environment.  It does so for the benefit of this 

proposal and later proposals, that evidence will have effect on an 

ongoing basis, and Ms Cameron has and will explain, as I mention in 

4.10, the following changes that have been made to address the points 45 

the Crown had raised as matters of concern, and you will see in the 
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subparagraphs that follow at the bottom of page 10 and over on page 11 

the changes that have been made that are very positive and the Crown 

appreciates, and that is to say looking at the definitions of farming, 

plantation forestry, cross-referencing the natural and cultural heritage 

provisions, including matters of discretion relating to ecosystems and 5 

indigenous biodiversity in the manners that have been suggested there 

and planning map adjustments. 

 

 The balance of the submissions identify, because they will not be 

giving their own summaries through being here, the evidence of 10 

Nicholas Head, and that is at 4.12, the evidence of Sharne Bowie, and 

that is at 4.14, and the evidence of Peter Rough, and that is at 4.16, 

which provides, if I may say, a succinct expression of the nature of the 

evidence given by those witnesses to support these changes to the 

natural value rules and policies. 15 

 

 If your Honour and the members of the Panel please, they are the 

opening submissions for the Crown. 

 

SJH:  Thank you, if you call your first witness. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much.  I call Ms Vicki Barker. 
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<VICKI ANNE BARKER, sworn [12.58 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.58 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Vicki Anne Barker? 

 

MS BARKER:   That is correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   You hold the position of Managing Director of Barker 

Planning in Christchurch? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Ms Barker, you have given a statement of evidence in this 

proposal dated 29 October 2015? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   Is it true and correct? 

 

MS BARKER:   It is. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Please would you now provide a summary of your evidence 

for the Panel. 

 

MS BARKER:   Thank you.  My statement of evidence addresses planning 

matters relevant to the Crown, and namely those of relevance to the 25 

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority.   

 

 The evidence of Ainsley McLeod addresses the New Zealand Transport 

Agency and Fire Commission planning matters, and Department of 

Conservation planning matters are addressed by Ms Anna Cameron.   30 

 

 The Council has made a number of changes to the notified proposal and 

there are now only three very minor matters which have not been 

resolved as a result of the Council’s rebuttal evidence.  I will address 

these matters in turn. 35 

 

 The first matter is objective 1, Ms Hogan is seeking to retain the 

leading word “supports” in clause A, sub-clause 1, whereas the tracked 

changes attached to appendix BAB2 of my evidence sought that this 

word be deleted.  I agree with Ms Hogan’s rebuttal evidence that the 40 

word “supports” should be retained in this sub-clause.  I agree that the 

use and development on rural land also has a supporting role in terms 

of the function, character and amenity of the rural environment, and I 

note that objective 5.2.1.2(e) of the Canterbury RPS also uses the word 

“support” in a similar context.   45 
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  [1.00 pm] 

 

 The second very minor matter which is unresolved also relates to 

objective 1.  Ms Hogan seeks to retain sub-clause 4 of objective 1, 

whereas I sought deletion of this sub-clause.  The provision is 5 

subdivision, use and development on rural land maintains a contrast to 

the urban environment.   

 

 Maintaining a contrast to the urban environment was originally part of 

Strategic Directions objective 3.3.16, and it was agreed at mediation 10 

that it be removed.  Subsequent to mediation the sub-clause has been 

included in objective 1 by the Council.  I do not see a particular need 

for this clause as I consider the contrast between the rural and urban 

environment is evident and is intrinsically supported by the rural and 

urban objective policy and rule framework, and the RPS.   15 

 

 However, I do see Ms Hogan’s point of view that the sub-clause 

provides a link to policy 2, and that policy 2 establishes the conditions 

to achieve a contrast between the rural and urban environment.  

 20 

 I also agree with the Council opening legal submissions at paragraph 

5.1 that a fundamental aspect of the RPS is urban and non-urban divide.  

Therefore, retention of clause 4 does provide absolute clarity consistent 

with the RPS and on balance, I do not have any concerns as to whether 

this sub-clause is deleted or retained. 25 

 

 The third and final outstanding matter is with respect to the maximum 

depth of excavation rule applicable in the quarry zone which is rule 

17.6.4.6.   

 30 

 I agree with Ms Radburnd that such a rule should be retained in the 

Rural Quarry Zone to enable management of end land use, but not 

groundwater quality.  However, rather than retaining it as a separate 

rule, consideration of the depth of excavation could possibly be 

amalgamated with the land rehabilitation rule.  This would streamline 35 

the provisions and would, in my view, enable comprehensive 

assessment of end land use matters.   

 

 Ms Radburnd prefers the retention of rule 17.6.4.6 as a standalone rule 

as it is clear that it applies to all quarries including existing quarries.  40 

However, the rehabilitation rule is also intended to apply to all quarries, 

including existing quarries.   

 

 There is benefit in attempting to amalgamate and streamline provisions 

which are seeking to manage the same effects, yet I can also see that a 45 

standalone rule avoids it being buried in the rehabilitation rule.  On 
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balance, as the intent of what the provision is seeking to achieve is not 

in question, I do not have any significant concern about where it best 

sits in the proposal. 

 

 Separate matters with which I do not agree are the mandatory 5 

notification of resource consent applications for quarrying activity and 

the need for a maximum depth of excavation rule to manage 

groundwater quality as was contained in the evidence and rebuttal 

evidence of Mr Cook for the Council elected members.   

 10 

 With respect to the mandatory notification clauses, I continue to 

consider such a blanket approach to notification is inappropriate and 

that notification decisions are best left to the Council’s discretion on a 

case by case basis.   

 15 

 Furthermore, the issue of groundwater quality is regulated by the Land 

and Water Regional Plan, and therefore, in my opinion, there is no need 

for such a rule to be duplicated in the District Plan to manage 

groundwater quality.   

 20 

 In my opinion the significant number of detailed changes the Council 

has made to the revised version of the rural proposal reduces 

prescription and improves usability and clarity compared to the notified 

version.  I also consider that the revised version is consistent with and 

implements the relevant higher order documents and achieves the 25 

purpose of the RMA.   

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Ash? 30 

 

MS ASH:   Sir, my two minutes is reduced because the witness has conceded 

my question in relation to the word “supports” in the higher order 

documents, and that I appreciated.  Thank you. 

 35 

MS BARKER:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   So you have no other? 

 

MS ASH:   No. 40 

 

SJH:   Right.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions. 

 45 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 
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MR WILLIS:   Yes.  Good afternoon.  Just a couple of quick ones if you 

wouldn’t mind. 

 

 What you just said in your highlights package there, that it was clear 5 

that rule 17.6, if I remember rightly, applies to existing and future 

quarries, in the answer that Ms Radburnd gave me a few moments ago 

she said it was a matter of good faith as to whether it applies to existing 

quarries.   

 10 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Firstly, is that your understanding, and if it is - - -  

 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   - - - do you think that that is an appropriate basis for managing 

existing quarries? 

 

  [1.05 pm] 20 

 

MS BARKER:   No.  I did set out in my evidence-in-chief that the applicability 

of that rule to existing quarries is in question, and I agree with Ms 

Radburnd – I heard the questioning to her that it is a challenge as to 

how you apply such a rule to existing quarries.  The Crown submitted 25 

for the sunset clause that was originally part of that rule to be deleted 

and now support the rehabilitation plan approach and do understand 

that there is going to be a certain degree of good faith needed for the 

quarry operators to comply with that rule, or unless there is a change of 

use and it is triggered that way. 30 

 

MR WILLIS:   And is there any feasible alternative to the situation we seem to 

be in? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes.  We have been thinking quite a lot on this and been 35 

discussing with Ms Radburnd and other parties throughout this process, 

and we are all a little stumped as to how we deal with this issue with 

respect to  existing quarries.  It is a challenge.   

 

MR WILLIS:   So am I, that is why I asked you.  Okay.  Right, to the questions 40 

I was initially going to ask you – just a couple really, and I guess the 

first one is, it follows on from some of the questioning that 

Commissioner Dawson has been putting to witnesses which to my 

mind relates to the nexus between this new strategic objective policy 1 

and policy – the one about non - - -  45 
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SJH:   Policy X. 

 

MR WILLIS:   It is policy X?  Non-rural activities, policy X – there are two 

policy Xs of course, you will know the one I am referring to? 

 5 

MS BARKER:   Yes.   

 

MR WILLIS:   And it does seem to me that we have a number of potential 

issues in terms of the way those three policies do or do not line up.  So 

it seems to me that there is a range of activities that are appropriate in 10 

rural areas, which is what policy 1 is about - - -  

 

MS BARKER:   Yes.   

 

MR WILLIS:   And that is supposedly, I assume, policy X defines what a rural 15 

activity might be, of which a rural productive activity is a subset – is 

that correct?   

 

MS BARKER:   Correct. 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   Is that how you see it? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And then we have in policy 3 – sorry, not policy 3, policy X, a 25 

policy which provides the basis to determine whether non-rural 

activities should, or shouldn’t be allowed? 

 

MS BARKER:   Mm’hm. 

 30 

MR WILLIS:   So there are two sets of activities in policy 1, there is the rural 

productive which was defined and then we have some other undefined 

category or rural but not productive, which are acceptable under that 

policy? 

 35 

MS BARKER:   Mm’hm. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Can you explain to me what those – I am assuming there that 

that is the other sorts of activities that are permitted in that zone? 

 40 

MS BARKER:   Yes.  There could be the likes of contractors’ yards, that type 

of thing.  Any type of - - -  

 

MR WILLIS:   Infrastructure? 

 45 

MS BARKER:   Yes, infrastructure. 
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MR WILLIS:   Tourism, that sort of thing? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  The other point I wanted to raise with you was this 

reference to operational need, which, given that it is supposed to be 

distinct qualities, does it create any problem in your mind that we have 

the test of operational necessity applying in both policy 1 and policy X? 

 10 

MS BARKER:   Yes.  I do accept there is a bit of an overlap there and I do 

agree with Ms Dawson that the non-rural activities is not entirely clear, 

that there is potential – what that policy is actually talking about and 

focusing on is industrial and commercial activities, so possibly there 

could be a way of making that clearer.  So yes, I do accept that there is 15 

a bit of an overlap.   

 

MR WILLIS:   So you think there might still be some work to be done to refine 

this policy? 

 20 

MS BARKER:   Hearing the questioning and the responses I think, yes, there 

could be some further improvements to streamline those two policies in 

particular. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  Now just return, and we have not had a lot of discussion 25 

about this yet, but obviously because it is a strategic objective it is quite 

critical that we get this right, and it should not say anything different to 

what the following policies say, I think, otherwise it might create some 

difficulties, would you agree with that? 

 30 

MS BARKER:   That is correct, yes.   

 

MR WILLIS:   So this policy now talks about enabling a range of opportunities 

to basically efficient use – or utilise if you must use a longer word – the 

rural resource.  Again, I think the crux to that is to be understanding of 35 

what efficiently use or utilise might actually mean in this context.  It is 

not defined of course, but do you have a view about that? 

 

  [1.10 pm] 

 40 

MS BARKER:   I do not have a particular view, sorry, no. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I guess my point is, is an activity that will efficiently utilise a 

rural resource only a rural productive activity or is it an activity which 

might enable rural productive activities to perform efficiently, if you 45 

understand the distinction. 
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MS BARKER:   Yes.   

 

MR WILLIS:   I mean you cannot farm without electricity, so therefore 

presumably electricity supply is appropriate under this policy. 5 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes.   

 

MR WILLIS:   I just wonder in terms of the wording whether we have quite 

captured that point. 10 

 

MS BARKER:   I take your point there, that as it reads you are enabling a 

range of opportunities in the rural environment and then you go on to 

say primarily rural productive activities which efficiently utilise a rural 

resource, so it is potentially cutting out that range of activities. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   It is cutting out the range of activities potentially that we just 

agreed in policy 1 were appropriate. 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes, I take your point there. 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  That is all then, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Barker.  Just one quick question following on 

from Mr Willis’ first question where you agreed that there could be 

difficulties with implementing the rehabilitation plan because of 

existing use rights, and whether you – in light of that do you think that 

that is the most appropriate place to, I think you used the word bury, 30 

the groundwater, the one metre above groundwater rule, such that its 

implementation becomes caught up with the difficulties of 

implementing a rehabilitation plan standard on existing uses, as 

opposed to having a standalone rule? Which do you think is more 

appropriate given the relative importance? 35 

 

MS BARKER:   In my summary I said I am fairly neutral on where it best sits.  

I can see pros and cons of both sides.  In terms of streamlining, I think 

it is possibly better to have it all in the rehabilitation rule then you are 

comprehensively assessing all of the factors that go into that 40 

rehabilitation, excavation depth being one of those factors.  If it was 

standalone, I can also see the benefits in that it is clear that that is 

applicable to all quarries and it is just out there and you cannot miss it 

and, as you say, it does not get possibly buried or missed in the 

rehabilitation rules.  So I can see both sides, but I think maybe my 45 
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preference is for it to be all in the rehabilitation rule, so it is just one in 

the plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much.  That is all. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.13 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Just one if I may.  Ms Barker the conversation briefly about 10 

the interaction between policy 1 and policy X, is the issue relating 

primarily to the words “non-rural activities” in the heading of policy 

X? 

 

MS BARKER:   I think it is.  I think if you did away with that wording that 15 

would resolve the issues. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you have any thoughts, and I know it is on the hoof, as to 

what a different set of words might be to deal with that issue? 

 20 

MS BARKER:   The first thing that comes to mind is just establishment of 

commercial and industrial activities, but I would have to think about 

that a bit more. 

 

MR RADICH:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, your Honour. 25 

 

SJH:   So you would be happy to do that and lodge something through the 

Crown in closing? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes, sure. 30 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  You may stand down and you may be released. 

 

MS BARKER:   Thank you. 

 35 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.14 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir.  I call Anna Mary Cameron. 
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<ANNA MARY CAMERON, affirmed [1.14 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.14 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Now, your full name is Anna Mary Cameron? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   You are a resource management planner at the Department of 

Conservation? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Ms Cameron, you have given a statement of evidence dated 

29 October 2015, do you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

  [1.15 pm] 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  Please now would you provide a summary of your 

evidence? 20 

 

MS CAMERON:   In the preparation of my planning evidence I relied on the 

evidence of Mr Peter Rough, Nicholas Head and Sharne Bowie.  These 

witnesses have described the terrestrial and aquatic indigenous species 

and habitats, landscapes and features and coastal environment values 25 

that are located in the Christchurch district, and in particular on Banks 

Peninsula.  Furthermore, they have explained how the activities 

managed by the rural proposal could have potential effects on those 

natural values. 

 30 

 The Crown’s submission contained two high level themes with respect 

to natural values in the rural proposal.  Firstly, improve the integration 

of the natural values into the rural proposal, and secondly, to give effect 

to the higher order planning documents.  In my opinion the notified 

version of the rural proposal did not include sufficient provisions to 35 

adequately manage the adverse effects associated with rural activities 

on natural values.  In particular, the objectives and policies did not 

include sufficient recognition of the natural values, the definitions for 

farming and plantation forestry, in conjunction with permitted activity 

rules would enable activities for significant adverse effects to occur as 40 

a permitted activity. 

 

 The rule addressing access tracks did not take into account the potential 

effects of tracks on natural values, and the rural proposal did not 

include assessment matters addressing natural values that were required 45 
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to be taken into account when assessing the resource consent 

applications that could potentially affect the natural values. 

 

 The Council has made an extensive number of amendments to the rural 

proposal that are detailed in the revised proposal which address my 5 

concerns.  For the reasons given in my written evidence, it is my 

opinion that the revised proposal is consistent with the higher order 

planning documents and the purpose of the RMA. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 10 

 

MR NEILL:   No, I have no questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 15 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Ms Cameron.  I just really have one question, and 

you may have read the transcript and heard the exchange of the 

question I put to Ms Hogan yesterday, so you may be prepared for this 

question.   

 20 

 Now, you will be aware that the term biological diversity is defined 

under the RMA to refer to the variability between living organisms and 

ecological complexes, not the organisms themselves but the variability 

between them, and so when I read the words significant biodiversity in 

a couple of the policies it occurred to me, well how much variability do 25 

you need to have, how many species do you need to have before 

something becomes significant, and I thought that does not seem to me 

to be the way that concept of maintaining biological diversity ought to 

be considered or thought about. 

 30 

 So I guess in very simple terms my question to you is, I thought it was 

appropriate I put it to you as well as Ms Hogan given that you are 

representing the Department of Conservation and therefore have a keen 

interest in this matter and in fact the party who raised it, but do you 

follow my – well, perhaps I can put it another way – I guess I am 35 

seeking from you some confirmation that there is an issue here or you 

can allay my concerns and perhaps there is not an issue in the way that 

biodiversity is currently referred to in policies 6 and 8 in particular. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Okay, so I did hear your question of Ms Hogan, and I have 40 

gone away and thought about what the issue was, and I do agree, 

focusing on policy 6 first, that policy 6 as currently written mashes 

together section 6C and section 31, the maintenance of biodiversity 

components, so for the purpose of policy 6 I think it would be 

beneficial to delete the reference to significant, and then the policy 45 
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addresses both the functions under section 31 and also the requirements 

under section 6C.   

 

 In terms of policy 8, it is a slightly different issue because of the way 

that policy has been written, so A4, it has been written to capture, I 5 

think, both section 6C and section 31, but it has not quite got over the 

mark by distinguishing between the two, so one potential solution 

would be to amend the first part of that policy to reflect the wording of 

section 6C and then let the latter part of the policy pick up the section 

31 requirement.   10 

 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

MR WILLIS:  Okay, so again, you would be proposing to put this proposal in 

the closing submission of Council? 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, that would be fine. 

 

MR WILLIS:  Okay.  Well, no further questions, thank you. 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I do not have any questions, thank you, Ms Cameron. 25 

 

SJH:   Anything arising? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, your Honour. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Cameron, you may stand down and you may be released.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.21 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:  Your Honour, I just say that those matters will of course be 35 

included in the closing submissions and we have, as well, made a 

suggestion to Ms Hogan as to some grammatical and structural 

improvements to the proposal, but she has gladly taken on and that will 

be reflected in the documents you receive later.   

 40 

SJH:   Yes, well, we always get a red line version with the Council closing 

because we understand that discussions go on throughout the hearing 

process, so we are grateful for that. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir.  May I be excused? 45 
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SJH:   Yes, you may be, and we will take the luncheon adjournment now.  

Ms Limmer, are you involved this afternoon? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, I am, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   You are, all right.  Thank you.  We will adjourn for 30 minutes, thank 

you. 

 

ADJOURNED [1.21 pm] 

 10 

RESUMED [1.58 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Ms MacKenzie, would you come to the 

microphone please? 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sir, just before Ms MacKenzie either comes to the 

microphone or is sworn there is a matter I would like to address, your 

Honour, relating to this next presentation.   

 

 I am conscious that three of the four Panel members sat on the 20 

Subdivision chapter last week when Ms MacKenzie gave some 

evidence and was sworn and gave evidence on behalf of Federated 

Farmers.  I am not sure whether today is presentation is going to be 

similar evidence again and subject to cross-examination, or in the 

nature of submissions. 25 

 

 The Chair won’t be aware, but during that hearing last week there was 

some cross-examination by me as to the capacity in which evidence 

was being given, in particular Ms MacKenzie does hold a legal 

qualification and she has practiced as a resource management lawyer 30 

and so there were some questions about the capacity in which she was 

giving evidence and in particular interpretation of statutory documents, 

and she confirmed that she was not giving that evidence relying on any 

expertise either as a lawyer or a planner.   

 35 

 On that basis I have decided not to cross-examine her today and to rely 

on the transcript from last week, unless the Chair wanted me to go 

through that again for his benefit, because the other three Panel 

members have heard that cross examination. 

 40 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

 But I have just been provided with a document that was lodged last 

night by Ms MacKenzie which is titled a closing statement, looks like it 

is evidence, and appeals to be rebuttal to rebuttal. 45 
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 So I am not sure whether leave has been sought for that to go in or 

whether it is - - - - 

 

SJH:   Well I have simply treated it, as I think the other Panel members did, as 

a closing legal submission.   5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well that is what I would like to get clear, because in 

particular there are some matters in this that I would like to cross-

examine her on if it is not a legal submission and in particular 

paragraph 18 which is an allegation of bias against my client, Orion 10 

and the Christchurch City Council. 

 

 So I would like to get quite clear the basis on which tis presentation is 

being made and whether this is evidence of whether it is some sort of 

quasi-legal submission, and I am not going to be particularly happy 15 

about half of it being evidence and half of it not, particularly when the 

document that alleges bias is titled as a closing statement and I am not 

clear on the basis on which it is given.  And it only arrived last - - -  

 

SJH:   All right.  Well just give me a moment, Ms Appleyard.  Ms MacKenzie, 20 

you are a lawyer? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   You know the difference between evidence and a statement? 25 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   You know you cannot, as a lawyer, responsibly make allegations of bias 

by a statement?  You would be aware of that? 30 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.  I would not have thought it was an allegation of 

bias, but however.   

 

SJH:   We have read it. 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.  It was more or less saying that Orion is a Council 

controlled company.  That is a fact, and nothing more than that really.   

 

SJH:   “Acquiesce without further 32 justification for requests” – that is an 40 

allegation of bias.  Could not be clearer, Ms MacKenzie. 

 

 It is a matter for you.  Either you give it as evidence and get cross-

examined on it, or you will be well aware, if you do not give evidence 

there is very little weight we can attach to a statement compared to 45 
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evidence.  What has your client instructed you to do?  There does not 

seem to be any reference to your client or their wants here. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am giving a statement on behalf of Federated Farmers, 

if it was - - -  5 

 

SJH:   Are you giving a statement, or are you giving evidence? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am giving you a statement, and it may be simpler, I can 

withdraw the paragraph – I will have to actually look.   10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well it is not only that paragraph, that was just one 

example, sir.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am happy to withdraw that paragraph if that makes 15 

things simpler.   

 

SJH:   Well you have headed a document you have filed as a statement, you 

have then inside said “I am not giving evidence, as an expert witness” 

which means it is evidence.   20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am not - - -  

 

SJH:   This is your earlier statement of 29 October. 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am not an expert.  I am a policy advisor for Federated 

Farmers.   

 

SJH:   Are you giving evidence on behalf of your client? 

 30 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   So you wish to go into the witness box and be sworn?  So you had better 

go in the witness box, we will have you sworn, but you must 

understand you will be cross-examined on your closing statement as 35 

well.  So if you go in the witness box and be sworn or affirmed please. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am not entirely clear, sir.  If I - - -  

 

SJH:   You are a lawyer, you know the difference between evidence and a 40 

statement.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   This is a statement.   

 

SJH:   So you are not purporting to give any evidence on behalf of federated 45 

Farmers?  Who are you answerable to in Federated Farmers? 
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MS MACKENZIE:   To the Board and to the members. 

 

SJH:   Well in a management sense, are you the CEO? 

 5 

MS MACKENZIE:   No.   

 

SJH:   Well who is above you?  Because we really need to know what they are 

instructing you to do – whether to make a statement or whether to give 

evidence.  I mean, as is normal, even with a statement - - - 10 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   They are instructing me to give a statement.   

 

SJH:   - - - it is normal to say that you are authorised by Federated Farmers to 

give the evidence and statement.   15 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It is a statement.   

 

SJH:   I am not trying to be difficult here, and this is black and white legal stuff 

that a lawyer, whether you are a practicing lawyer or not, you should be 20 

aware of these things, with the greatest of respect.  So are you wanting 

to give evidence on behalf of your employer? 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am wanting to give a statement on behalf of my 

employer.   

 

SJH:   And that has been confirmed by your client? 

 30 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.   

 

SJH:   Where has it been confirmed by your client?  Because you do not say it 

in your own statement that they have authorised you to give a statement 

and not evidence, because you may be prejudicing their interests by not 35 

giving evidence – I do not know. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am trying to simply matters.  If it is merely a cross-

examination about the one statement - - - - 

 40 

SJH:   No, it is not a matter of simplification.  You have a choice; you can 

make a submission and speak to it, or you can give evidence,  I have 

already said that normally a submission without evidence does not 

carry as much weight because you have not been tested by cross-

examination, which may not be in your client’s interest. 45 
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 Now this is not advice I should have to give you, but it is your choice at 

the end of the day. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Previously I have sworn, so let us do the same.   

 5 

SJH:   I understand that, because I have already been alerted to the fact, 

although I was not here, that you were cross-examined.  What I want to 

know is what are you electing to do today.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I will be sworn. 10 

 

SJH:   All right.  Thank you.  If you would go in the witness box please. 
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<FIONA MACKENZIE, affirmed [2.06 pm] 
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SJH:   Just take a seat please.  Your full name is Fiona Katrine MacKenzie? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   You are a senior policy advisor employed by Federated Farmers, based 5 

in Christchurch? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, sir.   

 

SJH:   You filed a statement of evidence dated 29 October 2015? 10 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, sir.   

 

SJH:   You are authorised by Federated Farmers to give evidence on their 

behalf? 15 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, sir.   

 

SJH:   All right.  If you would give us your highlights package of that evidence 

please. 20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I do not need to speak anything to the statement I 

provided last night.  I am happy to answer questions.   

 

SJH:   Have you read the pre-hearing, directions for these hearings? 25 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, sir.   

 

SJH:   And you will be aware that we ask witnesses, although we have pre-read 

evidence, that they have the opportunity to give us a highlights 30 

package. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Right.   

 

SJH:   Just for the record, you do not wish to give a highlights package? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I will give you a highlights package. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Thank you. 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   The statement today was designed to correct a couple of, 

what I saw as inaccuracies, in the last revised statement from Ms 

Hogan.  My statement and hers crossed, they were both 6 November, 

so I felt that it would be useful to comment on that new version.   

 45 
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 Last time I was cross-examined quite extensively about the definitions 

and whether or not Orion was strategic infrastructure.  In this statement 

I have tried to clarify that and I have also further clarified that it was 

almost inconsequential, compared to what we see as the larger issue, 

which is that even if strategic infrastructure is strategic infrastructure, 5 

as for example the national grid, then it is not directed by the strategic 

objective, we do not see, to automatically provide corridors.   

 

 That is the main thrust of this piece of it. 

 10 

SJH:   All right.  Thank you.  Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [2.09 pm] 15 

 

MS ASH:   Just to clarify, I have not had an opportunity to see what was filed 

last night, it hasn’t been copied to me.  I understand from my friend, 

Ms Appleyard that she will address those matters in her questions.  I 

just have one question for - - -  20 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

SJH:   You can borrow this one now – sorry, there is a copy there. 

 25 

MS ASH:   Thank you.  Ms MacKenzie, in terms of the material that is in your 

evidence-in-chief, you raise a point in relation to policy 17.1.1, and you 

take issue with Ms Hogan not referring to the matters that are in the 

Strategic Objective being repeated in the policy 17.1.1. 

 30 

 Could I just refer you to the Strategic Directions decision of the panel, 

are you aware of that? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 35 

MS ASH:   And are you aware of the wording in the introduction, of the 

overarching directions in that decision and those strategic directions 

say very clearly that anything in the chapter has primacy over the 

objectives and policies in the other chapters of the plan, which must be 

consistent with the objectors in this chapter, do you accept Ms Hogan’s 40 

position that you do not need to repeat what is in a strategic objective? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I accept it.  I have just suggested what Federated Farmers 

would like as a preferred alternative.   

 45 
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SJH:   Sorry, so I understand, as an alternative to the Strategic Directions 

Chapter objective? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, as an alternate – I thought we were talking about 

17.1.1. 5 

 

MS ASH:   Yes, and you have raised the issue that it should repeat the 

Strategic Objective, and I am asking you why you would need to repeat 

it when there is a clear direction from the Panel that it takes primacy 

over 17.1.1. 10 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   We see this as a relatively minor matter, however, from 

the perspective of plan users, in particular our members, it would be 

nice to see productive and diverse in the objective, because that is they 

are not necessarily going to rifle through the plan and find strategic 15 

objective, and we simply see no reason why it would not be there, since 

it has been much touted as enabling and so on.   

 

 It is nothing more than that.  We don’t see that a strategic objective 

need be repeated, but in this case we have suggested that it could be 20 

useful.   

 

MS ASH:   And you would accept, would you, then that the driver for this plan 

change is to ensure that there is not repetition throughout provisions so 

that the plan reader can get a clear direction from the provisions. 25 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, but we are talking about three words, and we have 

stated elsewhere that we thought the current statement of our 

environment is maintained, is particularly uninspiring.  

 30 

MS ASH:   Thank you.  You didn’t address it in your rebuttal so I just wanted 

to be sure that you still had the same position.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Appleyard? 

 35 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [2.13 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now sir, I have only seen this document when I arrived 

here today too, so you will have to bear with me, this is on the hoof.   

 40 

 So I want to ask you some questions about your rebuttal to the rebuttal, 

your closing statement.  In paragraphs 8, 9 and 10 you have some 

criticism of Ms Hogan in relation to what she says in her rebuttal.  Can 

you explain to me why you did not feel it necessary to come and cross-

examine Ms Hogan or ask her questions? 45 
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MS MACKENZIE:   Are we talking about 8, 9 and 10? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, in your rebuttal.   

 

SJH:   Well I think to be correct, it should be referred to as the closing 5 

statement. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, your closing statement.  The document you filed 

last night is the one I am referring to, not your rebuttal, that is 

confusing.  Under the heading “Inadequate Justification” you are 10 

commenting on Ms Hogan’s rebuttal, can you explain to me why your 

organisation did not come and put questions to Ms Hogan? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   You mean after receiving the updated - - - 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, this week, when she gave evidence, I think it was 

yesterday. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   We have had prior discussions with Ms Hogan and the 

evidence, as I say, was coming thick and fast, and this particular 20 

evidence crossed with our own.  We have barely had an opportunity to 

have such discussions. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are you cross-examining Ms Buttimore this afternoon? 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   No.  We have had several discussions with Orion. 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Under your heading, it starts “Strategic Objective 3.3.12” 30 

do you recall me asking you some questions when you appeared, I 

think it was last week or the week before, in relation to which bit of 

your expertise you were relying on to interpret documents, including 

the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement? 

 35 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, I do.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And what was the answer you gave at that time? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I believe I said I am a policy advisor for Federated 40 

Farmers.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you are not holding yourself out as a lawyer or a 

planner? 

 45 

MS MACKENZIE:   Not in this context, no. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   So your discussion at paragraph 11 onwards, are we to 

give any more weight to that discussion as we would to any other 

layperson, reading and interpreting a document? 

 5 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, I think we can give it slightly more because the man 

in the street is not a lawyer and they have not been working for many 

years in resource management or in private practice, in NGOs and now 

for Federated Farmers, so I think I do have more understanding than a 

layperson or the man in the street.   10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You will have to bear with me, I am reading this as I go.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I did provide this document as soon as I could to Orion, 

Transpower - - -  15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I understand that, you have just got to give me a 

moment, it has come in as evidence and I have only just seen it today, 

thank you.   

 20 

 Paragraph 13, you are there interpreting the Regional Policy Statement, 

is that what you are doing there? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   3.3.12 is the - - - 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, it is the Strategic Objective in the Replacement 

Plan.  

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, correct.   

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   And it is your evidence that this Panel has determined not 

to include Orion as strategic infrastructure in terms of its decision 

earlier in Strategic Directions, is it? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No.  Are you referring to the - - - 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I will put the question another way, are you telling 

this Panel that your interpretation of their earlier decision is that Orion 

is not strategic infrastructure in terms of the Replacement District Plan? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, I am not saying that. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So is it, or isn’t it? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   What? 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   In terms of your reading of the Strategic Directions 

Chapter, is Orion included as strategic infrastructure within the 

definition? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Just bear with me while I – in that definition no, we do 5 

not see it.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that is your evidence? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   We are talking about the strategic - - - 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can you show me which part of the definition excludes 

Orion’s infrastructure.   

 

SJH:   Perhaps bring it up, the Strategic Directions.  Thank you.  15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, I don’t have it.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It says infrastructure facilities which are greater than local 

importance. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you say that Orion does not fit within that definition? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, we have slightly hedged our bets here, because we 

do not actually see it as the main issue either way.   25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, that is not the question I am asking you, does Orion 

fit within that definition of Strategic Infrastructure? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, we do not believe so. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And why is that? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It is omitted in a way which is at least indicative from a 

plain reading that it is not included. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And a plain reading, some examples are given with an 

explanatory note, that does not exclude Orion from the definition of 

Strategic Infrastructure, does it? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   It is not included in the list, and up above which gives us 

further pause for thought, is that it says “infrastructure facilities, 

installations et cetera, which are of greater than local”.  Now our 

package, if you like, relies also in our reading of the RPS. 

 45 

MS APPLEYARD:   On your reading of the RPS? 
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MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In the evidence at last week’s hearing, or the week 

before? 5 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, I hope my evidence is consistent.  

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   In paragraph 13 and 14, you state that there is no directive 

to install corridors for strategic infrastructure and that it is not enough 

to find that the Council could provide corridor protection, do you 

accept that the Panel has a discretion to do so? 

 15 

MS MACKENZIE:   I accept that the Panel can do anything it likes. 

 

SJH:   Well, I do not think we have quite that jurisdiction, it would be 

frightening if we did. 

 20 

MS MACKENZIE:   Right, I am simply reading the objective 3.3.12. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, that was not why I have asked you a question; you 

accept that the Panel has a discretion to provide corridor protection?  

Regardless of your view of whether it should, do you accept there is the 25 

discretion to do that? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And the Panel could come to that conclusion relying on 30 

the provisions in the Regional Policy Statement, could it not? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am not sure that they would need to rely on the Regional 

Policy Statement even. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   What would they rely on then? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   The objective says that - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry this is a different question, so if we just put the 40 

objective aside; do you accept that the Panel has discretion to include 

corridor protection for Orion in its decision making? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And one of the reasons that the Panel might give for 

doing that is reliance on provisions in the Regional Policy Statement? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It might do. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and where is your discussion of the Regional Policy 

Statement? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am sure I have some. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   In this evidence. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Can I just – bear with me for a minute. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   If I can help you with this you discussed it in part in your 15 

evidence you gave a week and a half ago, so I am asking you why there 

isn’t the same reference to the Regional Policy Statement in the 

evidence you are giving now? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well, I am seeing I have discussed it at paragraph 19 20 

through 21.  Well, 19 to 23.  If I just continue repeating the same 

evidence every week, I refer to my previous statements but here I have 

talked about the definition in the Regional Policy Statement and I have 

said that I thought that it covers regional. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I am not asking you about the definition, I am asking 

you about the objectives and policies.  Where is your discussion of the 

objectives and policies in the Regional Policy Statement about the 

protection of strategic infrastructure as a basis for providing for 

corridor protection? 30 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well, this document contains that this is all there is so if 

you are looking for something else, I cannot tell you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I will put it another; why have you not discussed it? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well, I have discussed what I thought needed to be 

discussed. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay.  Paragraph 18, your assertion that CCC has 40 

acquiesced without any section 32 justification, to requests from Orion 

and at the bottom of that paragraph “As a Council controlled company 

we are starting to wonder if Orion benefits from an inbuilt bias from its 

regulator parent”.  Which evidence are you relying on for that 

statement other than the fact that it is a Council controlled company? 45 
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MS MACKENZIE:   I admit that that this badly worded.  For a start it looks as 

though Feds is a Council controlled company which it certainly isn’t.  

That is an aside and I am happy to withdraw it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are you happy to withdraw the whole paragraph? 5 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Which bits of the paragraph do you wish to remain? 

 10 

MS MACKENZIE:   The rest of it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So when you say “The CCC has acquiesced without any 

further section 32 justification, to requests from Orion”, can you tell me 

when those requests were made? 15 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well, throughout the proceedings.  Every time we have 

had a new revision we have generally had a new set of, we have all 

been grappling to produce provisions that work and there has been 

many of those. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, but you make the statement that it was without any 

further section 32 justification so that implies there was no further 

information so what basis are you making that statement? 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   We have not seen any further material aside from 

Mr Butcher’s evidence that suggests it has been carefully looked at 

other than coming along on the heels of the strategic directions 

decision, which seems to be the turning point after which we have a 

series of corridors being introduced. 30 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So do we have a situation wherever the City Council 

agrees with a submitter’s request we are going to have an allegation of 35 

bias? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, we certainly do not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Or only in respect of Council controlled organisations? 40 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Not at all and it was not intended to be any sort of 

allegation.  It is a fact that Orion is a Council controlled company.  

That statement I have said I would like to withdraw if it is going to be 

contentious, because it was not intended to be. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Paragraphs 19 onwards you are giving your view on some 

interpretation issues in relation to the RPS and paragraph 19 and 

paragraph 21 starts with the words “It is our view” and 21 “On our 

plain reading”.  Who is the “our” given that this is your evidence? 

 5 

MS MACKENZIE:   Federated Farmers has a large group of policy officers 

and we do not work in isolation and so if I say “our”, as in this case, I 

will have discussed it with other Federated Farmers policy officers.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But those parties are not giving evidence? 10 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well, not in this hearing, no, but they have given 

evidence on other hearings in other similar situations. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Paragraph 23 you say “Putting aside arguments as to 15 

whether the local lines are strategic or not, we believe the Council has 

become unduly fixated on infrastructure objective 3.3.12”.  On what 

basis do you make that statement given that, as I read the evidence, 

infrastructure objective 3.3.12 is just one of a number of objectives and 

policies that the Council officer has taken into account? 20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   We can only surmise that that is an important plank, if 

you like, of the Council’s position because I have attended mediation, 

and I have tried to raise it on various occasions and I have generally 

been given the reason that it has come along since the strategic 25 

objective and it is in various other chapters and the Council would like 

to be consistent.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Paragraph 29 you are talking about not having heard any 

persuasive reason why corridors are required to protect Orion’s assets.  30 

You were present when Mr Watson gave evidence at the subdivision 

chapter, were you not? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I believe so, part of it. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Did you hear his evidence about the practical difficulties? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I certainly read it, I may not have heard it all. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And what is the basis for your expertise in making the 40 

statement that you cannot see that there are any problems? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Which part of my evidence are you talking? 
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MS APPLEYARD:   “It is hard to see why problems with accessing lines 

would occur”.  Have you got any experience, practical experience with 

that? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am not an engineer, no. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, and you did not come and cross-examine Mr Watson 

at that hearing, did you? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, I have spoken to Mr Watson. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, he is giving evidence this afternoon, are you going 

to cross-examine him this afternoon? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I do not think I need to. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Paragraph 31 you are talking there about the likely 

precedent effect of a decision which awards buffer corridors to local 

lines companies, what is the precedent effect that you are concerned 

about there?  Precedent to who? 20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   What generally happens if somebody or in a case like this 

it is likely that other lines companies obviously will look to it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In other parts of the country? 25 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Even close by.  Federated Farmers is shortly involved in 

the Hurunui District Plan review, that is very close by.  We are 

concerned of the regional effect - - - 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   So are you saying that it is relevant for this Panel to be 

concerned about what other district council’s might do as a result of 

their decisions on this matter?  Are you saying that is a matter for this 

Panel? 

 35 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, the Panel was deciding on the best possible plan for 

this district – I am mentioning it, it comes to – in a way it comes to 

section 32, there is a cost to rolling out this sort of litigation around the 40 

country. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I was not asking about that, I was asking about the 

precedent effect of a decision.  So you are saying that the precedent 

effect is that, other decision makers in other districts might decide to do 45 



 Page 270 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

the same thing as a result of this Panel’s decision, is that the precedent 

effect you are concerned about? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   The precedent effect I am concerned about is that, if in 

the unfortunate event that land is taken out of production by corridors, 5 

we would not want that to happen anywhere else, on the basis that this 

is a special, if you like earthquake district plan or that would be the best 

scenario - we do not want to see it occur in other parts of the country. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What weight would a decision of this Panel in relation to 10 

Christchurch City have in relation to decision making in another 

district? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It is not really that effect we are concerned about. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   In your last paragraph you state that Mr Watson believes 

that awareness of the code is not high, and you suggest that it is part of 

Orion's core business to sort this out.  I think I asked you this question 

last week, are you aware of any prosecutions in relation to NZECP 

being taken? 20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I have not looked into it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And who was the organisation who is responsible for 

enforcing that code? 25 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I believe it is Consumer Affairs, isn’t it?   Let’s have a 

look –  prepared by the Ministry of Consumer Affairs, it also says it 

would be revised as occasions arise and suggests that - - -  

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   That is not the question I asked you, who is responsible 

for enforcement of the code? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Ministry of Consumer Affairs, I would have to answer. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   You say that it is part of Orion's core business “to sort 

this out”; what do you mean? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I mean that Orion is a lines company and our view is that 

a lines company has a core business of managing lines, and if it cannot 40 

do its core business which is managing lines, then really we have to ask 

- - -  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Would not – would Orion not say that it is part of its core 

business to come to hearings such as that and to seek the sort of 45 

protection that it is seeking through this process? 



 Page 271 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   We believe that non-regulatory methods would be 200 

times more effective. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well Mr Watson’s evidence is that they haven’t been 5 

working to date, so what is your organisation doing to raise awareness 

amongst farmers of the need to comply with the code? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Farmers are busily farming, however – and it is not our 

core business; it is the core business of a lines company to make sure 10 

that (A) awareness of any problems with its lines that would be perhaps 

top of the list for the comms department, however, farmers are busy 

trying to farm.  We have already said that we would certainly make it 

our business to introduce a campaign in our publications to do work 

with Orion if they feel that this is a problem - - -  15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Have they got funding - - -  

 

MS MACKENZIE:   - - - that would be useful. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   - - - to do that?   Has your organisation got funding to do 

that? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Federated Farmers would be able to manage that, yes. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, I have no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Garvan, are you? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS GARVAN [2.34 pm] 30 

 

MS GARVAN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

 Now Ms MacKenzie, you have agreed a national grid corridor 

protection provisions with Transpower? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, we got a couple of matters outstanding, chiefly those 

descriptions of buildings under the lines, which are by no means 

settled. 

 40 

MS GARVAN:   Do you have a copy of the mediation report available?  I have 

got copies here if you need. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Somewhere, I think I better – thank you. 

 45 
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MS GARVAN:   I take you to page 15 of that document, thank you, Ms 

MacKenzie. 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 5 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

MS GARVAN:  And at the bottom of that document it states, 

“Transpower/Horticulture New Zealand and Federated Farmers have 

come to an agreed approach on how to address reverse sensitivity 10 

issues within the rural zone”, Ms McLeod provided the Council with a 

rule to address this, that is what it states does it not? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, it does.  Having said that, the mediation process – 

and we had no problem by the way with Transpower's buffer zones, we 15 

see them mandated by the NPS – there is some wording that is as yet 

not fully settled because the wording changes every second day 

basically.  So we are not quite there, but we have no problem with the 

basic concept and, yes, it was agreed at mediation that the buffers are 

mandated by the NPS. 20 

 

MS GARVAN:   And that agreement was on behalf of Federated Farmers? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS GARVAN:   And nothing in your evidence is intended to undermine that 

agreement? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   With the proviso that I have mentioned new words that 

have come in, for example “wintering barns” I think is new since that 30 

mediation, there are a couple of things that have altered and Mr 

Hodgson at Hort New Zealand spoke to this I think yesterday, we do 

have to be very clear about the wording, he was concerned about 

irrigation structures, that was never the intention I think of Transpower.   

 35 

 Obviously if you have got blueberries growing under the lines or 

anything else that may be irrigated that is another matter that that can 

be easily settled, I am sure.  I believe Mr Hodgson has to provide 

something to the Panel by Friday. 

 40 

MS GARVAN:   But apart from specific words, in principle you agree with 

corridor protection provisions for the national grid? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.  We do not like them but we agree with them. 

 45 
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MS GARVAN:   Thank you, Ms MacKenzie.  Now I just like to turn to the 

NPS on electricity transmission, do you have a copy, if not, I have got 

some available here and I believe it can be brought on the screen. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I do have one somewhere – yes. 5 

 

MS GARVAN:   So you agree the Panel has to give effect to the NPS? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, policy 11 and then that is reflected, is it not, in the – 

you can refresh my memory, but yes I do. 10 

 

MS GARVAN:   Thank you, and the NPS justifies a certain level of protection 

for the national grid. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   A fairly limited level, sensitive activities. 15 

 

MS GARVAN:   I just like to refer you to policy 10, and I can read that out, 

that “decision makers must to the extent reasonably possible, manage 

activities to avoid reverse sensitivity effects on the electricity 

transmission network and to ensure that operation/maintenance, 20 

upgrading and development of the electricity transmission network is 

not compromised”. 

 

 Policy 10 does not refer to sensitive activities, does it? 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   No. 

 

MS GARVAN:   It refers to avoiding reverse sensitivity effects on the 

electricity transmission network. 

 30 

MS MACKENZIE:   Mm'hm. 

 

MS GARVAN:   In the rules that Federated Farmers agreed to at mediation, 

related to how to address reverse sensitivity issues within the rural 

zone? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Sorry, is that a question? 

 

SJH:   Do you agree with that? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   Could you say it again please? 

 

SJH:   The rules Federated Farmers agreed to at mediation, related to how to 

address reverse sensitivity issues within the rural zone? 

 45 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 
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MS GARVAN:   Now I just like to turn to NZECP 34, do you have a copy of 

Ainsley McLeod’s rebuttal evidence in front of you? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   What is the date on it? 5 

 

MS GARVAN:   6 November. 

 

SJH:   What page are you referring to, Ms Garvan? 

 10 

MS GARVAN:   If we turn to page 7. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Which is paragraph - - -  15 

 

SJH:   It is on the screen in front of you now, Ms MacKenzie. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Right, thank you. 

 20 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MS GARVAN:   And specifically at the top of that, which is paragraph 26(a). 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Sorry, whose evidence is this? 25 

 

MS GARVAN:   Ainsley McLeod’s.  Do you accept the view stated in 

paragraph 26(a) of Ainsley McLeod’s rebuttal evidence, that National 

Grid corridor protection provisions included in Proposal 17, do not 

seek to mirror NZECP 34? 30 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well that is her view, I haven’t sort of looked at that in 

any detail.  If they are not trying to paraphrase them then they are not 

trying to paraphrase them, I cannot add to that.   

 35 

MS GARVAN:   But she also states the provisions seek to be consistent with 

NZECP 34, do they not? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, hopefully.   

 40 

MS GARVAN:   And you accept that NZECP 34 does not provide complete 

protection for National Grid transmission lines.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It does not provide a complete buffer, is that what you 

mean? – it provides discrete rules, like that it covers everything. 45 
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MS GARVAN:   But that alone is not adequate to address effects on the 

National Grid? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I cannot really comment, I have not thought about that, all 

I know is that it is allowed in the NPS for Council’s to provide a buffer 5 

if they consider it necessary.   

 

MS GARVAN:   If I could just take you to paragraph 40 of your rebuttal 

evidence.   

 10 

MS MACKENZIE:   Is this the evidence of last night, or is this - - - 

 

MS GARVAN:   No, your actual rebuttal evidence.   

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Okay.  Is that 6 November? 15 

 

SJH:   Just the one referring to 17.3.2.5. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Yes, 6 November in paragraph 40.   

 20 

MS MACKENZIE:   40, yes.   

 

MS GARVAN:   And so in your evidence you state “the NPS electricity 

transmission allows for corridor protection for National Gridlines in 

addition to NZECP 34 regulations.” 25 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Mm’hm. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And have you read the rebuttal evidence of Mr Rory Noble? 

 30 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am not sure that I have. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Okay.  I will just take you to that evidence, and give you an 

opportunity to read the relevant part.  So if we could just turn to 

paragraph 22 of his evidence.   35 

 

 At that paragraph he states that: “Intensive use buildings and 

commercial operations and structures should not be located in the 12 

metre corridor even if they comply with the code”.  Do you accept that? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   Originally it was simply sensitive activities, which are 

schools, residential buildings and hospitals, that is what the NPS 

mandates.  Mr Noble, who is Mr Noble? 

 

MS GARVAN:   He is the engineer for Transpower.   45 
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MS MACKENZIE:   Okay.  Mr Noble is obviously thinking that that is not 

enough.  Intensive use buildings, commercial operations and structures 

seems very wide to me to say that should not be located in the 12 metre 

corridor, which is also quite wide.  The NPS talks about sensitive 

activities, that is the starting point, and we were hoping the end point. 5 

 

MS GARVAN:   Sorry, if we just forget for a moment about the NPS, if we 

just focus on effects; do you accept that having intensive use buildings 

and commercial buildings within the 12 metre corridor, or sorry, yes 

within the 12 metre corridor even if they comply with the code is a 10 

problem for the National Grid? 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well yes, it would seem very silly, I do not know who 15 

would build buildings under there, and if they did they would not have 

got resource consent unless they did comply with the code, which is 

about distances, clearly for safety between structures and foundations 

of structures. 

 20 

 So that is almost a given, but that does not widen sensitive activities, 

that simply says that nobody in their right mind would build 

commercial buildings under the National Grid unless they complied 

with the code, and they probably would not comply with the code.   

 25 

MS GARVAN:   I guess, just coming back to that paragraph though, what he is 

saying is even if you comply with the code there is a problem, there is 

an issue for the National Grid, do you accept that? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I do not really see how that situation could ever occur.   30 

 

MS GARVAN:   Okay, if I take you to para 18 of his rebuttal evidence, in 

there he refers to that, “the code does not prevent under-build and 

therefore does not ensure the operation, maintenance, development and 

upgrade of the National Grid is not compromised”; do you accept that? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, there will be under-build, people will do silly things.   

 

MS GARVAN:   They code does not prevent that.   

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   The code does largely prevent it, and people’s good sense 

largely prevents it.  But I accept that, for the National Grid, it is 

probably ideal to have a double whammy, if you like.   
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MS GARVAN:   And have you called any technical evidence to support the 

view that you have just stated, which is that the code would largely 

address that issue? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   When I have to rely on the code, the code has been in 5 

existence for a long time, and in between times we have had - - - 

 

SJH:   No, the question was are you calling any technical evidence, expert 

evidence to support that view? 

 10 

MS MACKENZIE:   No, not for this hearing, no. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Thank you, I have no further questions.   15 

 

SJH:   Thank you Ms Garvan.  Ms Neill? 

 

MR NIELL:   Just one matter of clarification.  If you turn to your evidence-in-

chief, para 7.   20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Sorry, is that the 29th? 

 

MR NIELL:   Yes, 29 October.  This is solely a matter of clarification.  In that 

evidence you refer to the proposed rules, which are referred to in the 25 

proposal of 16 November. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Sorry. 

 

MR NIELL:   Para 27, page 5.   30 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, paragraph 27. 

 

MR NIELL:   Yes.  I have not got, I do not think, the proposal of 16 

November, is that an error, that is all I ask? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Is what an error, sorry, I missed something? 

 

MR NIELL:   The date, 16 November I have got a - - - 

 40 

SJH:   Well it cannot be right, because your statement is dated 29 October, and 

it was last year. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Right, sorry.  Well that would have been - - - 

 45 
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MR NIELL:   I think you mean the October Proposal attached to the evidence, 

I think of Ms Hogan? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.  I am saying yes, but yes, quite clearly it is not 16 

November.   5 

 

MR NIELL:   No.  Solely a matter of clarification, I just wanted to know. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   So if that was 29 October, the previous, would have been 

writing to - - - 10 

 

MR NIELL:   There was an October version, but it is undated. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 15 

MR NIELL:   But there was an October version. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well it is probably that one, yes. 

 

MR NIELL:   Thank you.   20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, one question Ms MacKenzie.  Just in relation to again 

your statement of 29 October, and you discuss under the heading of 25 

“Transpower” there that one of the outstanding issues you have is in 

relation to not wanting to capture all the clearly mobile irrigation 

infrastructure, motor rainers and pivot irrigators I take it? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes.   30 

 

MR WILLIS:   So I take it that your reading of the wording as it is proposed at 

the moment and is attached to Ms Hogan’s evidence, that the word 

“structures” is associated with infrastructure, irrigation infrastructure, 

could include those mobile ? 35 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MS MacKENZIE:   Well, yes, it could because that is quite a wide term. 

 40 

MR WILLIS:   Right, and you have suggested some wording dams, ponds and 

similar irrigation infrastructure, but is your key point that it is those 

mobile sources that do not interfere with – they may have other 

interference effects and I will have to test that with other witnesses – 

but in terms of not interfering with the ability for Transpower in this 45 
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case to maintain and replace lines and things, they ought not be caught, 

is that your key point here? 

 

MS MacKENZIE:   Yes, obviously we are allowed currently, you know, 

cultivation under the lines, so that there is no reason why that cultivated 5 

land would not be irrigated in some cases and it may well be by devices 

like Roto Rainers or something else.  Those sort of mobile bits of 

equipment are also caught by the NZECP but - - - 

 

MR WILLIS:   Is it your understanding that it is intended to capture this or this 10 

is something you just think is a possibility, perhaps? 

 

MS MacKENZIE:   I think it is not intended to capture Roto Rainers or 

irrigators. 

 15 

MR WILLIS:   Well, I will test that with later witnesses.  Thank you for that 

clarification, that is all I have. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you, Ms MacKenzie. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Garvan, from the Panel questions? 

 

MS GARVAN:   No, thank you, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms MacKenzie, you may stand down and you are free to 35 

leave when you wish.   Yes, Ms Appleyard? 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.51 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, now I have three clients this afternoon, 40 

Waterloo, the Airport and Orion.  If the Panel does not mind 

Ms Buttimore is giving evidence twice so I might bump her further 

down the batting order because I know Ms Limmer wants to hear the 

Airport and Ms Buttimore so if we could start with the Airport if that is 

no difficulty for anyone else. 45 

 

SJH:   Well, I will just repeat my position in relation to the Airport, thank you. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, thank you, sir.  So the first witness is Mr Day. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Before we start I would just like to note what is on the 

website that I am working on another job outside of Christchurch 5 

where Chapman Tripp is also instructed, it has got nothing to do with 

this hearing but I just want that on the record, thank you. 

 

MR WILLIS:   And I will do the same as I have on previous occasions that I 

also am involved in a case with Chapman Tripp, again outside 10 

Christchurch and on a different matter entirely just for the record. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

15 
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<CHRISTOPHER WILLIAM DAY, affirmed [2.52 pm] 
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MS APPLEYARD:   I should have said I have filed some legal submissions, I 

do not propose to go through those.  The Panel will be aware I filed a 

memorandum with the evidence about the fact that some of this 

evidence is a precursor to what is going to come in chapter 6 noise but, 

given that we do have to call some evidence to justify what we are 5 

asking for in rural, we had to make a decision on how much to put in 

this hearing.  It may be we haven’t called enough, it may be we have 

called too much, I don’t know.   

 

 So I was not going to repeat everything that is in the submissions other 10 

than just to alert you to the live legal issue which relates to the 

submission by Carey Jones, in relation to some interpretation issues 

about where undersized lots fit in terms of the district plan, the current 

district plan and the RPS. 

 15 

 I was really going to deal with that as a legal submission in closing 

after I cross-examined Mr Cook and not bother you with it today other 

than to alert you to the fact that that is issue is live.  So unless you 

wanted to ask me about that now I was going to move onto the 

evidence. 20 

 

SJH:   We are happy to leave it until after Mr Cook has given evidence. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [2.53 pm] 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you confirm that your full name is Christopher 

William Day? 

 

MR DAY:   I do. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you are a partner and principal of Marshall Day 

Acoustics Limited? 

 

MR DAY:   That is correct. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have the qualifications set out in paragraphs 3 to 6 of 

your evidence dated 29 October 2015? 

 

MR DAY:   Yes, that is correct. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   And I understand before you confirm that evidence is true 

and correct you have one typographical error you wish to correct? 

 

MR DAY:   Yes, just one small error on page 4, the very last line of that page, 

paragraph 28, the last line reads “Christchurch using 55 dB” cross the 45 
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55 out and put 50 dB there.  So the 55 in the line above is correct but 

the 55 in the very last line of that page should read 50. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, and if with that amendment do you confirm 

your evidence is true and correct? 5 

 

MR DAY:   I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now, highlights, it is not necessary to 

summarise your evidence and read out extracts that you have written 10 

but do you have some highlights points you wish to make to the Panel? 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MR DAY:   Just very briefly, sir.   15 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Day. 

 

MR DAY:   Firstly I apologise for the repeat nature of some of the evidence 

but there are some new members of the Panel so that was the reason for 20 

that. 

 

 In terms of the highlights, my evidence basically in summary follows 

the NZS6805 approach, and the 6805 approach does deal with noise 

slightly differently to how noise is normally dealt with in other areas.   25 

 

 For example, when we have a noise producer such as a dairy factory 

who are applying to develop a factory, they look at trying to control 

their noise to a certain level and say that that hopefully will be 

reasonable.  Often we have a community saying, “that won’t be 30 

reasonable” and we have opposed views. 

 

 One of the nice things about the 6805 approach is that the two main 

parties involved, ie the noise producer and the community, are both 

protected by the approach.  Where the approach that I am 35 

recommending in 6805, is that we are avoiding the adverse effects by 

avoiding people being exposed to aircraft noise and we are avoiding the 

reverse sensitivity effects on the airport. 

 

 So in general both of those sides are looked after.  The only people who 40 

tend to not be so happy about it are people like farmers who may be 

looking at converting the land from farm to residential development or 

whatever.  But generally the community and the noise producer are 

looked after by the 6805 approach. 

 45 
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 At Christchurch there has been a slightly more conservative approach 

than other airports in that aspect of it has used 50 decibels rather than 

55 decibels, and in my opinion that is appropriate.  There are affects 

out at 50 and if we can avoid people being exposed to that, ie there is 

no huge demand for residential land use in that area, if we can find 5 

appropriate places to put residential elsewhere then 50 should be used 

when it can be. 

 

 So basically that is the summary of the highlights of my evidence, 

thank you, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Day.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions. 

 15 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   I have no questions either, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I do have some questions.  Hello, Mr Day, thank you for 20 

coming back again. 

 

MR DAY:   Thank you, Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   As you know I was on the residential hearing I think when 25 

you last spoke to us.  What I am interested in is how some of the 

evidence relates to the rural area and the Taylor Baines survey, I think 

where you say it shows that Christchurch people are a bit more 

sensitive perhaps than other people in the rest of the world. 

 30 

 How many respondents in that survey or what proportion of that survey 

was people in the rural area and therefore how applicable are the results 

of that survey to rural residents? 

 

MR DAY:   Yes, I do not have that information here with me.  We would have 35 

to get the Taylor Baines study and I certainly could get it and provide it 

to the Panel.  But my guess is that probably the people at the higher 

noise levels here, if you look at the Taylor Baines summary graph on 

page 17.  That certainly those above 55 decibels would virtually – so 

those three dots and remember that those dots may include several 40 

residences that are at 58 dB and 61 decibels for example.  But all the 

residences that were surveyed in that group will almost undoubtedly be 

in the rural because the 55 contours are getting in closer to the airport. 
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 And conversely I would guess that a lot of the 45 to 50, if you circle 

that band, that they are probably residential zoning rather than rural but 

to get those numbers I would have to get back into the survey data. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you do not know from each of these dots how many 5 

responses relate to one dot.  They could be several or they could be just 

one but it does not distinguish, is that right? 

 

MR DAY:   That is correct and that shows a very good understanding of what 

this graph represents.  I can give you an idea that again each of those 10 

dots around the 45 to 50 tends to be 20 to 40 residents, so there is a 

large number in those noise levels and then if we circle the ones, the 

three dots to the 55 to 63, those three dots up at the top of the curve, 

there is probably only, my guess would be about 10 residents in that 

group and that is because the planners have done such a good job at 15 

Christchurch, they have avoided people getting into these high noise 

levels.   

 

 If you did a similar graph of Wellington airport there would be huge 

numbers of people in that 55 to 65 band. 20 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are saying as far as you are aware there are likely to 

be some rural residents within this because of the high noise levels. 25 

 

MR DAY:   There definitely are more people. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But there are a lesser number of people in terms of the overall 

survey than the ones that fell at the lower, that were able to be surveyed 30 

at the lower decibel levels. 

 

MR DAY:   Yes, basically just a need to get as many people as they could that 

were exposed to aircraft noise, but there was definitely a mixture of 

residential and rural and I just cannot tell you from here exactly what 35 

those numbers are, but we can certainly find that out very easily. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I mean from this information and other information that 

you have drawn on, and in a rural context where I think we understand 

from the amenity levels in a rural area that it can generally be noisier 40 

than a residential area for example, because there are other noisy 

activities that are normal within a rural area, are you able to adduce 

anything about how sensitive rural people are to noise such as from an 

airport or in these higher levels or even, because of course the 50 to 

55 dBA levels are also in the rural areas, not just the high noise levels. 45 
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MR DAY:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So how sensitive are rural people to noise, to the sorts of 

noise they are exposed to, say at the outer edges of the noise contours?  

Will they complain?  Is there any evidence about that in a rural context 5 

as opposed to just generally? 

 

MR DAY:   I do not have any research based evidence that I can refer you to 

but I can talk from experience.  Firstly your starting point that rural, I 

think one of the comments you made in that question was that rural 10 

areas tend to be noisier than residential zones, and that is for some 

cases that are heavily exposed to rural activity, but in other cases 

residential zones are exposed to high levels of traffic noise and can 

actually be very much noisier than rural residences.  So it is not 

necessarily that one is noisier than the other, it varies from situation to 15 

situation.   

 

 But in terms of the sensitivity, your main part of the question, my 

answer would be it would probably fall into two categories.  The 

farmer who has 500 acres and is making a lot of noise with machinery 20 

and that type of thing as a noise producer himself is probably slightly 

less sensitive than a residentially zoned person, but the lifestyle blocks 

of 10 acres and less, where they are doing very little other than ride-on 

lawnmowers in terms of rural production and noise production, in my 

case are the most sensitive respondents to noise.   25 

 

 They are the ones located beside vineyards where they hate the gas 

guns, they are the ones that hate the phos fans (ph 4.20) and they move 

out into a rural environment expecting absolute peace and quiet.  They 

also do not like it when the adjacent farmer is actually racing round in 30 

his tractors and harvesting and all that sort of stuff, because they move 

out there for peace and quiet.   

 

 So I think the large scale rural dweller is slightly less insensitive than 

the residential and the lifestyle rural residential is more sensitive.  That 35 

is my personal view from experience. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you, thank you.  Just one other question on a 

different topic, we have had a reasonable amount of evidence and I am 

sure we will get more, on the modelling of the – I may now leave this 40 

because the question of the engine testing contour and model is going 

to come up at a later hearing as I understand it. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 45 

MR DAY:   That is my understanding. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry I will not ask you this question, I will have the 

opportunity to ask that later on, so thank you, no more questions. 

 

MR DAY:   Okay. 5 

 

SJH:   Mr Day, would it be fair to say that many lifestylers are naïve and 

somewhat ignorant about the level of activity, noise producing and 

otherwise, in rural areas when they move out and think they are going 

to have a quiet life? 10 

 

MR DAY:   Yes, I would agree with that, yes. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Appleyard? 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Day. 

 

MR DAY:   Thank you. 20 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.05 pm] 
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<MATTHEW WILLIAM BONIS, affirmed [3.06 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [3.06 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you confirm that your full name is Matthew William 

Bonis? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   It is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  And you are an associate at Planz Consultants in 

Christchurch? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   I am. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraphs 3 to 6 of your evidence dated 29 October 2015? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Before I ask you to confirm your evidence and your 

rebuttal evidence, is there an amendment you wish to make to your 

evidence? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, there is, it is a very small amendment.  If I could take the 

Panel to paragraph 113 of my evidence-in-chief.  In the third line down 

in that paragraph I refer to the “do not contain a dwelling” is 10, that 

number should be 36 which corresponds with table 1.  I apologise for 25 

that. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Sorry, the number should be? 

 

MR BONIS:   36, which is also the last number in the right hand column of the 30 

table.  Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And with that amendment do you confirm your statement 

of evidence dated 29 October and your statement of rebuttal evidence 

dated 5 November, is true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now you have a summary, I think I have said to you 

before you speak very fast and the Panel do not have what you are 40 

reading out so Mr Cleary is not here to complain about the length of 

your summary today so if you could just bear that in mind, thank you. 

 

MR BONIS:   Will do. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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MR BONIS:   And with that introduction.  Paragraph 58 of my evidence-in-

chief records what I consider to be the two policy pillars, that set the 

minimum allotment size and stages in the proposed Rural zones and 

within the 50 dB airport noise contour. 5 

 

 In terms of rural density and uses for the Regional Policy Statement, 

strategic directions objective 3.3.7 and rural policies as they relate to 

the use and development of the rural land resource.  They seek to avoid 

urban uses in the rural zones.  Rural activities, as defined, do include 10 

residential activity on allotments greater than four hectares. 

 

 The second filler is in terms of uses within the air noise contours.  

Without further labouring the topic there is a suite of provisions 

through the Regional Police Statement, LURP, objective 3.3.12 in rural 15 

policy 9 as revised, that seek to avoid sensitive activities as defined 

under the 50 dBA air noise contours. 

 

 Paragraph 29 of my evidence-in-chief records that I do not consider 

that a policy direction of “avoid” lends itself towards a discretionary or 20 

restricted discretionary activity status.  I consider that the resource 

management meaning of avoid is to not allow or prevent an activity.  A 

non-complying activity status in my view best accords with such a 

policy direction. 

 25 

 The 50 dBA air noise contour and within that in the rural zones the 

50 dB engine testing contour as it is currently modelled, acts as a 

planning overlay.  It identifies the environmental attributes associated 

with predicted airport operations, being noise, with a corollary of 

recognising activities that are incompatible with those environmental 30 

attributes. 

 

 Now from a plan construction perspective, I would anticipate rural 

policy provisions that recognise the 50 dB overlay as a constraint to 

noise sensitive activities, and rules that prevent noise sensitive 35 

activities, including residential intensification, to achieve those higher 

order provisions. 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 40 

 Now the provisions in Ms Hogan’s rebuttal evidence, in my view, 

correctly apply the 50 dB contour overlay.  That rebuttal approach 

amends rural policy 9C.  The revised policy identifies the contours, as 

well as the mechanics to avoid incompatibilities through seeking to 

avoid noise sensitive activities and manage residential density to 45 

account for airport operations. 
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 There is agreement between myself and Ms Hogan that policy matters 

associated with acoustic attenuation would duplicate those provisions 

in chapter 6, and can therefore be omitted from that policy. 

 5 

 There is agreement with Ms Hogan based on the evidence of 

Mr Boswell, that engine testing is an integral component of airport 

operations.  If engine testing is therefore an integral component of 

strategic infrastructure, under the statutory meaning of that term, 

paragraphs 87 to 93 of my evidence-in-chief identify my reasons for a 10 

consistent policy approach of avoidance of incompatibilities, and the 

provisions relied on there include Regional Policy Statement objective 

5.2.1, objective 6.2.1 clause 10, and policy 6.3.5.4 and objective from 

Strategic Directions 3.3.12. 

 15 

 I consider that the amended policy 9 is included in either Ms Hogan’s 

rebuttal evidence or in my rebuttal evidence as at page 8 would be 

appropriate.   

 

 The rebuttal approach also sets a non-complying activity status for 20 

density for residential units at four hectares and 20 hectares in the Rural 

Urban Fringe Zone and Rural Waimakariri Zone respectively.  The 

starting point is the Regional Policy Statement and Strategic Directions 

objective 3.3.7 on urban growth.  These seek to avoid urban 

development outside existing urban areas and greenfield priority areas 25 

in map A. 

 

 Canterbury Regional Policy Statement policy 6.3.9, clause 1, precludes 

further rural residential development in the Operative City Plan area.  

In conjunction with the definition of rural activities, and the corollary 30 

definition of urban activities in the Regional Policy Statement, a 

minimum rural density of four hectares per residential unit is 

established.   

 

 The foundation for further controls under the 50 dB noise contours can 35 

be found in part B of my evidence-in-chief.  These reference both the 

loop explanation and the Regional Policy Statement policy as 

identifying density as a mechanism to avoid incompatible activities to 

strategic infrastructure, avoidance of noise sensitive activities within 

the 50 dB air noise contour. Regional Policy Statement definitions of 40 

sensitive activities provide the basis for the minimum mean site area.   

 

 There remains a dispute as outlined by counsel as to the limited number 

of properties between two hectares and four hectares.  That is the 

Jones’ submission.  The rebuttal approach also applies the 50 dB 45 
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contours to restrict the type and scale of opportunities for farm stays 

and minor residential units.   

 

 The practical effect of those revisions is to provide for the same level 

of opportunity as afforded to those activities under the Operative Plan.  5 

It is effectively a rollover of those provisions.  This provides for family 

flats as a subset of minor residential units, and limits the scale of farm 

stays to what was previously provided for under the board operative 

definition of residential unit.   

 10 

 Now on its face a more limiting approach could be applied given the 

policy change from “discourage” under the operative provisions in the 

1998 RPS to the current higher order approach of avoid.  However, as 

identified in my evidence, the Regional Policy Statement definition of 

sensitive activities does recognise rural activities that comply with the 15 

rules the plan has set in 2008.   

 

 I understand there to be one remaining matter of dispute – Mr Jones, 

submission number 2316, seeks the reinstatement of an exemption for 

residential units on his two hectare sites at Templeton.  My evidence-20 

in-chief at paragraph 107 to 114, and the majority of my rebuttal 

evidence, sets out my position in that regard.  I have taken extreme care 

to identify that it is a legal interpretation issue as associated with Mr 

Cook’s evidence in that matter.  I do not agree, however, with Mr 

Jones’ planner, Mr Cook, as to the creation of an exemption for Mr 25 

Jones’ property as a permitted activity.   

 

 Planning certainty, in my mind, is a relative concept, because, in a legal 

sense, the higher order documents have been reviewed and even putting 

the airport contours aside, they have established a more stringent policy 30 

response as to urban development in the rural zones. 

 

 In my view the respective statutory tests are set out in section 72 to 

section 75 of the RMA, and in my view preclude the activity status as 

sought by Mr Cook.   35 

 

 Now, were the Panel to agree with Mr Cook’s interpretation as to 

setting aside the matter of such development being noise sensitive.  I 

have set out the costs and benefits of an alternative discretionary status 

to achieve Mr Cook’s aims.  I have also set out an appropriate rule and 40 

identified the limited number of properties such a rule would apply to.   

 

 I am happy to answer any questions.  Thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Ash? 45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [3.15 pm] 

 

MS ASH:   Good afternoon, Mr Bonis.  I just want to clarify from your 

summary that you actually accept everything that Ms Hogan has 

revised to address your concerns. 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes.  There is an outstanding matter.  I discussed this with Ms 

Hogan at the end of last week as to what the Council’s position was in 

terms of the exception rule for the Jones’ properties and how that 

applied, but with that matter outstanding, everything else is agreed, yes. 10 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you very much.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 15 

MR BONIS:   Thank you.   

 

MR NEILL:   No questions, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Willis? 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions.   

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   No questions.  Thank you.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, that was painless. 30 

 

SJH:   Painless.   

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you, sir.   

 35 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.16 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I might do Waterloo next, because I know Ms Limmer is 

wanting to cross-examine Ms Buttimore so - - -  

 40 

SJH:   And Ms Buttimore will give - - -  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   She is giving evidence for Orion as well.   

 

SJH:   - - - Waterloo and Orion at the same time? 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  But if we do, well we can do both, yes, but that is 

probably a - - - 

 

SJH:   So one highlights package and then - - -  

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, no, that is fine.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 

10 
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<LAURA BUTTIMORE, affirmed [3.16 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD  [3.16 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, I am just making sure I have got both sets.  Do you 

confirm that your full name is Laura Catherine Buttimore? 

 5 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you are a consultant planner with Resource 

Management Group Limited? 

 10 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have provided to the Panel two statements of 

evidence, one dated 29 October 2015 on behalf of Orion? 

 15 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And one also on behalf of Waterloo Park? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Correct. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you have any amendments you wish to make before 

confirming they are true and correct? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   No.   25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So I will just ask you to confirm that both pieces of 

evidence are true and correct to the best of your knowledge.   

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes, they are.   30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now, do you have a highlights package in 

respect of both? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes.   35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if you would just like to deal with – perhaps if you do 

Waterloo first, and then Orion.  Thank you. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   So in relation to the Waterloo Park evidence, since filing 40 

my statement of evidence I have now reviewed the evidence and 

rebuttal evidence of Mr Crystal for Fulton Hogan, which includes a 

section 32 analysis on the cost and benefits associated with the deferred 

rezoning sought by Fulton Hogan for the Templeton Golf Course site.   

 45 



 Page 297 

  

Ch17: Rural (Part) Commenced 16.11.15 

 Following this review I remain of the opinion that the proposed 

deferred rezoning is not the most appropriate way to achieve 

sustainable management and may not achieve the objectives of chapter 

3 of the replacement plan.   

 5 

 One of my concerns is that assumptions that have been made by Fulton 

Hogan experts in their evidence have not been translated into plan 

provisions to ensure a permitted quarry activity under the Rural Quarry 

Zone will not create any anticipated environmental effects.  For 

example, the Noise Management Plan outlined in Mr Crystal’s 10 

appendix 1 states that noise shall comply with the District Plan noise 

limits.  It does not specify what zone or any specific noise limits.  

Given the noise provisions are still subject to the chapter 6 hearing, the 

final noise limits for the District Plan are unknown and I believe the 

ambiguity in the drafting of these provisions can create uncertainty and 15 

could lead to potential effects.   

 

 In addition to the above, I concur with Ms Radburnd for the City 

Council, that the proposed deferred zoning for the Rural Quarry Zone is 

not the most appropriate tool to provide for quarrying on the Templeton 20 

Golf Course site.  However, I believe consideration of a separate rural 

zone, potentially Rural Urban Fringe, may be the best approach.   

 

 Thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Ash? 

 

MS ASH:   So I will let Ms Limmer, perhaps - - - 

 

SJH:   Yes, for Waterloo Park.  Well, Ms Ash, your questions are for Waterloo 30 

Park as well so - - -  

 

MS ASH:   Yes. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ASH [3.19 pm] 35 

 

MS ASH:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Good afternoon. 

 40 

MS ASH:   Now at paragraph 32 of your evidence you refer to your concern 

about the lack of certainty and the deferred zoning effectively having 

the effect of a permitted activity on your client’s land.  Could you 

outline what activities you anticipate being at Waterloo park in the 

foreseeable future? 45 
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  [3.20 pm] 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Just in relation to Waterloo Park’s operations industrial 

business activities. 

 5 

MS ASH:   All right, so in terms of the permitted nature this deferred zoning 

would fall down on the land so to speak, either by 2021, or earlier if 

matters could be resolved earlier; do you anticipate that date having an 

impact on your client in terms of the permitted activities if the quarry 

zone was on the Templeton Country Club? 10 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Sorry, do I anticipate that the activity will have an 

impact? 

 

MS ASH:   On your client’s land, by 2021. 15 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I guess the information that currently I think is just a bit 

uncertain, they may be able to develop as proposed in terms of the 

evidence of Fulton Hogan without creating any adverse effects on 

Waterloo Park and its operations, but I just think at the moment there is 20 

also ambiguity and it may create some effects on Waterloo Park’s 

operation. 

 

MS ASH:   And you referred a moment ago to the rural urban fringe zone, if 

that zone applied what would the activity status be? 25 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I believe it would be discretionary, in terms of quarrying 

on the golf course site. 

 

MS ASH:   Okay, and that would satisfy your client in terms of its likely input? 30 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 

MS ASH:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [3.21 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Ms Buttimore, you have mentioned that 40 

Waterloo Park also has a consent to quarry nearby, how many experts 

did it call in support of that application, do you know? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Sorry, I do not, I was not involved in that consent. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   So if I told you that the decision records an expert in noise and 

an expert in traffic does that sound right to you? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   Have you been involved in other applications to undertake 

quarrying activities? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   No, I have not. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   So is there any actual or potential effect of this activity that 

Fulton Hogan has not provided expert evaluation of in your opinion? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I think the evidence that Fulton Hogan has provided 

covers most of – yes, it covers the effects that you considered, yes. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   So your residual concern, if I understand it in terms of effects, 

is that the noise limit might change in the course of these Plan 

hearings? 

 20 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes, that is one of my concerns. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But any noise limit the Panel arrives at certainly needs to give 

effect to the Act and have regard to effects on people? 

 25 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Ms Ash has asked you about the Waterloo Park development, 

do you know the level of heavy vehicle generation anticipated by that 

development? 30 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   No, sorry I do not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you are not familiar with the traffic evidence from the 

hearing? 35 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Are you familiar with the fact that it was a concern as the plan 

change went through for Waterloo Park? 40 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you agree the industrial general zone anticipates activities 

that will have a high demand for heavy vehicles such as freight and 45 

warehousing? 
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MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And what hours of operation that those activities constrain to 

under that zoning? 5 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I could not tell you of the top of my head sorry. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well my reading of the plan is there are no hours of operation 

restrictions, do you – have you read the rules for the industrial general? 10 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I have, but I do not know what they are of the top of my 

head - - -  

 

MS LIMMER:   You do not - - -  15 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   - - - I do not dispute that there might be not hours of 

operation, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So a principle part of your disagreement with the proposal is 20 

based on the fact that you said the plan is being intent on providing for 

established quarrying activities within the quarry zones, is that correct? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   You are aware there is a site that does not have quarry 

activities on it within the zone, are you not? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   You say you agreed with Ms Radburnd in your primary 

evidence and you would have read her rebuttal evidence, do you also 

agree with her that there is strong objective and policy support for 

quarrying in this general location? 

 35 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you also agreed with her that it appears on the evidence 

provided by Fulton Hogan that potentially adverse effects such as 

traffic, noise, dust and visual are able to be manage? 40 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 45 

MS LIMMER:   I have no further questions, sir. 
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SJH:   Thank you.  I will just see if the Panel have questions on Waterloo, is 

there - - -  

 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions. 5 

 

MR WILLIS:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you.  All right, we will go into the next one and you may be 

excused, Ms Limmer. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, if you just like to give your highlights 

package on behalf of Orion. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Orion have identified the important high level distribution 

network, being their 66, 33 kV lines as well as the Heathcote to 20 

Lyttelton 11 kV line, is their high level strategic infrastructure.  Orion 

is seeking corridor protection in the rural zones for these corridor 

protection provisions, the rural zones that are affected are the rural 

Banks Peninsula zone, the rural urban fringe zone, the rural Port Hill 

zone and the rural quarry zone. 25 

 

 The City Council final revised version included in Ms Hogan’s rebuttal 

evidence, reflects the changes I sought in my evidence-in-chief.  

Following a review of the rebuttal evidence filed by Ms MacKenzie for 

Federated Farmers, I now propose a small amendment to the P1 30 

farming rule – and I just got a tracked version of my evidence that I am 

happy to table as an exhibit perhaps. 

 

SJH:   Exhibit 2, thank you. 

 35 

EXHIBIT #2 – BLUELINE (HEARING AMENDMENTS DATED 17 

NOVEMBER 2015) VERSION AMENDMENTS SOUGHT BY ORION 

NZ LTD 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I have got enough copies for these to be circulated. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   The changes in red on that are the changes I sought in my 

evidence-in-chief and the changes in blue are the minor amendments 45 

that I am now propose in relation to the P1 farming rule. 
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 The reason for this change is to recognise the potential issue that has 

arisen around the drafting and the requirement to comply with the 

1 clause in the Code of Practice, so there is just an amendment made to 

include two clauses in the corridor width, from five metres to 2.2 – it 5 

does not in effect change the way that the rule implemented the same 

provisions outlined, and the clause still apply. 

 

 These changes have been discussed with Ms McLeod, the planner for 

Transpower and Ms Hogan, both of whom support these amendments. 10 

 

 Ms Hogan and I are in agreement on the proposed rural rules, I know 

that there is a scope issue that has been raised by Ms Radburnd in 

relation to the rural quarry zone and whether Orion can seek protection 

from quarrying activities or just buildings – this matter is being dealt 15 

with in legal submissions. 

 

 I just note that there is another change that will be sought to that rule, 

the quarry rule that Ms McLeod for Transpower is going to table with 

her evidence, I have been in discussions with her on those changes and 20 

I support those amendments they are actually seeking. 

 

 I am of the opinion that these updated rural corridor protection 

provisions in relation to Orion assets are the most sufficient effective 

way to give effect to the relevant objectives in the Replacement Plan 25 

and the Regional Policy Statement. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   If you could just answer any questions. 30 

 

SJH:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, I have no questions. 

 35 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, one or two perhaps, can you just tell us a bit more about 

the sort of corridor protection rule that Orion is seeking – you are 

supporting – is that something that in your experience has been 

widespread in other territorial authorities? 

 40 

MS BUTTIMORE:   As I am aware I do not think there are any other territorial 

authorities that have these provisions in a plan at the moment. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay.  And yes, I was going to comment on your exhibit but I 

think I will leave that, it may require some response at some point, but I 45 
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have not got my head around enough to ask you a sensible question so 

we will leave it there. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Just a quick question, thank you, Ms Buttimore, so the 

provision for fencing to be located – well the controls over fencing near 

Orion support structures.  In terms of scope that is predicated on the 

legal submissions that have been made regarding scope to include 

fencing. 10 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Correct. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:  Because it was not so as explicitly as it might have been 

included within the original submission. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Correct. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  And then the second question and I am sorry I 

cannot remember why I am concerned about this, is in paragraph 28 of 

your evidence, it is to do with the inclusion of accessory buildings 

within the corridor provisions. 

 25 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Sorry I just have to get my evidence.   

 

MS DAWSON:   You might not need to but perhaps. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Paragraph? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   28. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So I have got noted here, do the provisions that you are now 

suggesting for farm buildings take the relief beyond the scope of 

Orion’s original submission, in other words they are now wanting to 

include accessory buildings within the restrictions as opposed to just 

main buildings. 40 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I think the way that rule was drafted was what was agreed 

in a residential version that was just then transposed into the stage 2 

submissions. I do not think in terms of scope it was not intended to 

limit what Orion was seeking from sensitive activities only, it was 45 

intended to include both accessory buildings and sensitive activities. 
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MS DAWSON:   So why if there was an exception in the residential provisions 

because of the limited scope for sleepouts or smaller buildings, sheds 

and things and in a rural context that was never intended to exclude 

farm accessory buildings and matters that might be of a slightly larger 5 

scale. 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   Yes, correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And you are confident that is within the scope of the 10 

submission originally made? 

 

MS BUTTIMORE:   I think so, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much, that is all. 15 

 

SJH:   Anything arising? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, no but given Ms Dawson’s questioning I will 

make sure that that point is covered off in closing submissions. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that will be good, thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Buttimore, you may stand down and may be released.  

Yes, thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.32 pm] 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   So the next witness is Mr Butcher for Orion. 
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<GEOFFREY VERNON BUTCHER, affirmed [3.32 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [3.33 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD: I ask you to confirm that your full name is Geoffrey 

Vernon Butcher. 

 5 

MR BUTCHER:   It is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  And you are a director of Butcher Partners Limited, an 

economic consulting company in Christchurch? 

 10 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  You have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraph 3.1 through to 3.3 of your evidence dated 29 October 2015? 

 15 

MR BUTCHER:   I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Are there any amendments you wish to make to your 

evidence? 

 20 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, on page 6 on the right hand side there is a column up 

the top.  The areas there for whatever reason are completely incorrect.  

They are correctly shown in column 4 which are in thousands of 

metres, so could you please substitute for 2400, 40,000.  For 57,600, 

990,000.  And the bottom number should be 1,000,000. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So that is just a multiplication of the area in table. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Area in column C, yes. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   It is just expressed in metres rather than thousands of square 

metres. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.   

 

MR BUTCHER:   It has no effect on the total figures. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you, and with that amendment do you confirm your 40 

evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   I do. 
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MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you.  Now this is the first time Orion has called 

economic evidence so we have not had this before so I am putting 

Mr Butcher in your hands in relation to Orion’s case, thank you. 

 

MR BUTCHER:  Okay. Do you want me to give a brief summary of the 5 

evidence? 

 

SJH:   Just go ahead.  You have got a very short summary at paragraph 8 but if 

you want to expand on that in any way or, just a true highlights 

package of your evidence. 10 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, well I read the evidence that was given in the earlier 

parts of the hearing and thought well I might be able to help the 

Commissioners by trying to give some idea of the scale of the values 

involved, so I had a look at that.   15 

 

  [3.35 pm] 

 

 I also had a look at the likely effects on risks to supply.  One of the 

interesting things about Orion’s supply which was very well 20 

demonstrated during the earthquakes is they have built in a lot of 

redundancy.  So quite often you can look at the effects on a loss of 

supply.  First you have to know the probability of the loss of supply 

which is difficult in itself but when you have all the redundancy that 

Orion has built in you end up with quite low probabilities and then to 25 

look at the effects of the rules which really is what I am trying to do 

here, saying what is the cost of the rules, you have to say, “Well, how 

do the rules affect that probability?”   

 

 So we have three uncertainties multiplied together and I haven’t even 30 

attempted to do that.  All I have done in that first section, the economic 

significance, is say “electricity matters quite a lot” and it matters by a 

lot more than you would look at by just looking at the price of the 

electricity sold.  I mean if we were all to lose electricity here, you 

know, there might be $50 worth of electricity lost in the course of an 35 

hour and many thousands of dollars worth of professional time lost.  So 

you can’t just look at the value of the electricity lost but I have not tried 

to establish the likely losses or the likely reduction in losses as a result 

of these rules because I consider it impractical to do so. 

 40 

 I then went and looked at the other costs and benefits and may 

understanding is that there are essentially two parts to the rules which 

Orion seeks.  One seeks to essentially mimic rules in the Electricity 

Supply Act and the evidence of Federated Farmers notwithstanding, it 

does seem to me that there is benefit in making people more aware of 45 

the rules.  In his evidence Shane Watson describes and I think has some 
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pictures showing that people do break the rules usually because they 

are unaware of them.   

 

 So it is my view that from an economics' perspective you are reducing 

transactions costs if you wanted to be formal, you are making it easier 5 

for people to know that the rules exist but there is no cost to them in 

telling them again that the rules exist, they already exist.  In fact there 

is likely to be a saving because every now and again somebody points 

out to them that they have broken the rules and something has to be 

done about it, these are the electricity supply rules.  I can’t remember 10 

the technical name for them.  And sometimes that means you have to 

re-route wires, sometimes it means you have to shift buildings.  So 

there are costs when people don’t know the rules and this would help 

reduce those costs.  

 15 

 There are other rules which they seek to have in place which provide, 

they reduce what you can do beneath the lines if I might put it that way, 

and the thinking is that it will have some protection to supply.  And I 

spoke to Orion and it was extremely hard to put a figure on how it is 

going to affect the number of losses of supply that you have let alone 20 

what those costs are. 

 

 You might reduce maintenance costs and probably the most important 

thing that you might do is reduce potential damage to property and life.  

I talked to Orion about the reduction in maintenance costs and, yes, it 25 

could be every time you repair a span if there are buildings underneath 

them it could be 1 to 2 thousand dollars you save.  How often are you 

likely to save that money is the question and they basically said each 

span could be affected maybe once every 30 years.  So when you put 

that on an annual basis you say, “Well, actually per span you are saving 30 

$30 to $60 per year per span”.  You are saving, you know, 1 to 2 

thousand dollars every 30 years. 

 

 There is a 3 percent chance of a line needing maintenance but then 

there is a far smaller chance of a line actually breaking and falling on a 35 

structure.  I think Orion’s real concern, as I understood it when I spoke 

to them, is that if that happens you have a realistic chance of significant 

damage and possible death.   

 

 In my evidence I tried to establish not what the probability of death 40 

might be but if it was at a certain level here is what the costs might be 

and we compare that to the costs to landowners of not being allowed to 

do certain things.  So I estimated how much land would be covered by 

these rules and that is in that table which I have just amended.   

 45 
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 I talked to a valuer and a real estate agent as to what are the costs of 

having this extra rule imposed and I applied that those areas and I 

ended up saying, “Well, actually the cost to landowners of applying 

these rules is comparatively small”, it is the table at the bottom right 

hand.  Well, I am saying that the land affected is worth about 1.7 5 

million.  That is at the bottom right of that table that I referred to 

earlier. 

 

  [3.40 pm] 

 10 

 And I have said, well let’s assume that you have a 10 percent loss in 

value, now that is my attempt to give you a feel for the figures we are 

looking at.  I spoke to a real estate agent and I said I have got a lifestyle 

block, 2.1 hectares or 2.2 hectares, we are talking about a small loss in 

area, what is the difference in value?  He said, “oh, probably nothing.”  15 

They either like it or they don’t.   

 

 Then I talked to a valuer who couldn’t possibly bring himself to say 

probably nothing because he is approaching it from a much more 

analytical value perspective, and he said “well, it’s got a small value”.  20 

And so I talked to them about likely values, I said so are we talking 

marginal value of land in various areas, and we are talking sort of 

$10,000 to maybe $20,000 in the flat land, maybe $5,000 on the hill 

areas, and those are the figures I have used in that table there. 

 25 

 So I have attempted to say if we impose this rule we do have a one-off 

loss in land value.  How much is that loss?  $170,000.  What is my best 

estimate?  There is big error margins in there, but it gives you the feel 

of how big the numbers are.   

 30 

 Then I said, well what you are trying to do Orion, apart from the 

savings in maintenance, which I have discussed as being comparatively 

small, what you are trying to do here is save lives, amongst other 

things.  If you saved one life every 500 years by for example stopping 

people building houses under lines when otherwise they would wish to 35 

do so, and they are unlikely to do so, but if there was one life every 500 

years, and if we use the Transfund, Transit New Zealand, whatever 

they are currently called, four million odd dollars per loss of life, what 

does that equate to in net present values?  And I think the number I had 

was from memory $125,000 to $250,000.   40 

 

 And I said, so if we compare – even if you have that lower probability 

of death once every 500 years, even if the probabilities are that low if 

you let people build there, that is still a bit more than the value of the 

land you lose. So that is the context I was trying to give the 45 

Commissioners was the feeling that, yes, you do lose land value, the 
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losses are probably not very big.  I have ascribed a value of 10 percent 

of the value of the land because you are not losing the land, you are just 

losing the right to do some things on the land.   

 

 And the evidence, if you actually go on Google Earth and you look at 5 

where people build, they do not build under it powerlines.  So you are 

taking away their right to build under the powerlines, but they probably 

were not going to do it anyway, and that is one of the reasons the value 

of the losses are quite small. 

 10 

 So if there is any extra questions, I know it is kind of complex, but 

from my perspective comparatively straightforward once I have 

thought my way through it.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 15 

 

MR NEILL:   Mr Butcher, is it a science or an art? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   It is a combination of the two, it is a bit like a valuer, I mean 

because I talked to the valuers, part of it is an art, the science comes 20 

when putting together things in a logical format. 

 

MR NEILL:  Just as a layperson, the initial reduction in value occurs shortly 

after the rule is put into place.   

 25 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:  But am I right in suggesting that as time passes and people 

understand what is being achieved, that in fact the value returns 

somewhere close to what it was before, in other words people forget 30 

and they continue about their business. 

 

MR BUTCHER:  I think you are right, and we see very good evidence in for 

example floods, you know we have some floods and the insurer stop 

ensuring and 10 years later they start insuring again, because they 35 

immediately – “oh, for goodness sake we have lost money twice in 10 

years and we can’t do that again” and then they take a bigger picture 

view.  But I think in this case there will always be a loss of value 

because you say to people you can’t do something, but they still can’t 

do something, there is a long term loss but I believe it is quite small. 40 

 

 And what you see is a huge loss when you decide to put powerlines 

there, that is enormous.  But now all you are saying to people is – well 

this rule says you can’t build some things under the powerlines, which 

you probably didn’t want to do anyway, so in answer to your question, 45 

long term loss quite small.   
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MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Willis? 

 5 

MR WILLIS:  Thank you Mr Butcher, a lot of food for thought in that 

description.  I guess the thought occurred to me is, when you are 

thinking about cos and you have looked at a percentage, uniform 

percentage across the corridor of this district and come to a relatively 

small figure. 10 

 

  [3.45 pm] 

 

 But would it be possible – is there potential to say, “Well, that may be 

right in a theoretical sense but in some cases it may hit a particular 15 

individual quite hard if they had very few options in which they could 

locate a particular building and they needed to make use of their 

property”, and you might force them to do either to forgo that 

opportunity to put in a new farm building of some description or to put 

it in an area which is allows them to be less productive in the way they 20 

operate their farm, I mean are there other situations where the cost 

could in fact be higher than what you have modelled here? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   I think there are, and I alluded to them in my evidence, but 

there are cases where somebody says, “I already live here, it is not a 25 

case of me shifting here because, you know, if I couldn’t do something 

I wanted to do I would not shift there, so I already live here, I have 

decided to go into some particular form of farming or I want to do 

something and to do that I have to put a building where these rules will 

not let me”. 30 

 

 Now it is going to be pretty uncommon but certainly there is the 

potential for cases where somebody will not be able to do something 

and will be significantly disadvantaged.  I can think of it theoretically, I 

am not sure that there are many practical examples of it actually 35 

happening. 

 

 The fact that it is not, it is not a prohibited activity, it is non-complying 

and I know that still imposes quite a high test on people and the 

planners would comment much more than I as to whether, if you were 40 

that person in that situation and you said “I have got my whole business 

set up here, the only place for me to put this new building or whatever 

it is, is under those power lines” and you presumably apply for a 

dispensation, you know, because it is not a prohibited activity. 

 45 
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 So it did occur to me that if the costs were really high in an individual 

case and may be you are still allowed to do it any way. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, just have a couple of quick questions one was, are you 

aware, was there any sort of cost benefit analysis – I will put it another 5 

way – are you aware of what cost benefit analysis was done when the 

NPS on electricity transmission went through which included these sort 

of corridor provisions at a national scale, for Transpower? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   No I am not, okay. 10 

 

MR WILLIS:   No, I was interested to know whether any methodology used 

was applicable here, whether you use the same sort of methodology or 

not – you cannot help me that is okay. 

 15 

 And finally I guess the other thought that occurred to me is, from an 

economics point of view I guess and a section 32 point of view, you 

would look at this rule I suppose as one option to address the issue 

which is in part at least a type of regulatory failure and that is we have 

a regulation which does not seem to be all that effective on the basis of 20 

the evidence of some the witnesses, and it seems to me there is 

potentially more than one way to respond to that, this is one way. 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 25 

MR WILLIS:   But I take it you haven not turned your mind to looking at 

whether a concerted campaign by various stakeholders about how or 

what NZECP 34 actually does and means, how that would stack up in a 

comparative cost benefit analysis sense, with what is proposed here? 

 30 

MR BUTCHER:   I did think about it briefly because I read the evidence and 

rebuttal of Federated Farmers, who said, you know, “This is Orion's 

problem”, and to me I think I agree with perhaps Council said, “Is this 

not a rational response by Orion to that?” – and it strikes me as being a 

rational response. 35 

 

 Would the alternatives be cheaper?  I actually find it hard to imagine 

that they would be because I do not see the costs of this way of doing it 

as being very high.  Yes, there is a rule in a plan, it is making you 

aware of a rule that already existed.  So I thought but I could not see an 40 

alternative that would have been cheaper but that is not to say there is 

not one. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, no thanks very much. 

 45 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   Just one question, Mr Butcher.  You said right at the start of 

your summary that electricity matters a lot and it matters a lot more 

than the cost of the electricity lost in any one incident, and then in 

paragraph 11 and I could be reading this wrongly, but at the bottom of 5 

paragraph 11 you just say that the total economic cost of non-supply 

are probably of the order of 50 times the value of electricity that is not 

supplied during a short outage, so where did you get that figure from, is 

that just - - -  

 10 

MR BUTCHER:   Well it is kind of alluded to in the rest of the paragraph, but 

there have been a couple of surveys done in which they tried to 

establish from actual users how much they would have paid to avoid 

that loss, and sometimes they have done it in things like actual costs of 

lost production.  So people have done that work, they were told, and 15 

this is at a time when power I think was about 15 or 20 cents a unit in 

the 1980s and we are talking $3.50 a unit, that is $3.00 a kilowatt for 

large industries, $22 per kilowatt hour for other industries. 

 

  [3.50 pm] 20 

 

 So those numbers are sort of between 20 and 40 times the price or 20 

and 80, I cannot remember.  20 and 100 actually, yes.  So that is where 

the figure of the order of 50 and this refers to short outages.  The longer 

the outages the more we adapt, we do different things, et cetera, 25 

et cetera. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are just saying, I mean if you look back at those older 

studies there was in order of approximately that 50 times between the 

power costs and what in those days they estimated as being lost? 30 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that proportion may still apply now? 

 35 

MR BUTCHER:   I would expect it actually to be higher, because I think that 

we use less – most things that we use are more energy efficient but they 

are more embedded into our days. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So we are more dependent on electricity? 40 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, we are more dependent on it, even though we use less 

of it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but for more aspects of our lives? 45 
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MR BUTCHER:   Yes, 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much for explaining that.  That is all 

for me, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   But the 50 figure might be closer to the art end of the spectrum at the 

time? 

 

MR BUTCHER:   Yes, very much.  There was some science that they 

attempted to do back in the 80s, I have not tried to update it. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Butcher, you may stand down.  You may be released. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.51 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, we come to the last witness, Mr Watson. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Mr Watson. 
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<SHANE CHARLES WATSON, affirmed [3.52 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [3.52 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you confirm that your full name is Shane Charles 

Watson? 

 5 

MR WATSON:   I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you are the Network Assets Manager at Orion New 

Zealand Limited? 

 10 

MR WATSON:   I am. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You have provided to the Panel a statement of evidence, 

dated 29 October 2015? 

 15 

MR WATSON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you have any corrections to make to that evidence? 

 

MR WATSON:   No. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So I will ask you to confirm it as true and correct. 

 

MR WATSON:   I do. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now I will not ask you to do a highlights 

package, I am conscious that three of the four Panel members have 

heard you very recently, but what might be helpful for the Chair who 

has not heard you, if you could just - - - 

 30 

SJH:   Well I have heard Mr Watson on a number of occasions. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, in this particular case I am just wanting you to 

explain to the Panel what the practical problem is.  So perhaps if you 

could just take the Panel to some example of sheds and barns 35 

compromising line clearances, you have got some photos in your 

evidence, and just explain what has occurred there.  Paragraph 32. 

 

MR WATSON:   Paragraph 32? 

 40 

M MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

MR WATSON:   The issue we have got here is that we talk about the Council’s 

rule, the air controls for actually building buildings and things that are 

actually under the Building Act, which makes no reference to the 45 

Electricity Act or which, in effect actually refers to the code of practice.   
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 So from our point of view we have a lot of difficulty in terms of 

working with councils to make sure that information is flowing through 

to people that are applying for building consents, making them aware 

that there are other issues to consider. 5 

 

 So what we do find is that people will contravene the ECP 34 and put 

the buildings in there. We find that while they are building or even after 

they have built we find that they are not in compliance with ECP 34.  

And in fact there are strong safety concerns if people are actually 10 

working around those buildings. 

 

 The other thing I refer to is ECP 34 actually is a code that actually 

works about direct safety clearances from lines.  It does not directly 

refer to other concerns that we have from a safety perspective, like the 15 

issues of step potential and touch potential which is transferred voltages 

indirectly that can cause issues and we have examples where, you 

know, we’ve had cattle and things die in certain areas because of those 

issues. 

 20 

  [3.55 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And just what’s your level of awareness of understanding 

of the code amongst farmers? 

 25 

MR WATSON:   I will say it is low. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  And what does Orion do in order to raise awareness? 

 

MR WATSON: Certainly with our lines we have a communications out 30 

through on radio especially around the trees and that sort of thing but in 

terms of buildings directly NZCEP 34, we try to ensure that we have 

got documentation with the councils where they go to apply for 

building consents but that’s not often picked up. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just one final question, you get a situation like this, what 

does Orion do to try and resolve the issue?  Well just in general where 

there’s a breach of a code, what’s your approach to working with the 

landowner? 

 40 

MR WATSON:  Our approach is to actually go to the landowner and then work 

through the process of saying, “okay, this is where the breaches are and 

these are the ways we can resolve it”.  In most cases it means that we 

have got to do quite a bit of work to actually relocate the line because 

the examples I have got there it is actually probably cheaper to relocate 45 

the line than it is to start again and actually build the buildings in a 
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different location, in fact just removal of the building could create other 

safety issues. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And where do the costs of that fix lie? 

 5 

MR WATSON:   The cost of those fix are largely worn by the landowner, there 

are some indirect costs that are associated with us and managing the 

whole process and doing capsulation and that sort of thing but largely 

the majority of the cost will lie with the landowner. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you, could you just answer any questions the Panel 

has for you? 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Neill? 

 15 

MR NEILL:   Mr Watson, just a couple of questions for my own information.  

If you take the photo on the right, the three line, what size line is that, is 

that an 11 kV or not? 

 

MR WATSON:   That’s a 33 kV. 20 

 

MR NEILL:   33 kV and the one on the left, with six - - - 

 

MR WATSON:  Six, so the top one is the 33 kV so there’s actually two on 

there, there’s 11 kV and 33 kV. 25 

 

MR NEILL:   The far one is 11 kV? 

 

MR WATSON:   No, that’s 33 kV.  They are both 33 kV lines except the one 

on my left, it also has 11 kV - - - 30 

 

MR NEILL:   It is a double line? 

 

MR WATSON:   Yes. 

 35 

MR NEILL:   Okay, so they are both 33 and for people like us that are driving 

down the road, how do we know the difference between 11 kV and 

33 kV? 

 

MR WATSON:   For the layperson it would be very difficult. 40 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay, no, that is good.  Now, just with regard to the photo on the 

left, a chicken and egg issue, which came first, the shed or the power 

line? 

 45 

MR WATSON:   The sheds both came after the lines. 
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MR NEILL:   On those occasions, right. 

 

MR WATSON:   We wouldn’t put a line over a shed. 

 5 

MR NEILL:   Never? 

 

MR WATSON:   No. 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay.  Not even in the past? 10 

 

MR WATSON:   Not to my recollection. 

 

MR NEILL:   Just the photo on the right, the three lines only, can you just 

indicate the issue there I realise that there is a close proximity to a 15 

lower shed roof but the issues that you would have arching or is it just 

far too close? 

 

MR WATSON:  In terms of electrical clearance the direct electrical clearance 

is okay, if there is someone standing on the roof or they have got 20 

something in their hands, the other issues as I say was if there are 

people working there often unless when we talk about the sensitive 

activities and that sort of thing, there is the probability of someone 

being there when a fault occurs and we have the injury issues. 

 25 

MR NEILL:   And if the fence was not there it would be in fact a major issue I 

presume, in other words if you had access with tractor loader, you 

know, forks, you have got potential? 

 

MR WATSON:  You have got potential, yes, and I mean we would have, with 30 

a few of the farmers we talk about NZCEP 34, we would actually have 

probably in the order of about 10 strikes a year from irrigators and 

other farm operations, most of those would be at the 11 kV level. 

 

  [4.00 pm] 35 

 

MR NEILL:  Now, with regard to the corridor is trees another issue or is 

buildings more an issue than trees? 

 

MR WATSON:   From a point of view of the operation of the network in terms 40 

of can create issues, trees would actually create more outages than 

anything from our point of view.  From a safety point of view in terms 

of people the buildings are more an issue. 
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MR NEILL:  Right, and they are two photographs that you have provided to us, 

but across your territory, how many problems are there like this that 

exist as opposed to there would be no issue on other properties? 

 

MR WATSON:  Um, we would probably strike an issue like this probably once 5 

every five years. 

 

MR NEILL:  Yes, that is the time I am talking about. How many properties 

exist at the moment with issues that would be of a concern to you in 

regard to safety and electricity matters? 10 

 

MR WATSON:  Well all those, probably those are the two most recent, but all 

the other ones we address so as of today there are probably one or two. 

 

MR NEILL:   That is helpful, just to understand, thank you, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:  Yes, I think you have probably answered the questions I was 

going to put as well, but I just want to clarify, so when you said in 20 

response to Ms Appleyard about who pays the costs, at the moment you 

said the casts are generally borne by the landowner.  So that means in 

your discussions and the resolution with the landowner, you say you 

come to an arrangement, but the best option is to move the lines, they 

then essentially pick up the tab for that.  Is that what you are saying?  25 

 

MR WATSON: Yes, but that sometimes can be a bit of a process to get us 

there, and we have got to go through and actually prove that they are in 

non-compliance and then possibly bring in legal counsels to ensure that 

they understand. 30 

 

MR WILLIS:  The other issue I was going to ask was this sort of incidence of 

frequency in which you strike these problems.  And I think you said 

you would, I think you said a moment ago about 10 strikes a year by 

farm equipment and things? 35 

 

MR WATSON:  That is farm equipment in terms of ECP34, and that is on lines 

that, a lot of those lines are not on lines that we are asking for coverage 

under the strategic plan, we are only asking on 33 and 66.  So a lot of 

those are actually on the 11kV lines that are not covered by what we 40 

are asking for.   

 

 But it does highlight the fact that, you know, there are breaches and 

there are people, the more activity around the lines the higher the 

incidents or the higher the risk. 45 
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MR WILLIS:  And again, I am not sure you answered the question about how, 

or maybe not sure this was put to you.  How frequently you come 

across that sort of a situation in terms of, is this something you come 

across monthly, yearly? 

 5 

MR WATSON:  I think I said it, but just previously we have come across, you 

know, one occurring one at these once every five years. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay, so that was then, sorry, I was not quite sure that was 

the same question.  Okay, and just finally, and I am not sure how they 10 

all sit in regard to the issue raised my Ms MacKenzie in terms of 

irrigators and things and pivot irrigators and things, in terms of I know 

they affect Transpower, I am not quite sure how the rules affect the 

Orion lines but from your point of view those bits of equipment, they 

have a risk, and you talked about, I think you mentioned as part of the 15 

10 strikes, that is part of the issue you have? 

 

MR WATSON:   Mm’hm. 

 

MR WILLIS:   They are striking poles and things like that, is that the problem? 20 

 

MR WATSON:  No, it is actually when, I mean the rotary ones are probably 

less of an issue, because they are actually set up when they have got a 

route to go on, it is actually the strikes we have is when they are 

moving their irrigation around more than anything.  So that is typically 25 

the new irrigation units are not an issue once they are set up. 

 

MR WILLIS:  Right.  Okay.  So when you say once they are set up you mean 

the fixed pivot irrigator type situation. 

 30 

MR WATSON:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Generally not a problem, but it is the rotary ones, when you 

move them around from paddock to paddock and someone is being 

careless and they cut the corner and take - - -  35 

 

MR WATSON:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay, and that sort of mobile risk would not be captured 

by these anyway, would they? 40 

 

MR WATSON:   No. 

 

MR WILLIS:   No, okay, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson. 
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MS DAWSON:  Thank you, just a couple of other questions Mr Watson.  So 

Mr Butcher said that in his estimate the additional maintenance costs of 

underbuild are relatively minor and that it is the health and safety costs, 

although less likely to happen, of a greater magnitude, and overall they 5 

are the more serious costs.  Do you agree with that? 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

MR WATSON:   I do in terms of the – we are talking about the rural context? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR WATSON:   Yes, I do. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and when it comes to the health and safety costs, the list 

that you have got, I think it is in paragraph 27 where you have got a list 

of different sorts of shocks or contacts that can occur.  That is the sort 

of range of possible health and safety issues that could occur, which 

although not common could be quite severe if it did occur, is that right? 20 

 

MR WATSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you say that some of these are not covered by the code, 

NZECP, and just to make sure that I can understand what you mean; 25 

the code has a distance from the conductors to a building, either 

vertically, also sideways, which is to avoid direct contact with those 

conductors.  But provided the conductors are high enough and the 

building say is not too high, there could still be a building built directly 

underneath the lines, which would meet the code, but where there 30 

would still be potential for one of these types of electric shocks to 

occur, am I understanding that correctly? 

 

MR WATSON:   Yes.  But the code is written around an actual – it doesn’t 

anticipate a failure. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and things like step voltages or someone standing on top 

waving equipment around or driving underneath to go into a building 

say; it doesn’t anticipate all those instances of risk?   

 40 

MR WATSON:   The code anticipates – it tries to put distances for people 

standing on, so it does that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay. 

 45 
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MR WATSON:   But what we have when I was talking before was when we 

the people do not actually adhere to the code and some of the other 

risks I was talking about electric shock there, are more when you say – 

okay, well they are when a failure occurs or something and then those 

clearances actually get breached and there is some indirect electrical 5 

shocks or safety issues that could cause someone some harm.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Even if the code is complied with? 

 

MR WATSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  All right, thank you.  And my other question was about 

the irrigation equipment, but you have answered that so thank you very 

much. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Watson, you may stand down. 20 

 

MR WATSON:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.07 pm] 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you everyone.  We will adjourn until 10.00 am on Friday 

morning, thank you. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 4.07 PM UNTIL 

FRIDAY, 20 NOVEMBER 2015 30 


